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Prologue


He replaced the receiver. How he had remained calm during the call escaped him. He was far from calm, probably as far as anyone could be. He threw the phone against the slightly curving wall and watched with satisfaction as it exploded into thousands of useless components.
“Beaumont, get in here!” he screamed into the intercom.
By the word ‘get’, Beaumont had already entered the room.
“They failed! The deal’s gone through! Can you believe it? A group of damn kids!”
“Shall I deal with them?” offered Beaumont.
“No. Let me think a minute… this is merely a set back, that’s all. We just need to tweak Phase 2 slightly…yes… that’s it, that’s all we need to do. Do you know something Beaumont, I think they’ve actually done us a favour. This could be even more fun than I imagined.” He was calming down and beginning to think more rationally.
“What do you want me to do?”
“Are all our people in place?”
“Yes, we have one or two loose ends to tie up but they won’t take long.”
“What are they?”
“Best you don’t know, leave them to me,” suggested Beaumont, he preferred to deal with the detail himself.
“OK but don’t leave anything to chance. If anyone gets in the way, kill them.”
“Of course.”
“Good. Commence Phase 2 immediately.”
“Yes Sir, Mr President.”
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Part One



Chapter 1


Two months later
“In breaking news, another assassination has shocked the world of politics. The Italian Premier, Mr Carlo Valentini, has been gunned down in broad daylight…”
A mobile phone rang. Charles Heathcliffe Beaumont IV answered the call before the second ring.
“Hello?”
“Hi, it’s done.”
“Yes, I can see that, it’s already on CNN. Why didn’t you call sooner?”
“It’s only been 5 minutes. I had to get away from the scene, the reporters must have been bloody quick.”
“OK, I just like to know what’s happening,” replied Beaumont. “Have you received the brief for your next target?”
“Yes.”
“Good. Now get moving, the timescale is very tight. Phone me when you land.”
Beaumont looked down at the plan again. It had taken 15 years, billions of dollars and hundreds of killings to reach this point and now, in less than a year, the plan would be finally complete. He had only been involved in the last three years, inheriting his position on the death of his father, Charles Heathcliffe Beaumont III. He thought his father had been a weak and pathetic man. If only he had known then what he knew now. His father had, in fact, been a brilliant man, a genius, not the bumbling old fool that everyone thought he had been.
Unfortunately, Beaumont IV had never known the genius behind the facade. It was only after his father’s funeral that he discovered the truth. In his will, his father had left him a video, clearly marked private ‘for your eyes only’. When he first played the video he thought there had been some mistake. A look-a-like must have stood in for his father. Gone was the awkward-looking old man, replaced by a straight-backed, upright and forceful man exuding power and authority. His father quickly explained that he had always found people to be more open and honest around the old eccentric Charles Heathcliffe Beaumont III. He had made millions from loose tongues in his old gentleman’s clubs. On seeing him enter the room, many would say “don’t worry it’s only Beaumont” and would continue discussing their business. He of course picked up on every word, jumped on the deals and made a fortune.
In the video, he explained to his son the intricate and complex structure of their finances. He thought his father was worth a few hundred million but now discovered that he was worth billions and he, the only son and heir, had inherited the lot. In death, his father became the father he had always dreamt of. His friends had always referred to him as ‘the bumbling old fool’, something he had never been able to deny. His father apologised for not having told him the truth and that he had had to accept that his son thought little of him but was comfortable in the knowledge that he knew his son would appreciate him in death. The young Charles nodded vigorously at this point. He was very proud of his father.
However, at the end of the video, Beaumont III dropped a bombshell which not only changed his son’s life but his whole outlook on the world and resulted in his working for the person who was to become the President of the United States of America.

Beaumont looked again at the plan and discarded Phase 1 or, as Beaumont called it, the President’s Folly. He had argued against Phase 1 and its relevance when the President had first suggested it. It was not until the terrorists had taken the schools hostage that he realised the President had ordered the operation behind his back. He, of course, was called in to help when the whole thing blew up in their faces and had only just managed to cover the President’s tracks. The call to Donald Kennedy had been his idea. Phase 1 was now out of the way and they could concentrate on the real plan, Phase 2. The President had just given him the latest tweaks. Would the man never learn? Business should never be mixed with pleasure.



Chapter 2


Four months later
“We interrupt this programme to bring you a breaking news story. The President of Russia has been assassinated. Mr Gasparin was found dead in his bed this morning after what appears to have been a failed coup d’etat by one of his Generals. The rogue General was shot on sight as he embarked on a second frenzied attack on the Russian Prime Minister, Mr Kruschev, the would-be successor to the President. A Russian Federation spokesperson has spoken of the heroic efforts of the Minister for State Security who single-handedly foiled the plot and rushed to Mr Kruschev’s aid, shooting the rogue General in the process. The Prime Minister is in a serious but stable condition. This brings the total to nine major political assassinations in the last six months…”
The television exploded as the solid crystal paperweight hit the screen. Doors flew open and the room filled with heavily armed men. Four of them made for the figure behind the desk, throwing him unceremoniously to the floor. Another two tackled the man in front of the desk, one placing a gun to his forehead while the other secured his hands. Confusion reigned as more men filled the room. Finally, the doors to the office were closed and secured.
“Mr President, are you OK Sir?” asked the Secret Service Agent in charge.
“No, I’m not! Get these damn idiots off me!”
“Sir, we have reason to believe that an attempt has been made on your life. An explosion was heard in your office.”
“Yes, caused by me. It was my TV. Now get off me and get out!” screamed the President. “Beaumont, where the hell are you?”
“I’m here Sir,” came a muffled response from the floor. His face was being pushed into the presidential emblem on the rug.
Ten minutes later and with order restored, the President and Beaumont were left alone in the Oval office.
“What’s the latest on the Russian Prime Minister and have we heard from the imbecile yet?” barked the President.
“Yes, he just called when I was outside. He assures me everything is fine, there’s no way the Prime Minister will survive. They’re just trying to calm people down by saying he’s stable. Our man’s already been approached by half the cabinet to take control when they announce the Prime Minister’s death. The plan worked perfectly, our man will be in power within 24 hours. Congratulations Mr President.”
“Excellent…Beaumont…Excellent!”

Twenty four hours later and under the gaze of the world’s media, the former Minister for State Security was sworn in as the new Russian President. His heroic defence of the country against the rogue General had assured him instant acceptance in Russia and across world.
The fact that he had been responsible for the cold blooded murder of the President, the Prime Minister and a very loyal General were known only to himself, Beaumont and the President of the United States of America. The coup d’etat and rogue General story were an elaborate ploy to elicit support for somebody who, up until then, had been a minor, second-rate politician.



Chapter 3


Four months later
“The Prime Minister of Japan has been assassinated, this is the twelfth assassination in the last year. We cross over now to our Japan correspondent who is at the scene…”
“DAD!” shouted Tom through to the kitchen. “Turn on the news, Mr Tanaka has been killed!”
Hearing no response, Tom got up and walked through to the kitchen. His father sat motionless, his head in his hands, the TV was on, the story playing in the background.
“Are you OK Dad?”
“Sorry,” he replied. “I just can’t believe it, I was speaking to him two days ago. We just agreed a major contract for Alba’s Japanese division,” said Donald shaking his head in disbelief.
Tom didn’t know what to say. Of the previous eleven assassinations, six were close friends of his father’s. Tom’s father was the richest man in the world and owner of the world’s largest company, Alba International. His father’s mobile phone rang. Donald didn’t move so Tom answered it.
“Hello, Donald Kennedy’s phone,” said Tom.
“Hi Tom,” came a solemn Mr Sakamoto.
“Hi Mr Sakamoto, how are you?”
“OK, under the circumstances. Are you looking forward to school? What is it, less than a week to go?”
“Yep, I’m counting down the hours.”
“Excellent,” he said ignoring the sarcasm. “Is your dad around?”
Tom looked across at his father who had heard Tom deliberately say Mr Sakamoto’s name so he knew who it was and nodded that he would take the call. Tom handed the phone to his father just as Lela came into the room. Tom put his hands to his lips motioning for Lela to stay quiet and pointed to the next room.
“What’s up?” said Lela as they walked into the lounge, concerned at the dramatic scene behind them in the kitchen.
“Mr Tanaka, the Japanese Prime Minister has been assassinated,” replied Tom bluntly.
“NO!”
“Yes.”
“Oh my God I can’t believe it, how many leaders have been killed now?” asked Lela, having lost count.
“It was eleven before today, the President and Prime Ministers in Russia and India, the Presidents of Brazil, Indonesia, Mexico, South Korea, Turkey, South Africa and the Prime Minister of Italy,” replied Tom counting them off finger by finger.
“Why can’t they stop it? I mean extra security or whatever, it just seems bizarre that they can’t protect these people.”
“I know but they’re being killed by people close to them, people they’ve always trusted, look at the Russians, killed by one of their most decorated Generals.”
“How’s your dad?” asked Lela, changing the subject.
“It’s hitting him hard. You know what he’s like about security. He’s not saying anything but I think he thinks he’s on the list of whoever is doing this.”
“What? Surely not, it’s only prime ministers and presidents who’ve been assassinated.”
“I know but didn’t you wonder why my birthday party was so subdued? Remember last year, we had friends jetting in from all over the world. Not this year, all we had were my grandparents and a pack of blood thirsty hounds patrolling the grounds day and night.”
Tom was referring to the latest addition to the world’s most secure private estate, which consisted, of over 20 square miles of beautiful Scottish countryside protected by the most advanced and expensive security system ever devised. A system recently supplemented by one of the oldest and most reliable security measures, a pack of 20 Rottweillers which patrolled the grounds, each the size and weight of a fully grown man with twice the power. Everyone in the Kennedy household had objected to their presence but Donald had been insistent. Tom’s mother, Rachel, still wasn’t speaking to his father for having bought the dogs.
“I just took it for granted that was your choice, you know, after last year’s fiasco in the cinema,” said Lela.
“No, it had nothing to do with you kicking the crap out of those idiots!”

Lela and Tom lived as brother and sister although they were from different families. Their parents had been thrown together fifteen years earlier as a team of assassins had tried to kill Tom’s parents. Lela’s father, Saki, had saved them. He was one of the most lethal fighters ever born. Unfortunately, Lela’s mother had died during the attack but thanks to Donald, Lela was saved. In gratitude, Saki pledged to protect the Kennedys forever and that is how the bizarre union between the Scots and the South China Sea islanders began.
Saki, like every islander, had been trained in a secret and extraordinarily powerful martial art from birth. This tradition dated back to his ancestors who first inhabited the island thousands of years earlier. They were the sole survivors of an elite tribe, the most feared fighters ever known, dedicated to the protection of an ancient empire and its emperors. Their island, ‘Penaraja’, was named in their honour and meant ‘Emperors’ Guard’.
Saki had begun Lela’s training shortly after birth, such was the complexity and intricacy of the movements required to master it. The art was the first pure martial art which, over the centuries, has been diluted by others into modern martial arts such as Kung Fu, Karate, Jujitsu and Tai Chi. Only the Penarajans, with their intense training, had maintained the pure art. Lela was an exceptional student and, at the age of 15, was probably one of the best fighters alive, second only to her father and even that was debatable.

“So what can we do?” asked Lela.
“Other than support my dad, nothing. When is your dad due back from Penaraja?”
“Soon I hope. We start school in a few days and he wants to spend some time with us before we leave. I’m sure your dad will feel better when my dad’s back.”
“Yeah, You’re right. Any idea what he’s been up to?” Tom referred to the fact that neither he nor Lela believed what Saki had told them he had been doing for the previous four weeks.
During their annual holiday to Penaraja, the island home of Lela’s family, Saki and Donald had been very secretive and detached from the rest of the family. Even Tom’s mother had commented that she did not know what was wrong with the two of them. On the day they were due to leave, a mysterious emergency resulted in Saki being left behind. Tom and Lela had noticed the almost imperceptible nod between Donald and Saki and the one thing that Tom thought he would never witness, Saki looking worried. Saki never looked worried.
After the Kennedy’s had left, Saki had phoned every evening to check that everyone was OK and to ensure that Lela was training. He would then to speak to Donald at length, sometimes hours. Tom and Lela had tried, once, to listen in on their conversation but heard nothing other than Donald’s “hmmm’s,” “yes’s” and “OK’s.” Saki seemed to be doing all the talking and Donald all the listening. Tom’s mother had caught them eavesdropping but instead of telling them off, asked what they had heard. Her only response was “very strange.” She too was in the dark about what was going on.
Four weeks on and Lela still had no idea what he was up to.
“None whatsoever, I’m very worried though. Whatever it is, it can’t be good. I can’t help thinking it’s linked to last year’s kidnapping,” she said.
“Either that or the assassinations. My dad’s very worried about those.”
Tom jumped, Lela screamed as both felt a hand clamp down on their shoulders, they had been the only people in the room.
“Hi guys!”
“DAD!” cried Lela throwing her arms round her father.
“SAKI!” shouted Tom hugging them both.



Chapter 4


Beaumont considered himself the smartest person he knew. In his 35 years, nobody had come close. Of course, the President was a clever man himself but Beaumont was not merely clever, he was a genius. Princeton, Harvard, MIT, not only top of his class but perfect scores.
Today would see another more than perfect score, such was the brilliance of Beaumont’s plan. The plan he had inherited on his father’s death had been deeply flawed and would never have worked. Had it not been for his father’s untimely death, the whole thing would have fallen apart. His brilliance had turned a bad plan but a good idea, into a brilliant plan and a realistic objective. Of course, it involved significantly more deaths than was first envisaged but that didn’t bother Beaumont. It was as though his brilliance consumed him, leaving room for nothing else, no compassion, no emotion, no ethics.
Beaumont’s office linked directly to the Oval Office, the President’s Chief of Staff having being displaced to an office further down the corridor. The title on the door read ‘Special Assistant to the President’. Rumours were rife about just how ‘special’ Beaumont’s assistance was. He was always well presented, Saville Row tailored suits, perfect hair, immaculate teeth, sparkling eyes. He was probably the prettiest person in the Whitehouse and some said Washington. Women were mesmerised by his looks while men envied his hold over them. However, in all his time in Washington, he had never been linked to anybody in a romantic way. He appeared to have eyes for only one person, his boss, the President of the United States of America.
It was of course nothing more than speculation. In truth, Beaumont had no sexual urges whatsoever, another symptom of his quest for brilliance. The only satisfaction Beaumont required was power and sitting less than twenty feet away from the President, was certainly a step in the right direction. Working for the second most powerful man in the world was not a bad thing. On successful completion of the plan, he would receive the promotion he knew he deserved, deputy to The Chairman of the Committee. The Chairman of The Committee was the most powerful man in the world, far more powerful than the President, and had selected Beaumont for his current role of ‘supporting’ the President and keeping him in check. Beaumont could not believe his luck when he had received the call from The Chairman. Beaumont’s father, in the video, had explained the existence of The Committee — the real power behind the power.
The Committee had been formed before the First World War and comprised the wealthiest and most powerful men in the United States. They did not approve of the power the Government had over their profits and concluded that the only way to protect their interests was to control the Government itself. The Committee met and agreed a path to take control of the Government, not overtly but covertly, ensuring that key government positions were held by men within their control. Many conspiracy theorists had alluded to a government behind the government, controlled by big business. The conspiracy theorists, for once, were right.
Although Beaumont’s father had mentioned the Chairman of the Committee in the video, he had not revealed his identity. In fact, nobody knew anyone else’s identity in The Committee except for The Chairman who knew them all. Entry to The Committee was hereditary and by invitation only after the death of a father, never before. There was one other form of entry which, until recently, had never been invoked — a personal invitation extended by The Chairman.
Beaumont’s call came the day after he had seen the video. The Chairman began by asking whether he had watched the tape. When he said yes, The Chairman introduced himself merely as The Chairman of The Committee. He welcomed Beaumont to The Committee and asked him to carry out his current role, Special Assistant to the man the Committee were backing to become the next US President.
At the time, it looked likely that their candidate would lose as the other candidate was way ahead in the polls. However, The Chairman was sure that with Beaumont on board, this could be turned around. Their candidate was a very charismatic and extraordinary man who was also a member of The Committee and had been carefully groomed for the role as part of a larger initiative. However, they were concerned about the flaws in his character which required controlling. Beaumont accepted the task, excelled in his role and delivered The Committee’s first presidential victory for many years. Since the election, he had continued to control the President’s flaws bar one major blip, the business the previous year with the Kennedys.
Beaumont had spent days deciding whether he should tell The Chairman the truth about the President’s involvement but that would have alerted him to his own failure in controlling the President. Therefore, he omitted to mention it during his weekly update with The Chairman. The President was of course completely unaware of where his Special Assistant’s real loyalties lay.
Beaumont’s phone rang.
“Hello?” he answered.
“Canada is done. I’m just waiting for final confirmation from Argentina…hold on a second,” the caller listened into his radio and confirmed to Beaumont, “…yes, it’s done.”
“Excellent. Any problems?”
“Of course not,” said the caller, irritated at the suggestion.
“Good.”
Beaumont was using the best personnel and could still not believe how stupid the President had been a year earlier, launching an operation without his involvement and selecting people recommended by low-life acquaintances.
“Unless there’s anything else, I’ll get my team some well earned rest,” suggested the caller.
“Yes, fine, I’ll talk to you again in a week.”
Beaumont ended the call and opened the safe beneath his desk for which only he had the key. He extracted the plan and crossed off Canada, Japan and Argentina. Fourteen down and three new members to add to The Committee.



Chapter 5


“Where have you been?” asked Lela.
“Penaraja,” replied Saki.
“How did you get in without us knowing?” asked Tom. “I mean the dogs, how did you get past them?”
Saki gave Tom a knowing look and winked.
Tom really wished he could do what Saki and Lela could do. But he couldn’t. Lela had tried to teach him some moves but after a couple of months had given up. Tom would never be supple enough and was far too awkward.
“So, tell me about your birthday?” said Saki changing the subject. “I’m so sorry I wasn’t here.”
“Not a lot to tell, no friends, just my grandparents, had a nice dinner, that’s about it.”
“…and your present?”
“Amazing!”
“Well, how are you getting on with it?”
“You just get back and all you want to do is talk about birthday presents?” interrupted Lela bringing the subject back to her original question. “Where have you really been?” she asked more forcefully.
“OH GOD NO!!” screamed Donald from the kitchen.
The three rushed through and looked at Donald as he stared at the TV screen.
“…to recap three, I repeat three, world leaders have been assassinated in the last four hours. Heightened security has been implemented around the world as investigators continue to try to make sense of the fourteen assassinations which have now taken place in the last year. We’ll keep you up to date with any developments, in the meantime, we’ll pass you back to your current programming…”
All stood open-mouthed at the shocking news. Donald turned to look at them and then spotted Saki. He heaved a huge sigh of relief.
“You’re back!” he said. “But I didn’t hear you come in, how did you get past the dogs?”
“Don’t ask,” said Tom.
“You know, just checking I’ve still got what it takes,” said Saki.
Tom and Lela both noticed the look between Donald and Saki. It was as though a thousand words had transferred between them without speaking.
“So, I was just asking Tom about his new pressie,” said Saki breaking the silence.
“Yes, very exciting. His mother is livid with me, she can’t believe I could be so stupid. Anyway, after last year’s endeavours of flying the A380 test plane, Tom proved he’s more than capable.”
“I can’t believe he didn’t guess,” said Lela, pinching Tom.
Tom couldn’t believe he didn’t guess either. The day of his birthday had arrived and unlike the previous year, it was to be a fairly quiet day. No parties, no Saki, just his grandparents visiting for a birthday dinner. However, one thing was planned which was very exciting, Alba One was ready for delivery. Alba One was his father’s new Airbus A380, a new private jet replacing a smaller Boeing 747. It had been delivered overnight to Glasgow Airport and was to be unveiled as part of Tom’s birthday celebrations. Tom was a plane fanatic and would have preferred to see it arrive from Toulouse but his father had refused. The plane was arriving too early in the morning and he wanted it perfect for the unveiling.
The Kennedys boarded the helicopter for the short trip to Glasgow Airport. Throughout the trip, Tom’s mother was livid with his father. Tom had no idea why but whatever his father had done, Tom had never seen his mother so angry. They arrived at Glasgow Airport and landed in front of a new hangar specially erected to house the new plane. The hangar was massive, over 100 metres long by 100 metres wide.
A ribbon had been placed in front of the hangar doors for Tom to cut which he did before the others had even reached the hangar, such was his excitement. Once the ribbon was cut, the doors to the hangar began to slide open and Tom’s father asked him to turn around and look away.
As the doors clunked into their fully open position, Donald allowed Tom to turn back round and asked him to hit a light switch which would reveal the new plane. Tom hit the switch, the lights blazed. But nothing. The hangar was empty, completely empty. Tom’s stomach fell to his knees as he realised that Alba One was missing. He turned to his father who looked across to the pilot who shrugged his shoulders.
There was a structure at the back of the hangar which took up less than a tenth of the total space but was nonetheless a substantial building. Donald explained that those were the offices and suggested they go and see what was going on. As they approached the structure, an almighty bang erupted and the walls fell down, missing them by a matter of inches. Smoke and Rachel’s screams filled the air. Tom turned to his father who was smiling. His mother’s punch soon put an end to the smile as she struck Donald square on the chin. Tom was utterly confused. But as the smoke, (or as it turned out) the dry ice settled, Tom realised why his father was smiling.
Standing in front of Tom was a brand new Gulfstream G550 jet, registration G-TOMI. He couldn’t believe it, his own plane! Not just any old plane, an ultra long-range jet, capable of flying from Glasgow to Johannesburg or Los Angeles, non-stop. Tom was speechless.
He had received an enquiry a few month’s earlier from an anonymous customer using a Hotmail account. He had initially thought it strange as his customers didn’t use Hotmail. Nonetheless, he completed the proposal and delivered the quote. Tom had started his business a few years earlier. He was fanatical about flying and knew everything there was to know about anything that flew. One night, his father had asked for his thoughts on a proposal he had been given for a new plane for his company, Tom had suggested a different model giving various reasons. His father took his proposal seriously and from that day on Tom had never looked back. He had set up his own company which, within the space of two years, was worth in excess of?6 million. He offered truly independent advice on any aircraft upon which many people and businesses relied, including the most recent anonymous Hotmail customer. The request had been for a small executive jet which would be both easy and safe to fly. It was to be capable of flying from Glasgow to Johannesburg (coincidentally the same distance to Tom’s school which was located on a small island in the Indian Ocean). It would have a young and inexperienced pilot and this should be taken into account. How Tom had failed to spot the clues escaped him, especially as Lela had kept asking him if he had received any strange requests lately. He had told her about the anonymous email and despite her fit of giggles, he still had not clicked. Lela was fully aware of Tom’s business activities although his parents were not. He wanted to surprise them in the same way that his father had surprised his grandparents on his sixteenth birthday.
The Kennedys boarded the new jet and flew to Toulouse to do exactly what Tom had wanted to do originally, to pick up Alba One personally. On arrival at Toulouse however, Tom declined to fly back in Alba One in favour of his very own plane, ‘Tom One’, although he was not yet allowed to fly it himself. Everyone else plumped for the ultra luxurious A380 in which Rachel had styled the interior and had, Donald complained, spent the same on the inside as he had spent on the plane itself. This of course was nonsense, Rachel couldn’t have spent $250 million on the interior even if she had tried.

“So have you actually flown it yet?” asked Saki.
“Flown it?” said Lela rhetorically. “He’s never been out of it.”
“Yes,” said Tom nudging Lela. “I’ve had a few lessons, it’s great fun. Mum’s still not happy though, but then I think Dad’s right, she’ll never be happy about me flying.”
“Even when you’re fifty, she’ll hate it,” confirmed Donald.
“Well I’m sorry,” said an exhausted Saki, “but I need a shower. If you don’t mind, I’m going to head over to the Lodge,” said Saki.
“You look like you need a good sleep as well. You look terrible,” said Lela.
“Thanks!” said Saki. “Come on, let’s go home and you can tell me what you’ve been up to,” he said to Lela while throwing a look to Donald which said I’ll be back soon, we need to talk. Donald nodded while Tom watched their interaction. This was becoming more worrying by the minute. What was going on?
As Saki and Lela got up to leave, alarms went off throughout the house, doors and windows instantly locked and security shutters dropped in front of the bullet proof glazing. The Rottweillers went wild and could be heard above the alarms. Donald tensed as his worst fears raced through his mind. Saki, however, remained calm and began to laugh. Rachel rushed in.
“What’s happ…SAKI, you’re back!” Rachel threw her arms around him, forgetting the dogs and the alarms.
Tom and Lela looked at each other as Donald looked at the Rachel hugging Saki. They were under attack. Somebody had entered the estate’s perimeter. The house was in full lock-down and they were hugging? But he knew that they were completely safe. The house was impregnable. Everything was covered, even an attack by tanks and bulldozers. As the alarm triggered, huge metal barriers rose from the ground barring access to all vehicles. The security shutters would protect against any shell or bomb blast. The only thing that could break through was a nuclear blast but they had their underground bunker for that eventuality. Nothing was left to chance. Within five minutes, three choppers full of heavily armed Royal Marines would be on site to deal with the intruders.
Although he knew that they should be completely safe, he could not understand Saki’s reaction. Why was he laughing?
“Saki, why the hell are you laughing?” shouted Donald.
Saki said nothing but walked over to the security camera screens. One screen was filled with an estate schematic which showed the exact location of every person on the estate. Each person was individually identified by a green dot. Two red dots flashed on the screen, the intruders were just inside the gates. Twenty yellow dots surrounded them, the Rottweillers.
“Very impressive, the dogs caught them instantly,” said Saki, still calm. He touched the two red dots on the screen and the security camera zoomed in on the intruders. As the picture became clearer, the room filled with laughter.
“Kano and Kisho! What are they doing here?” asked Tom, recognising the twins, Lela’s cousins.
“Getting eaten by these bloody dogs if you don’t do something,” came their response. Saki had switched on the intercom system and Tom’s question had boomed out across the estate. Donald pressed the release button and the dogs instantly stood down. The button emitted a high pitch perceptible only to dogs.
Donald turned to Saki.
“But I just don’t get it, how did you get past the dogs? They don’t know you?”
Saki pulled a small controller from his pocket identical to Donald’s.
“I had a sample made when we were planning the controls for the dogs. I’m just glad it still works!”
Donald however could not see the funny side, the stress was getting to him. Saki noted Donald’s demeanour and placed a reassuring arm around his shoulders. He led him into the study. Showers and sleep could wait. It was time to talk.



Chapter 6


Beaumont was excited. In less than four hours, he would present an update of the plan to The Committee. Up until that point, the President himself had always updated The Committee on ‘Current Progress’ and ‘Next Steps’. This was his chance to shine in front of The Chairman.
The President and Beaumont had had a conference call with The Chairman that morning. The Chairman told them that there would be change to that evening’s agenda and that Beaumont would be up first. The President protested it was his plan and the members expected him to be in control. At that point, The Chairman asked the President to lift up his handset. Beaumont did not know what was said but whatever it was, it was the first time he had seen the President silenced, not only silenced but shaken. The President replaced the handset and suggested that Beaumont leave early as he had a long drive home before the evening’s meeting. Beaumont would normally use a Marine chopper to get him home but on that occasion, was met only with a hearty laugh and a wave of dismissal. The President was showing him he was still the boss.
Beaumont arrived at his family home in Virginia, a peaceful estate in the heart of old America.
“Good afternoon Charles.”
“Good afternoon Mother,” replied Beaumont as he rushed through the door and headed towards his private study.
“Now Charles, I brought you up better than that, come back here and greet your mother properly.”
“Of course Mother, sorry,” he said through gritted teeth, as he stopped, returned to his mother and pecked her on the cheek.
“Good afternoon Mother and how are you today?” he asked sarcastically
“Better now, thank you. Now off you go.”
Beaumont, already in a foul mood from the unnecessary three hour drive, was now ready to explode and almost sprinted to his study. He had less than an hour to practice for that night’s meeting which, in his mind, was the most important meeting of his life. After The Chairman’s earlier remonstration with the President, he now more than ever wanted to be the Deputy Chairman.
Beaumont closed the door to his study and sat in the same chair his father and grandfather had used before him. At last he had time to himself to work on the update. Nobody would interrupt him in the study, this area was sacrosanct, a tradition that was almost as old as the family itself. In fact, it was on breaking this tradition that Beaumont witnessed his ‘real’ father for the first and only time. Beaumont had been enjoying an after dinner drink with his mother when she collapsed, gasping for air and complaining of severe chest pains. Beaumont immediately called an ambulance and screamed to the maid to tell his father. She had refused, apologising that she could not disturb Mr Beaumont in his study, even if the house were burning down, she could not disturb him. Beaumont had shouted for the butler who had similarly refused. He screamed at them, his mother was having a heart attack and they were worried about disturbing his father’s peace and solitude. He pushed them aside and stormed down the corridor to tell his father about his mother’s condition. He reached the study door and tried to open it. It was locked. Every ounce of anger went into thumping the door to draw his father out of his self indulgent solitude. After nearly a minute of banging, the door opened, his father’s anger evident in the slap he delivered to the young Beaumont. His father issued him a chilling warning ‘don’t ever disturb me again.’ Beaumont protested that his mother was having a heart attack. His father’s response shocked his son to the core, ‘deal with it’, he said before shutting the door in his face.
The thought of his father’s actions now brought a smile to his face which was quickly followed by a pang of regret for the father he had never really known. He pulled himself together, he had less than an hour to prepare for that night’s meeting and he had to impress The Chairman. Beaumont was certain he was being tested, although the thought crossed his mind that perhaps The Chairman was merely exerting his authority over the President by putting him firmly in his place. However, he quickly dismissed these thoughts. The Chairman did not need to play such childish games. He was all powerful and had proved the point many times. Only just recently, everyone had been reminded of The Chairman’s power. A Committee member had dared to disagree with his orders and had refused to carry them out. Within an hour, the Committee member and his entire family were executed by their own trusted bodyguards in a very public display. It was only at the next Committee meeting and the silhouette of an empty chair that the Committee members realised who the dissenting voice had been and how dangerous The Chairman really was.
The red light changed to yellow on top of the unit sitting in the centre of Beaumont’s desk. It was the only electrical product in the room and one of the most advanced communication systems in the world. It could detect the presence of any other power source and listening device. It continually scoured its surroundings and should it detect any other device, it would refuse to operate until the offending article were removed. This included phones, tape recorders, music systems, computers. In fact, the only power source Beaumont had found acceptable to the unit was a single low powered desk lamp. He had even changed his Rolex watch to an automatic version as the battery version had upset the unit.
The yellow light signified that everybody had checked in and that the meeting would commence in two minutes. Checking-in required a thumb and eye scan with the added requirement that these bodily parts be attached to their owner. It also required the member to be alone and this was checked by the unit scanning for heart beats and respiratory outputs. Should more than one be present, the check-in would fail.
The green light began to flash, 10…9…8, the countdown to the start of the meeting had begun. The real leaders of the free world (and soon the entire world) were about to be in session.
The unit’s screen lit up and its centre was filled by the silhouette of a man sitting in a large chair. A number of smaller silhouettes surrounded the perimeter of the screen, each silhouette representing its member.
“Good evening everybody and welcome to today’s meeting. Before we start, I would just like to welcome three new members or should I say Ohayo Gozai-Masu, Buenas Tardes and Good Evening.”
Three of the small silhouettes acknowledged this welcome, one giving a very deep and long bow.
The new members increased the Committee’s foreign membership to twelve and resulted in the Committee’s membership more than doubling over the previous year. Of course, it was not hard to guess where the new members were from, as each assassination led to a new member.
A chorus of welcomes echoed through their headphones, another feature to ensure security.
“Thank you Gentlemen… we’ve got a lot to get through this evening,” said The Chairman bringing the meeting to order. “First on the agenda is an update on our operation and for this, I will hand over to Member Four.”
A small mumble was heard amongst the members who thought The Chairman had said the wrong number — usually Member Three gave the operational updates.
Member Four was Beaumont.
“Thank you, Mr Chairman,” he said. Although heavily digitised, it was obvious to all other members that no mistake had been made and a few members shifted nervously in their seats as a younger voice took the floor.
“Gentlemen, as you are aware, this operation has been in planning and preparation for many years. I am pleased to report that with only two months left of our operational phase, we are on track. Every deliverable has been met and no obstacles are anticipated. We are, of course, at the most difficult and critical point of the operation and security is exceedingly tight around the remaining world leaders…”
“How can you say no obstacles are anticipated? The leaders are virtually living in nuclear bunkers?” interrupted another member. It was apparent that The Chairman’s young protege was not going to have an easy ride.
“I’m glad you asked as that brings us to the next phase of the operation — Incrimination and Deception.”
“What the hell does that mean?” asked the same member becoming more irritated.
“Exactly, what it says,” replied Beaumont, biting his tongue. His audience, he reminded himself, were the richest and most powerful men in the world.
“The plan is,” continued Beaumont regaining his composure, “to throw up a wall of confusion and to provide the authorities with a credible suspect who will be found guilty of the assassinations. Security will then ease and our final victims will be easier to take down.”
“So who do we propose will make a credible suspect?” asked the irritated member, laughing as he posed the question. A fall guy for these assassinations was bordering on farcical. It was widely known that not one person, country or group had anything to gain from the wide and diverse list of victims. Nor did they have the opportunity, skill, wherewithal or resources to undertake such an extensive and complex operation.
“The identity of the proposed suspect shall remain confidential at this time. In fact, not even The Chairman is aware of this detail and has agreed that in the interests of the operation, it should remain so. The first you will hear of our unwitting suspect will be when he is plastered over the front page of your newspaper, labelled the world’s most wanted assassin.”
A wave of discontent began to fill the airwaves as members began to mumble disapprovingly.
“Gentlemen, please,” boomed The Chairman. “I’m assured that the need for secrecy is vital. As you can imagine, there is only a limited number of people who have the resources to be a potential suspect and therefore it is vital that on the capture of the suspect, we’re as shocked as anyone around us at the time.”
The Chairman had given his approval to Beaumont’s plan and all mumbling ceased. “Carry on, Member Four,” he instructed Beaumont.
“The operation will begin next week and requires the involvement of one of our friendly African dictators. He, of course, is unaware of the true purpose of the operation but will give us the perfect opportunity to plant the seeds which will blossom and provide us with the perfect suspect…”
“Just because he’s apprehended doesn’t mean the leaders will come out of hiding. It may in fact drive them deeper underground and may even incite greater panic, dependent of course upon who this poor fool is,” said the irritated member, trying once more to score a point against Beaumont.
Despite the digitisation of his voice, Beaumont’s clipped tone was evident. “Yes, we understand that and that is exactly why, when everybody is certain of his guilt, he will meet with an unfortunate accident. Afterall, African prisons are very dangerous places.”
“Hmm yes, I can see that may work,” conceded the irritated member who did not enjoy being put in his place by a junior member.
“We believe it will work and just as the leaders begin to feel safe again, we’ll take them out.” Beaumont tried to adopt a more conciliatory tone. He could not afford to make enemies and The Chairman would not be impressed if he upset members on his first update.
“Excellent and timescale?” asked The Chairman in a tone which signalled an end to the discussion.
“Two weeks to frame our assassin. Two months to complete the plan.”
“Good, thank you Member Four. The next item on our agenda is financial reporting, Member Two…”
Beaumont listened as Member Two droned through the financial update which seldom changed. The Committee had more cash in hand than any other person, corporation or country in the world. The figures were now measured to the nearest billion. Almost an hour later, the meeting finally came to a close. The world had been put to rights and decisions made that would affect the majority of the world’s population.
“Gentlemen, thank you and goodnight. Member Four please stay on line.”
The silhouettes disappeared as The Chairman cut all feeds except for his and Beaumont’s. Beaumont was worried, he had snapped at the other member and expected the full wrath of The Chairman for his lack of control.
“Well done Beaumont, succinct and to the point.”
“Thank you, Mr Chairman. I was slightly concerned about the interruptions.” Beaumont figured it was better to bring it up himself.
“Yes, well, Member Seven is getting a little too big for his boots. I think I need to send him a little reminder as to who is boss.”
Relief swept through Beaumont bringing with it an added confidence.
“Anything I can do to help?”
“No, no, this has been some time coming, leave it to me, I’ll deal with it.” The Chairman’s tone was chilling and Beaumont thanked God that he was not Member Seven.
“Good luck with the rest of the operation and call me if you need anything. Particularly if that imbecile President goes off on one of his personal vendettas again.”
Beaumont realised that The Chairman was referring to the Kennedy fiasco, a year earlier.
“You knew?” Beaumont whispered, his body rigid with fear.
“Of course I knew, I’m just disappointed that you didn’t tell me yourself, you’ve had ample opportunity. Anyway, I understand why you didn’t and good job on covering the idiot’s tracks but don’t let it happen again. He is expendable and don’t forget that.”
Beaumont’s face flushed as his heart pounded at the thought of his stupidity, why had he not told The Chairman himself?
“Yes of course Mr Chairman and please accept my sincere apolo…”
“It’s fine, in your position, I would probably have done the same but as long as it doesn’t happen again.”
The Chairman did not need to say anymore, it was obvious that a second time would be unforgivable and would result in immediate expulsion from the Committee. However there was no such thing as a living ex Committee member. Ex Committee members had two things in common, six foot of earth and a predisposition for pushing up daisies.
“Anyway, let’s move on, we’ve got a very difficult two months ahead. Are you absolutely sure your suspect will be credible?”
“Honestly, with what we’ve got on him, I’m beginning to believe he’s guilty myself.”
“He must be a very interesting individual, I’d love to know who he is…”
“It’s…”
“No, please don’t tell me, it’s better I don’t know, that way I can’t put my foot in it. When do you begin?”
“We anticipate the suspect will be in position next week. I’m just waiting for his latest schedule to finalise the plan.”
“Excellent. Good luck and if you need anything, don’t hesitate to make contact.”
“Of course and thank you Mr Chairman.”
The screen blinked and died, the red L.E.D. indicating that no transmission was being made.
Beaumont sat back and breathed deeply. A coldness hit his back as his sweat-drenched shirt made contact with his flesh. His hand was still shaking from The Chairman’s revelation. How did he know about the Kennedys? Why had he not said anything before? What would he do to him? Surely The Chairman would make him pay for his deception. Questions fizzed around his mind as he struggled to come to terms with the situation. He pushed his seat back from the desk, stood up and began to pace up and down, visions of the repercussions flashing in front of him. His father’s words rang in his ears, ‘Don’t ever underestimate The Chairman. He’s the most ruthless son of a bitch alive. Many men have underestimated him and none have lived to tell the tale.’
It took Beaumont nearly five minutes of pacing before he noticed an envelope which had been slipped under the door. He bent down and picked it up. It was marked ‘Top Secret For Beaumont’s Eyes Only’. The envelope was from a law firm which Beaumont used exclusively for Committee work. This in itself signalled it was urgent and the three additional ‘urgent’ stamps were completely unnecessary.
He tore open the envelope and extracted a single sheet of paper. Half way through the first line of text he paused, his composure returned. He had work to do and an operation to plan. He started reading the document again, from the start.
‘Travel Schedule for Donald Kennedy…’

Member Seven did not have to wait long before he felt the wrath of The Chairman. He realised he had gone too far and had desperately tried to contact The Chairman after the meeting. But for the first time, The Chairman did not respond to his urgent messages. Member Seven began to panic and quickly contacted each member of his family to check their whereabouts. They were all safe. The phone rang. At last he thought, The Chairman was calling him back. But it was his normal work mobile not his special Committee phone.
“Hello?” he answered. The caller id showed that it was his Personal Secretary, a secretary who had been rather more personal than his wife would have liked. It was after midnight why would she be calling him so late?
“Hello, I wonder if you can help. Do you recognise this number?” asked a rather awkward male voice.
“Yes, of course, it’s my secretary’s mobile. Did you find it somewhere?”
“Well sort of yes. I’m with the local police, I’m afraid I may have some terrible news…”
Member Seven heard little more than she had been beaten to death and had a knife wound on her back in the shape of a number and two letters.
The waiting was over. The Chairman had vented his anger. His beautiful secretary, only 28, was dead with 7 — TC carved into her back. A message direct to Member 7 from T he C hairman.
McDonald, Murray
Assassin (The Billionaire Series)



Part Two



Chapter 7


“Dad?”
“Yes Tom?” came the muffled response.
Tom tried to open the study door but it was locked. He didn’t know the door had a lock.
“Just give me a minute son,” said his father nervously.
Tom was beginning to worry. His father’s behaviour was becoming more and more weird. It had been a week since Saki had returned and since Tom had spoken at any length to his father. Saki and Donald had spent the week huddled together in the study. As Tom waited, he could hear the shuffling of papers and agitated whispering.
Even Kano and Kisho had noticed that things were not normal and were beginning to ask questions. In fact, from the moment they landed at Glasgow, Saki had been like a man possessed, trying to get back to the Kennedy Estate. They had landed early and rather than waiting 20 minutes for a helicopter, Saki had insisted on jumping in the first cab available. He had then coaxed the driver into breaking just about every road traffic regulation in order to get home as quickly as possible. When they hit roadworks 3 miles from the Estate, Saki looked at the queue of traffic, paid the driver, opened the door and started running. Kano and Kisho followed suit but despite being significantly younger than Saki, did not stand a chance of keeping up with him. Saki forged ahead and was soon out of sight. Just as they thought they had made it and jumped over the Estate wall, they were surrounded by Rottweillers.
Saki and Donald had not even waited for the twins to enter the house before disappearing into the study and it was left to Kano and Kisho to explain why they were there. Everybody had been so pleased to see the twins that it was not until they sat down at the dinner table that Lela asked the question
“But why are you here, what’s wrong?”
“Nothing at all. You didn’t think you were going to school without us did you?” Kano replied. The twins, ex Special Forces soldiers, were now Tom and Lela’s unofficial bodyguards at school.
With everything that was going on, Donald’s strange behaviour, Saki being away and the terrifying assassinations, nobody had realised that there was only one week to go before school started.
Tom listened as the whispering and the sound of paper shuffling stopped. He stepped back expecting the door to open but nothing happened. There was just complete silence. Just as he thought his father had found another way out of the study, he heard a dull thud followed by a loud metallic click. Soon after, the study door opened.
“Hi, Tom, what’s up?” asked Donald casually, as though the last two minutes had never happened.
“Hmmm, nothing,” said Tom as he strained to see past his father.
“Hi Saki,” he said as he saw Saki sitting on the study’s sofa.
“Oh hi Tom, how are you?” responded Saki a little more nervously.
“Good thanks, just wondering whether you two will be joining us for dinner? It’ll be our last meal together before the Christmas hols you know.”
“Of course, we were just finishing off a few bits and pieces, we’ll be down in a second.”
“OK,” replied Tom gloomily. He wasn’t used to being kept in the dark and he was now sure something was going on. He made his way back down to the kitchen.
As he walked in, four expectant faces looked beyond him and their smiles faded.
“Didn’t you find them?” asked Rachel.
“Yes I did,” replied Tom.
“And?” asked Lela.
“They’ll be down soon.”
“Well that’s just not good enough,” said Lela whose voice rose as her anger stirred. She had hardly seen her father in a month and the least he could do was spend some quality time with them before they left for school.
“Are they in the study?”
“Yes,” said Tom as he was barged out of the way by a now very angry Lela.
“I’ll get them,” she said as she stormed off.
“I wouldn’t like to be in their shoes,” mumbled Kisho.
“We know better than to upset our little Lela,” said Kano.
“Yep, she’s quite scary when she gets going,” said Kisho.
“Well that’s because Mum taught her everything she knows,” mumbled Tom under his breath. Kano and Kisho stifled a laugh as Rachel glowered at Tom.
“What was that Tom?” she snapped.
“Nothing, nothing at all Mum,” replied a sheepish Tom.
Two minutes later and escorted by a triumphant Lela, Donald and Saki were marched into the kitchen.
“Hi guys,” said Donald as he took his seat.
“Well at last,” said Rachel. “We can start our meal. What have you two been up to?”
“Just finalising the plans for the Africa trip,” replied Donald innocently.
Tom almost choked on his drink. He had never seen his father lie so nonchalantly to his mother. It was nonetheless a very clever lie. Donald had organised a week away from the business to help support Rachel in her contribution towards eradicating unnecessary child deaths in impoverished African states. Rachel was so pleased with his support that she didn’t query any of his plans.
“Oh, good. Everything OK?” she asked nervously.
“Of course! We leave tomorrow night, as planned.”
“Anyway, tonight’s about Tom and Lela, not us. Back to school tomorrow, I can’t believe the holidays are over so soon!” said Donald.
“I know, it feels like just last week that we were on our way home but it was ten weeks ago, it’s unbelievable!” said Tom.
“I only wish term time went by as fast as holiday time,” said Lela who had now calmed down.
“If we could crack that, we’d make a lot of money,” joked Donald.
It was midnight before they realised the time. The evening, after its shaky start, had been great fun. The old Donald and Saki were back, laughing and joking as the family reminisced about Tom and Lela’s first year at The Academy. Nobody mentioned the events that had marred their first two weeks at school. It was not that they didn’t want to discuss the kidnapping of Donald, Rachel and Saki, or the fact that Tom and Lela narrowly escaped the clutches of terrorists who were attempting to prevent Donald from completing a deal which would make him the richest man in the world. They didn’t discuss it because it was just not appropriate the night before they went back to school.
“I think perhaps it’s time for bed guys,” said Donald looking at his watch.
“Aw, can’t we stay up just a little longer,” pleaded Tom. This was the first quality time they had spent together the whole summer.
“No, come on it’s after twelve and we’ve got an early start.”
“Please, Donald, just another half hour,” tried Lela in her most pleading tone.
“No, Donald’s right. Time for bed,” butted in Saki as he saw Donald begin to soften. Her mother had definitely left her mark on Lela, Tylanni would always get what she wanted and Saki was now used to Lela’s wily ways.
Five minutes later, after their goodnights, Tom and Lela made their way to their rooms.
“I’d forgotten how much fun Dad and Saki could be,” said Tom.
“Yeah, I’ve really missed them, it’s good to have them back.”
“Me too but I’ve got a funny feeling they’ll be back to their strange behaviour tomorrow.”
“Do you have any idea what’s wrong?” asked Lela.
“None whatsoever and I’m starting to get worried. I wish school was starting in another couple of weeks. I’d like to have been around to try and find out what’s going on. Anyway, we need to get some sleep. Goodnight Lela.”
“Goodnight,” replied Lela as she made her way back to the Lodge.
Tom’s prediction was nearly right. As he and Lela made their way to bed, Donald and Saki were already on their way back to the study. They had waited only two minutes before reverting to their strange behaviour.



Chapter 8


‘Frantic’ would not begin to describe the scene at the Kennedy Estate the next morning as everybody rushed to get ready for their respective trips. Luggage littered the helipad as Rachel ensured everybody was prepared for every eventuality. Finally and with twice the amount of luggage needed, they took off and made their way to the airport.
The helicopters landed at the Alba hangar which housed Alba One and Tom One. As Rachel and Lela ensured everybody’s suitcases were sent to the correct plane, the others made their way into the hangar and towards the office to meet the pilots. The office was bustling with activity as the maintenance crew and aircraft crew finalised the flight details for each plane. Alba One’s flight plan was more complex, particularly as it would be landing at a number of airports which had never witnessed nor accommodated the new Airbus A380, the largest commercial airliner. Donald had toyed with the idea of borrowing his old 747 for the trip but Tom had told him not to be so ridiculous, as long as a runway could accommodate a 747, it could accommodate the new A380.
“Dad, where are the pilots for Tom One?”
Donald looked around. “Oh I’m sure they’re here somewhere. Maybe they’re checking over the charts for the flight.”
“They can’t be, the charts are all lying here and haven’t been touched.”
“Jim?” said Donald, addressing the pilot for the A380.
“Yes Sir?”
“Have you seen the pilots for the G550?”
“No, I haven’t. What time were they due?”
“They should’ve been here by now. We’re all leaving at the same time,” said Donald checking his watch.
“Oh,” said Jim.
“We’ll go and see if we can find them,” offered Kano and Kisho, disappearing out of the office.
Tom began looking over the charts as he waited for the pilots to appear. They had plenty of time. In fact, they had a couple of days to spare. Donald had suggested they leave early and have the week-end to acclimatise before starting school on the Monday. Tom thought it was just some BS so that they would all leave at the same time. In this way, their parents wouldn’t feel guilty about leaving for their African adventure the day before he and Lela were due to go back to school.
Kano came back into the office.
“It’s Ok, we found the pilot, he was already in the aircraft.”
As Kano stepped aside, a pilot dressed in full uniform appeared in the doorway with his head tipped forward, obscuring his face behind the rim of his cap. As he entered the room, his head lifted to reveal a smiling Kisho.
“Stop fooling around, Kisho, where’s the pilot?” Tom wasn’t in the mood for jokes and looked in the main hangar for any sign of the real flight crew.
“I’m the pilot,” replied Kisho proudly.
“Don’t be silly, you fly helicopters, not jets,” dismissed Tom.
“No, I am the pilot,” replied Kisho indignantly. “I’ve been learning to fly one of those for quite a while now,” he added, motioning to the G550.
“Really?…Wicked!!” said Tom excitedly. “So where’s the co-pilot?”
Nobody replied and after a nod from Donald, Kisho produced another jacket and cap from behind the door and handed them to Tom. Tom just looked at them bewildered.
“Take them, you’ll need them to be co-pilot,” said Donald.
“But I can’t be, I’m not 17, it’s not allowed,” replied Tom.
“Let’s just say I have a few friends who made it possible,” explained Donald as he produced Tom’s new flying licence.
“Cool!!!” shouted Tom as he took the jacket and cap, trying them on immediately.



Chapter 9


The phone buzzed and was answered before the end of the first ring.
“Yes,” answered Beaumont.
“We’ve just received confirmation that they’ve taken off. We have their flight plans but we’ll track them as well just to make sure there are no last minute changes.”
“Excellent. How’s everything else?”
“Lets just say Equatorial Guinea is not the easiest place to work in. The Guinean President, Benga, is a certifiable madman and control freak. He wants to know everything we’re doing, every second of the day.”
“I’ll have a word with him and remind him who’s boss. He rules at our pleasure. You won’t have any more problems with him. Anything else?”
“No, everything is on schedule. The ‘accident’ will happen tonight as planned and we’re just finishing the paintwork on the borrowed Migs.”
“Excellent and remember, failure is not an option.”
“I’m well aware of that, you don’t need to keep reminding me,” irritation crept into the Commander’s voice. He had only recently been transferred to work with this ‘younger man’. The Commander was unaware of Beaumont’s identity, he was just a voice from whom he took orders. Previously he had worked for The Chairman, known to him only as ‘the boss’, but he had been asked to move over to Beaumont and take a number of his best men with him for a short secondment. He was naturally disappointed with this apparent demotion but an order was an order. The boss had noted his disappointment and emphasised it was only because he was so good at his job that he was being transferred. He needed his best commanders for a very special operation being run by the ‘younger man’.
The Commander’s name was Smith and like every member of the Committee’s small and ultra secret army, his name was a pseudonym. All previous names, backgrounds and records were permanently erased on selection to this very special force. It was a truly multi-national force. Recruiters scoured the world to select the best candidates. Each candidate was observed for a period of time and only once the recruiters were truly convinced that they were right for the secret army, would the recruitment process begin. The process could take anything up to a year, with various tasks and tests being carried out on the individual. Only when they proved their complete and total allegiance, could an offer be made. The offer, of course, made no reference to The Committee. In fact, as far as each member of the secret army knew, they were still employed by their own country’s armed forces, only at a higher level. They all thought they had joined a top secret multi-national force which operated beyond the limits within which their governments could legally operate. Their training conditioned them to believe that the most obscure tasks had global repercussions and although they may seem bizarre, they were all designed to protect the national security of their own countries, if not directly, indirectly. With these beliefs, the soldiers carried out the most heinous crimes — assassinations, torture, bombings and many other horrors without question. Of course, one of the criteria for selection was a propensity for violence. They had found over the years that this made for a much more obedient soldier. However, the ultimate criterion was that there was no turning back. The real identity of each member of the secret army ceased to exist after their enlistment. Accidents were arranged, bodies and records were swapped to ensure their histories did not follow them.
There were over a thousand members of the secret army stationed across the world, trained to perfection and armed with the latest and most deadly weapons. Had it not been top secret, it would have been the most talked about army in the world, overshadowing even the SAS and the Seals. The Committee’s recruiters ensured they got the cream of the crop, only their rejects would be available to those ‘lesser’ units.
“Apologies, it’s just that we’ve got a lot riding on this,” recovered Beaumont.
“I understand, don’t worry, my men and I won’t let you down,” said Smith.
“Is there anything else I can do?” asked Beaumont.
“No, everything’s in place, please just make the call to the Guinean President and get him off our backs so we can get on with our work.”
“Consider it done. Good luck.”
“Thanks.”
As Smith replaced the receiver, he heard the phone ring next door in the Guinean Presidential office. A few seconds later the President’s booming voice exploded.
“How dare you speak to me like this! Who do you think you are?”
Obviously, Beaumont was being true to his word and whatever he was saying soon took effect as the Guinean President’s initial anger tailed off and turned to fear. The next thing he said was in much softer tone.
“Yes, I understand and please accept my apologies. Of course we’ll do whatever you wish.”
Smith turned to his deputy and indicated it was time to go. They had less than two hours to prepare for that night’s mission. The missile was still experimental and it was imperative that everything was done precisely or there was no telling where the damn thing would go. He had begged for another way to carry out the mission but Beaumont had been insistent, it had to be done by using the new missile.



Chapter 10


Donald, Rachel and Saki relaxed as the enormous plane lifted off from Glasgow. Alba One was more like an apartment with wings than an airplane. No expense had been spared. Donald joked that the only difference between the plane and home was the view from the windows. Their first stop on their whistle-stop tour of Africa was Gabon in Western Africa which would take just over 9 hours.

Less than an hour behind Alba One, the significantly smaller but no less luxurious Tom One had taken off. Its journey was significantly longer and would take over 12 hours.
“I want to make a small detour, if you don’t mind Kisho,” said Tom an hour into the flight.
“It’s your plane, where do you want to go?”
“You’ll see, but don’t worry, it’ll only add about 15 minutes to the flight.”
“Whatever, as long as you don’t burn lots of fuel, it should be fine,” replied Kisho.
Tom entered the additional flight instructions and contacted Air Traffic Control to request permission for his new destination. Permission was granted and Tom hit the accept button for the new course, resulting in an almost indiscernible turn to the right. The plane also began to drop from its fifty thousand feet cruising height and began to slow.
“I’m intrigued,” said Kisho. “It looks as though we’re heading towards the South of France.”
“You’ll see,” was all Tom would say.
Twenty minutes later, the plane began to level out. They were flying at just over 300 mph and were a mere two thousand feet above the French countryside.
The cockpit door flew open.
“What’s wrong?” asked Kano. “Where are we going?”
“We’re just doing a little detour,” replied Tom looking around. “Lela, come and see!”
“See what?” she asked as she walked into the flight deck. Lela recognised where they were and began to smile, she knew exactly where they were heading.
“What are you smiling at?” asked Kisho as he watched his little cousin’s face light up.
“You’ll see soon enough,” was all she would say.
Kano and Kisho watched as they cruised along the favoured playground for the rich and famous. Cannes, Antibes, Nice, they looked spectacular as they flew by.
“Now watch very carefully,” said Tom pointing ahead to the left.
“What are we looking for?” said the twins, increasingly frustrated.
“You’ll see,” replied Lela with a huge grin but the grin began to disappear as Monaco appeared below them.
“Tom, what’s going on?” she asked.
“I don’t know, she should be there,” he replied.
Kano and Kisho looked at each other wondering who ‘she’ was. Finally they asked “Who’s ‘she’?”
Tom and Lela ignored them, scouring the view of Monaco harbour below them.
“Who is ‘she’?” repeated Kisho.
“Tylanni,” replied an agitated Lela.
“What do you mean Tylanni?” asked an exasperated Kisho, it was like pulling teeth. “Will somebody just tell me what the hell is going on?”
“You know I got this plane for my birthday, well Lela and my mum got a pretty spectacular present too. They’d always wanted a boat and this year they got one as a joint birthday present, it’s supposed to be here in its berth.”
“Maybe we just missed it?”
“Trust me, if it were there we would have seen it,” said Lela.
Rachel and Lela’s birthday present had been a massive surprise in more ways than one. Their birthdays were within a week of each other and coincided with the start of the summer holidays. The family had boarded the plane as normal for their holiday to Penaraja. However, a minor fault developed in the plane which resulted in an unscheduled stop in Nice. Of course, nothing was really unscheduled. On arrival at Nice, a helicopter whisked them down to Monaco to spend the night in the Presidential suite of the Hotel de Paris. After dinner on their exclusive balcony, a spectacular firework display lit up the sky, at the end of which a particular ship, anchored in the port, was lit up in a blaze of floodlights. Two pairs of binoculars were produced and given to Rachel and Lela. Sitting in the Monaco port was the most magnificent yacht. It was not the largest boat but was certainly one of the sleekest and Donald assured them was the fastest. Rachel and Lela both began to cry as they read the name on the bow of the ship, ‘Tylanni’, named in memory of Lela’s late mother. They immediately went down to the port and spent the following week cruising around the Med before returning to Alba One and resuming their trip to Penaraja.
“You would definitely have seen her from up here,” said Tom. “She’s over 350 feet long. In fact if you look below us now, that’s the Carinthia VII which is 320 feet long. Tylanni looks similar only sleeker and 50 feet longer.”
“That’s enormous,” said Kano.
“Well she’s certainly not invisible, where the hell is she?” exclaimed Tom. “Lela are you sure she wasn’t going anywhere?”
“Positive. In fact, your dad mentioned she needed some work to be done and would not be able to leave port for a month.”
“Very strange, very, very strange,” mumbled Tom to himself.
“Unless you want to land here, I suggest we get back on course soon or we we’ll have to land to refuel,” said Kisho.
Tom looked at Lela.
“What do you want to do?”
“There’s not a lot we can do, I’ll send your dad a message and see what he says. I’m sure there’s a perfectly good explanation.” Lela tried to be positive.
“Yep, I’m sure there is too. Let’s go Kisho.”
Kisho pushed the throttles to full power and the small jet rocketed back towards its fifty thousand feet cruising altitude and 650mph. They would land in just over 9 hours.
Donald responded quickly to Lela’s text and explained that he forgot to mention that the works on Tylanni were being completed in Marseille, not Monaco. Tom and Lela stared at each other, they knew it was another lie. Tom used the on-board internet facilities to visit a number of websites to check out his father’s claim. Like train spotting and plane spotting, mega yacht spotting had its fanatics who logged the movements of all yachts, in particular famous ones. At present, Tylanni was the hottest boat on the yacht-spotter circuit. Everybody wanted to know about her. Her exact performance and specifications were a closely guarded secret but everybody knew she was extremely fast, they just didn’t know how fast. From the internet, Tom discovered that Tylanni had left port three days earlier and had disappeared. Spotters were discussing predicted destinations but one thing was for sure, she was not in Marseille and in fact, was last seen heading in the opposite direction. Tom and Lela decided to keep a close eye on the websites to find out exactly what was going on.

“The coastline you can see to your left is Equatorial Guinea. We’ll be landing in 30 minutes,” announced the captain over the intercom.
Donald turned to Rachel and Saki but both were sound asleep. He looked out at the darkened sky which, with little light pollution, looked stunning. Donald turned to wake Rachel as a shooting star streaked across the sky. But something wasn’t right. He looked again. It wasn’t a shooting star at all…



Chapter 11


Smith’s helicopter took two hours to reach its destination. The Committee’s secret army was based in the centre of Equatorial Guinea’s mainland. Equatorial Guinea was a strange country with its capital located on a small island off the coast of Cameroon. Smith himself couldn’t quite understand why they didn’t just move to the mainland but then, having spent the previous few days with the Guinean President, he didn’t really understand why they did anything the way they did.
The base was only accessible by air, ensuring complete secrecy. The nearest road was 50 miles away and the nearest town over 70 miles away.
“Good evening Sir,” said the Deputy Commander as Smith stepped out of the helicopter.
“Good evening. Are we ready?”
“Yes Sir.”
“Good, let’s get things moving!” he ordered.
As he gave the order, five men ran to the hangar on their left, unlocked the doors and disappeared. Two minutes later, a long and strange looking machine emerged. It looked liked an elongated stealth fighter with wheels. It was articulated and moved surprisingly fast for its size, zipping across the compound and coming to a swift stop at Smith’s side. Smith could not get used to the machine’s ugly and awkward demeanour, it was the only one in existence. It was completely invisible to radar, heat seeking missiles and just about any other missile. Its external skin was built from a non-metallic composite which could withstand a direct hit from a tank and, most amazingly, could change its colour like a chameleon. Its shape meant that from a distance of anything over 50 metres, the vehicle literally disappeared into the background. Protruding from the rear stood its main purpose for being, its missile launch system, containing the experimental Stealth Strike Missile. This missile was designed to be undetectable in flight and more importantly would leave no trace of its existence on hitting its target. It was the ultimate fire and deny weapon.
The missile system began to rise as the weapon readied itself to fire. Once in position, Smith checked his watch and looked across to his firing team, it was nearly time. At any moment they would be notified that the target was ready.
“Are we ready gentlemen?” he asked.
“Yes Sir, we’re locked on the target and ready to fire.”
“Excellent.”
His phone buzzed, he answered the call, said nothing and hung up.
“Fire,” he said calmly.
The missile slowly lifted from the tube and smoothly made its way into the night sky in almost complete silence. A long tube covered the exhaust area meaning that only those directly under it could see the flames firing its climb into the sky. It slowly made its way to 5,000 feet at which point its main system ignited producing a flash of light as the missile accelerated to over Mach 5. It was the first time Smith had witnessed a launch of this missile and he was impressed. Not only was it barely visible, it was inaudible and the delay in acceleration meant that the characteristic boom of a missile launch simply didn’t happen.
The missile continued on a trajectory which would take it into the inner atmosphere where its warhead would bend for a fraction of a second allowing the propulsion portion of the weapon to power it into a downward track. This was the most crucial stage. If successful, the propulsion system would continue ever upwards and burn away in the earth’s outer atmosphere. In the meantime, the warhead would power downwards, picking up more and more speed. During its downward journey, the outer core of the missile would also burn off leaving only the new and undetectable core of the warhead to complete its deadly mission.
After the missile had left its launcher, it soon disappeared from view. Smith and his men continued to stare up at the sky. Although they couldn’t see it, the missile bent and split as intended and the warhead began its downward course towards its unsuspecting victims. Smith continued to stare at the sky watching for any sign of the returning warhead. One thing they had not been able to do was stop the glow of the warhead on its way back down. Smith supposed that was why it was still experimental, refinements were still in development. After a minute or so, a shout came from his left.
“There it is! Look towards the coast at 11 o’clock.”
Smith turned his gaze and there it was. It looked like a shooting star, except that instead of streaking across the sky horizontally, it was streaking downwards. Smith followed the glow as it fell towards earth and saw it turn into a bright flash as the missile impacted its target at over Mach 5. Although over a hundred miles away, the ground shook as the explosion ripped through the ground.
“Direct hit Sir! Perfect!” shouted one of his men.
“Excellent,” said Smith picking up his mobile and pushing the anonymous dial button. Two seconds later and 6,000 miles away a voice answered.
“Yes?”
“It’s done, perfect hit,” said Smith
“Excellent, well done,” replied a very happy Beaumont.



Chapter 12


Tom and Lela were still discussing the missing Tylanni when Kano came rushing through from the cockpit.
“Where were your parents heading to?” he asked panicking.
“Why, what’s wrong?” asked Tom.
“Just tell me where they were going!” shouted Kano.
“Gabon, they’re going to Gabon. Why?” asked Tom who felt instantly sick.
“Oh, thank God for that,” said Kano.
“Why, what’s happened?” asked Tom, still concerned about Kano’s panic.
“It’s just that we were listening to a news station and they reported a huge explosion in West Africa but it wasn’t Gabon. We just put two and two together and got about 45, sorry Tom.”
Tom’s concern did not wane.
“Where exactly in West Africa?” he asked.
“Some place called Equatorial Guinea,” he replied.
“Oh, my God!!”
“What’s wrong?” asked Lela as she watched the colour drain from Tom’s face.
“Gabon is next to Equatorial Guinea. It could be Alba One, the timing’s right, they’re due to land in about ten minutes which would put them over Equatorial Guinea for the last 15 minutes.”
Tom stood up and made his way to the cockpit. Kisho had heard what Tom had said and was frantically radioing for confirmation of what the explosion was caused by.
“This is Tom One. Can you please confirm source of explosion in Equatorial Guinea. Was it a plane crash, repeat, was it a plane crash?”
No response came. Kisho tried again and again. Finally the radio came to life.
“Sorry Tom One, nobody knows. Reason for explosion so far unknown.” The radio died again.
Tom grabbed his mobile and dialled his father’s number. It went straight to voicemail.
He tried again but it went straight to voicemail again.
He put the phone down and turned to Lela who shook her head as if to say it couldn’t be happening.
Tom’s phone rang. Without thinking, he answered.
“Hello?” and a huge smile appeared on his face. “Dad! You’re OK! Thank God! We were so worried. Hang on, I’ll put you on speaker.”
“Of course I’m OK, I was trying to call you but you kept going to voicemail,” said Donald.
“I was trying to call you, we just heard about the explosion.”
“I know, I know, I was calling to tell you all about it. I was looking out of the window and saw what looked like a shooting star but it fell straight into the ground and the whole thing just blew up.”
They were all so relieved they couldn’t say anything so they just listened to Donald telling them about the explosion and what he thought may have been a meteor. He then made his apologies for having to go as they were on their final approach and the captain was asking him to get off the phone.



Chapter 13


Beaumont relaxed in his office, the first stage of the African operation had been a success. In fact, a greater success than they had expected. CNN were covering the story, along with every other world news agency. Beaumont could not believe his luck. The missile had caused far more damage than anticipated, over 2,000 people were presumed dead. He was delighted. Human life meant nothing to him.
The missile had targeted a remote mining town near the coast of Equatorial Guinea. Timing was of the essence as the only moment the missile could make a direct entry into the mine shaft was when the miners finished their shift at 18.45. At that time, the mine’s elevator was lifted out of the shaft and manoeuvred to the side to allow the miners to disembark. On target and on time, the missile plunged down the shaft and exploded, igniting a heavily laden explosives room. The kinetic energy and force of the missile increased the explosive potential of the mining explosives by 10 fold. The explosion ripped through the mine network uncovering numerous weak points and resulting in a massive implosion which had the effect of swallowing the surrounding town in one huge catastrophe. It was not anticipated that any survivors would be found. Certainly the bemused miners who had witnessed the strange meteor hurtling past them and then down the shaft would never be found alive.

The file on Beaumont’s desk would commence the next stage of the operation, namely, the Misinformation Stage. He put on his latex gloves before handling the file as it was likely that the information contained within it would be handed over to the authorities at some stage. The material inside was even more explosive than the missile. He extracted the documents and placed them in an envelope. The envelope would be sent out that night to the head office of an international media organisation.
He closed the envelope and stopped himself from licking it closed, avoiding a schoolboy error and instead dabbed it with a damp sponge to seal it. He smiled as he placed the envelope in his briefcase, he would drop it in a postbox on his way home. Mr Donald Kennedy was not going to know what hit him.



Chapter 14


Tom One touched down on the school’s runway just after midnight local time and the four transferred to a waiting golf cart, the only method of transport on the school’s island.
The cart dropped Tom and Lela off at their accommodation block before continuing on to the Special Forces base where Kano and Kisho had been given accommodation.
The Special Forces base was located at one end of the island and housed over 200 Special Forces soldiers from around the world. The location of the base was a well-kept secret and served as an excellent training ground for those specialist soldiers. They also offered unique and overwhelming protection to the island’s main inhabitants, the children of the world’s elite.
The base however was not the only protection afforded to the students. The island also stood within the shadow of a fully operational NATO base which lay a mere 75 miles away and housed the Air Force, the Navy and the Marines. There was no doubt that The Academy was in the most highly protected area in the world.
The Academy in itself was spectacular, no expense had been spared creating the world’s most elite school. The grounds were perfectly manicured, the beaches were spectacular, white sand lapped by the crystal clear waters of the Indian Ocean. The facilities were second to none, Olympic sized pools, golf course, tennis courts, sports stadiums and a Marina stocked with every conceivable type of boat.
The classrooms were full of the latest technology. Desks were replaced by notepads which recognised students by their fingerprints and allowed them to log on with one touch. Their virtual desktop opened up a fully computerised curriculum and coursework. The Academy was the first truly paperless environment.
For entertainment, the students could choose between cinemas, ten pin bowling, ice skating or playing about in a recording studio, amongst many other activities. Everything had been thought of and if it hadn’t, it was added. Following feedback from the previous year, a new skate park had been added, modelled on the famous Marseille skate park.
The quality of accommodation and food was such that many students whose parents were amongst the richest in the world, actually complained that it was all much better than at home.
When it came to protecting Tom and Lela, following the events of the previous year, Mr Sakamoto had offered to shuffle students around to enable Kisho and Kano to live in the same block as Tom and Lela. However, everyone had agreed that this would alienate them from the other students and in any event, new procedures were in place to prevent an impostor from assuming another student’s identity and infiltrating the premises. On arrival, students’ identities were checked using DNA samples from their parents. Initially, this led to some embarrassing discoveries about the parentage of a number of students when the mothers’ DNA matched but the fathers’ didn’t. In one instance, the mother’s DNA and father’s DNA matched but unfortunately it was not the right father, it was another student’s father. Mr Sakamoto had spent a sleepless night before calling a Special Governors’ Meeting, special in that only governors with no children at the school were invited. The special session had lasted most of the day before reaching the decision that it was not up to the school to destroy families. A very relieved Mr Sakamoto went back to work, the DNA tests were immediately changed and only a maternal match would be required. The offending results were destroyed and forgotten forever.
Tom and Lela entered their empty block. As in the previous year, they were the first to arrive. Tom wasted no time. On entering his room, he switched on the TV to catch up on developments in Equatorial Guinea. He managed to navigate through the TV menu, it was new and like most of the gadgets in his room appeared to have been upgraded. The Play Station and the XBOX had definitely been upgraded, even though the ones they had had the previous year were not in the shops yet. He looked forward to having
a go on them later. He finally found CNN.
“They think up to 2,500 people may have died,” he shouted through to Lela’s room, next door to his. Lela joined him a minute later dressed in her pyjamas and jumped on the end of his bed.
“It’s dreadful. And to think your dad watched it happen. Have they identified what it was? Was it really a meteor?”
“They haven’t mentioned what it was. But there were definitely some dodgy explosives involved but they won’t know until they sift through the debris. I’ll give my dad a call and see if he knows any more.”
As Tom made the call, Lela continued to watch the TV. An explosives forensics team from the UK were due to arrive and would be joined shortly afterwards by specialists from the ATF, the Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms agency from the US. Both teams were recognised as the best in the world and had been requested by the Guinean President to find the reason behind the most tragic disaster to have befallen his country. Both the UK and the US had responded promptly and had their teams in the air within the hour.
“What did he say?” asked Lela as Tom hung up the phone.
“He tried to call the Guineans to tell them about the meteor but can’t get through. He’s going to phone CNN Africa instead. He reckons they should be able to pass on the information.”
“I can’t believe a meteor could do so much damage,” said Lela.
“I know, it’s unbelievable.”
“I’m sorry Tom, I can’t watch anymore, it’s too upsetting. I’m going to bed, goodnight, see you tomorrow,” she said as she disappeared to her room.
“Goodnight,” replied Tom as his door swung closed.



Chapter 15


Beaumont watched the scenes unfold on his giant plasma screen. CNN were reporting a 100 % fatality rate. His best estimations had predicted a 40 % fatality rate, nobody had predicted that the whole town would just cease to exist, killing everybody.
He had cracked open a bottle of champagne and was in the process of toasting himself when the phone rang.
“Hello?” he answered.
“We may have a problem,” said Smith.
“What, we hit the target and everybody’s dead, what’s the problem?”
“There’s a witness,” replied Smith coldly.
“A What??!!” choked Beaumont. “What do you mean there’s a witness?”
“Exactly what I just said. Somebody saw the explosion,” replied Smith, tension building in his voice.
“Jesus man, I’m sure thousands of people saw the explosion, it was huge,” said Beaumont beginning to relax and thinking this guy would have to go, what a panic merchant.
“No, they witnessed the missile flying down the shaft, only they thought it was a meteor or something,” explained Smith.
“Impossible! It’s a stealth missile, you can’t see it,” replied Beaumont.
“If you had read the specs properly, you would have noticed that the reason the weapon is still experimental is that they solved every problem except for the glow of the missile on its way back to earth.”
“Damn, I missed that bit.” Beaumont thought for a second. “Who’s the witness? Some goat farmer or something?” He began to see a way to cover their tracks.
“I don’t know, I just heard it third-hand but they say they couldn’t have hoped for a better source. It’s going to break soon, they’re finalising the editing on the piece.”
“Oh God,” said Beaumont as he paused for thought. There was only one thing he could do. “I’ll call you back.”
He hung up on Smith and hit Speed Dial Button 1. The phone dialled the anonymous number and it began to ring.
“Hello, what’s wrong?” answered The Chairman.
“We may have a problem you should be aware of,” replied Beaumont.
“What is it?”
“Our Africa operation has begun and has exceeded our expectations. However, it appears we may need to kill a story. Do you have contacts at CNN?”
The laughter at the end of the phone told Beaumont all he needed to know, it had been a silly question, The Chairman had contacts everywhere.
“What do you need quashed?”
“CNN Africa have a witness and are about to run the story.”
“OK, give me a minute.”
Beaumont waited as The Chairman made his call. After two minutes, he came back to the phone.
“Done, dead and buried. But I can tell you it’s going to cost me. They had one of their biggest stories of the year. It would have wiped the floor with other press agencies.”
“What, a witness to an explosion in the back of beyond in Africa? I think perhaps they were sensationalising just a touch.”
“Not just any witness,” explained The Chairman. “Donald Kennedy himself!”
Beaumont’s brain computed this information and before he knew what he was saying, he blurted out.
“Call them back quickly, get them to run the story, this is brilliant!”
“What the hell are you saying Beaumont! Pull yourself together, do you want this story quashed or not?”
“Not!!!” he almost screamed.
“Fine, consider it done.” The Chairman hung up.
Five minutes later, a breaking news story interrupted the evening news. Donald Kennedy’s face filled the screen as his photo accompanied his voice speaking to a reporter and relaying his account of the strange object falling to earth.
Beaumont raised his glass and toasted himself again. The operation could not have gone any better.



Chapter 16


Tom woke up with the TV still on. He had missed the breaking news story the night before but he couldn’t fail to miss his father’s report when he woke up. Every news channel in the world was playing and replaying his father’s VT. The images on the screen also showed the specialists from the UK and the US sifting through the debris. The speed at which they had been deployed was truly remarkable and was heralded as a triumph of global unity.
When the story began to repeat, Tom’s attention turned to the stream of planes landing on The Academy’s runway. At the beginning and end of each term, the small island became the busiest airport in the world, not that any records would ever show it. The school remained a closely guarded secret.
Lela knocked on Tom’s door.
“Are you awake?” she asked.
“Yep, come in,” he replied.
She opened the door and walked in.
“Come on, hurry up. The planes have started landing and the first carts are heading down the road.”
“OK, OK. Have you seen the news?” asked Tom pointing at the TV.
“Yes, it’s terrible, they’ve still not found any survivors.”
Tom had meant Donald’s piece but thought better of saying that was what he meant. “I know,” was all he could think to say in agreement.
“Well come on, get ready,” instructed Lela as she headed downstairs.
Five minutes later, Tom was showered, dressed and on his way downstairs to catch up with Lela, arriving just as the first cart pulled up to their block. Tom and Lela strained to see who it was.
“It’s Chen!” exclaimed Lela.
“The real one I hope,” joked Tom who received a playful punch from Lela. Chen had been held captive at the start of the previous year while an impostor had taken his place. Once freed and allowed to take his rightful place at school, he had soon become close friends with Tom and Lela. Lela also enjoyed the fact that Chen was a martial arts student and although not in her league, he was a useful sparring partner. He, on the other hand, had been known to complain that she made him feel like a complete novice and not the 5 Dan Black Belt expert that he really was.
Before they had a chance to say a proper hello to Chen, other carts began to arrive and discharge their passengers. Within half an hour, the old friends were reunited and it was almost as though they had never left.
“So what do you guys want to do today?” asked Tom.
“Sleep,” was the unilateral answer. Only he and Lela had had a decent night’s sleep and before they knew it, they were left standing on their own as all their friends had gone to unpack and get some sleep.
“What shall we do?” asked Tom.
“A bit of newbie spotting at breakfast?” suggested Lela.
“Sounds good to me,” replied Tom.
The pair walked towards the restaurant which was already buzzing. Students were arriving in droves and would continue to do so for the next 36 hours. They selected their food and picked a table which offered them the best vantage point for people watching.
Within five minutes, the happy, almost party atmosphere was shattered when the restaurant doors flew open and the queue was barged into by a gang of thugs. Tom and Lela recognised the leader instantly. They also noticed that his entourage had grown, a number of oriental students having joined his gang.
“What the hell is he doing here?” asked Tom, referring to the hulking lump of oxygen waster, Yuri.
“God knows but do you know what that means?” asked Lela.
“Yep, trouble and plenty of it,” replied Tom, remembering his dunking from the previous year. Yuri was the older step-brother of their good friend Oleg. He had been expelled the year before for attacking Tom, Chen’s impersonator and Oleg.
Lela looked at Tom with a glint in her eye and rubbed her hands together.
“No, not trouble,” she said. “Practice and plenty of it,” she added, eyeing up her new sparring partners.



Chapter 17


Smith was back at the Guinean President’s side in order to be aware of all developments as they unfolded. The rescue operation had swung into full force with incredible efficiency. Of course, it always helped to know where a disaster was going to strike and it was no coincidence that a full battalion of US army engineers were on a training exercise less than 10 miles from the scene. Within two hours of the explosion, their enormous ground-moving machines were in place and helping the relief effort aided by the Guinean army who ‘just happened’ to have been part of the US training exercise.
The forensic experts from the UK and the US had arrived during the night and had begun the task of investigating the cause of the massive explosion. With the revelations of a possible meteor strike, NASA had also dispatched a team of experts to investigate the scene.
Smith had just heard that the lead scientist of the NASA team was on his way to update the Guinean President on his preliminary findings. Nobody yet knew what the findings were and Smith had issued orders to rush the scientist to them as soon as he arrived.
Smith and the Guinean President heard the helicopter land in the courtyard below them and less than thirty seconds later, a man dressed in forensic whites was ushered into the room.
“Good morning Doctor,” said Smith.
“Good morning and it’s Professor actually,” replied the NASA scientist.
“Good morning Professor, what’s the news?” demanded the Guinean President.
“All I can tell you just now is that the explosion was not caused by anything which originated from outside our planet. That is, no meteor struck the site.”
“You can say this categorically?” asked Smith.
“Without a shadow of a doubt. We have scanned the entire area, taken samples from the centre of the explosion, examined satellite scans and imagery and absolutely nothing indicates the existence of extra terrestrial material near the area, which means there was no meteorite.”
“Did you find anything that you believe may have caused it?” asked the Guinean President.
“That, Sir, is a question I cannot answer. My expertise is meteorites, not explosives. I’m afraid you’ll have to wait for the explosives experts, there is nothing further NASA can offer.”
“Thank you again for your prompt response and assistance.”
“Not at all Mr President, the President of the USA is very keen to assist in any way he can. We were contacted before we’d even heard about Mr Kennedy’s sighting.”
“Thank you again Professor and please pass on my sincere gratitude to your team.”
“Thank you Mr President and goodbye.”
As the professor made his way back to the disaster site and his team, Smith excused himself and called Beaumont.
“Hello,” answered Beaumont instantly.
“Hi. NASA have just given us an update. They’ve found no evidence of any meteorite at the site.”
“Hmm, looks like our Mr Kennedy may face some interesting questions,” sniggered Beaumont more to himself than to Smith.
“Anything else?” he asked on a more serious note.
“Not yet. But things are moving quickly, we’re probably a couple of hours ahead of schedule. My guys have confirmed that samples of explosive residue have already been recovered and it’ll be a matter of hours for the test results to be confirmed. After that, things should move very quickly.”
“Excellent. Keep me up to date.”
Beaumont ended the call and checked the time, it was only 3.00 a.m. Things were moving very quickly. In fact, perhaps a little too quickly. If anybody looked too closely at response times, they might realise that things were just a little too neat. The exercise involving both the US Army Engineers and the Equatorial Guinean Army had been arranged with a little less notice than would be expected. In fact, it was unprecedented how quickly it had been arranged, to the extent that the unit had been airlifted rather than shipped. This had caused chaos with transport planes of food and ammunition scheduled for front line troops and had resulted in critical shortages. Questions had been asked but fortunately Beaumont had been able to quash them before they were escalated to the Joint Chiefs Office. The Joint Chiefs Office was Beaumont’s only weak spot. It was headed up by a General Powers, whose formal title was the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. He was the boss of all the US armed services, squeaky clean and completely incorruptible and unfortunately for Beaumont, the most respected man to have held the position.
He simply had to go. And very, very soon. He had been timetabled to be taken care of the following month but Beaumont now decided that he could not afford to wait, the schedule would have to change.
Beaumont fired up his laptop and accessed the emergency contact list for the government’s key personnel. The list was continually updated and recorded the exact whereabouts of the Government’s top 200 staff. Selecting the ‘Armed Forces’ tag, a list of names appeared, headed by General Powers. Beaumont double clicked on the General’s name and waited for his diary to appear.
As he waited, he wondered how they would do it. General Powers was not going to be the easiest target, a battle hardened war hero with an incredibly loyal team of bodyguards. Beaumont was going to have to use his very best men. As the page came up, Beaumont smiled. This was a very good day, General Powers was at a conference in South Africa and Beaumont had his very best men not far away.
He dialled the number and the phone answered.
“Jones speaking,” answered the man.
“Hi, it’s me, I’ve got a job for you.”
“What?”
Beaumont explained what needed to be done.
“Not a problem, we can be there in less than four hours.”
“Good, call me when it’s done.”
They ended the call. Jones was Beaumont’s man in the Committee’s army and he and his team had carried out the majority of the assassinations over the previous year. The Committee’s army had four Commanders, Smith, Jones, Johnson and Williams. Whoever had attributed their pseudonyms had not spent long, they were the four most common names in America.
Smith was the most senior of the four Commanders and normally reported directly to The Chairman of the Committee. He made Beaumont nervous. Although Beaumont had appreciated The Chairman seconding his best team to him, he felt he could never fully trust Smith. In addition, Smith was perhaps a little too honourable and Beaumont was unsure as to whether he would have accepted the mission to assassinate General Powers.
Jones, on the other hand, was just happy to be busy. He was disappointed not to have been involved in the Equatorial Guinea mission. However, Beaumont had pacified him by explaining that he needed him available to handle other missions. As back up to Smith, Beaumont had stationed Jones in nearby Congo with a team of men. It seemed that his prudence was about to pay off. The only man with the power to ask too many questions would be dead before the week-end was over.



Chapter 18


Tom looked at Lela warily.
“What the hell do you mean practice?”
Lela didn’t answer, she just stood up and walked towards Yuri. Tom didn’t know what to do, should he follow? He couldn’t just let Lela walk over to them alone. But then what could he do? He’d probably get in her way. But then he didn’t want to look like a coward, so he got up and followed her anyway.
“What are you doing?” he whispered in her ear as he caught up with her.
“Don’t worry, I’m just going to have some fun.”
The twinkle in her eye had turned rather wicked.
“Oh God,” said Tom, he knew that look.
“Just stay behind me, out of my way, OK,” said Lela. Her fun tone disappeared as she saw Yuri push a new first year to the ground because he had dared to be in front of him in the queue.
Tom dropped back a step and then fell back another step for good measure as he noticed Lela’s demeanour change again.
Lela approached Yuri who was still blissfully unaware of her presence. Lela stopped when she reached the First Year student on the floor behind Yuri and helped him up. Tom could not help but notice how small Lela looked in comparison to the first year let alone Yuri who towered over them both. Lela was very small or as his mother said, petite.
Lela checked round to see where Tom was. He knew what was coming and took a third step back.
Lela was right behind Yuri who was too busy piling his plate with food to notice her. She took a step to her left, tipped her right shoulder down and barged into Yuri, her shoulder crashing into his back as she stepped forward. Yuri’s plate fell, emptying its contents down his front and an audible wince could be heard as he stifled a scream.
Silence fell across the restaurant. Yuri had not moved, baked beans were dripping from his hoody, some had even managed to get into his pocket. His trousers were soaking wet.
“Oh, sorry about that,” said Lela.
On hearing her voice, a disorientated Yuri realised what had happened to him. He spun around.
“What the hell…” He dropped his gaze to see who had done this to him and saw two huge brown eyes staring up at him. He knew those eyes very well.
“Oh hi Yuri, I didn’t see you there, sorreee, ” she said, changing her tone from cute to very ugly.
The last time they had met, Lela had got the better of him but things were going to be very different this year.
“What do you think you’re doing?” said Yuri moving closer to Lela who didn’t flinch. “Your fancy moves don’t impress me anymore,” he added.
From the corner of her eye, Lela was monitoring the movements of his new gang members. As Yuri moved closer to her, she noted the oriental ones were well trained, their eyes moved well and their posture was good. She might even get some decent practice this year. She turned her attention back to Yuri, having not even bothered to register what he had said, although she had sensed every movement of his body.
She curled her nose up as Yuri got closer.
“Euoouh, what is that smell? Yuri you really should get that potty training sorted or wear the nappies, the toilets are over there,” she shouted across the restaurant pointing to the toilets.
Yuri couldn’t help but look down at himself. He had felt the wetness but only now did he realise it was his own. He had wet himself after Lela bumped into him. He hadn’t even felt it. He just stood in the middle of the restaurant looking at his own mess while everybody watched him. A laugh started at the back of the restaurant and soon the place was filled with it. Yuri did not even look up, he just ran out of the restaurant with his head down, his face bright red. His gang following closely behind but were careful not to get too close.
“You’re nasty,” said Tom to Lela.
“He deserved it, the big bully,” replied Lela although she did feel a little guilty. Her behaviour was no better than Yuri’s really. However, the rest of the students didn’t feel that way and gave her a round of applause.
“How did you do that?” asked Tom, who was always fascinated to know more about Lela’s special skills.
“It’s quite simple actually, if you hit the lower back in just the right place, it relaxes the bladder and whoosh,” she replied nonchalantly. She underplayed her scientific knowledge of the body, even the best trained doctors could not have done what she did. The only other people who could do these ‘simple things’ were the islanders.
“I was surprised you were so public back there, you don’t normally let people see your moves,” said Tom as he realised the implications of what had just happened.
“What are you talking about? I just bumped into him. That’s all anybody would have seen,” replied a smug Lela.
“Hmmm, anyway, come on, we need to speak to Oleg. He never mentioned anything about Yuri coming back,” said Tom, leading the way back to their block.
It took them two minutes of hard knocking to wake up Oleg despite the complaints from his neighbours.
The door opened and a very drowsy Oleg stood in front of them.
“What’s wrong?” he asked rubbing his eyes and yawning.
“We want to know what the hell Yuri is doing back here?” responded Tom.
Oleg woke up immediately and looked behind them. “Where?” he said panicking.
“Well, that clears up that point,” said Tom to Lela. “He obviously doesn’t know, that’s why he didn’t tell us.”
Oleg became very agitated at the mention of his step-brother’s name. Lela took him over to the bed and sat him down.
“He’s here, back at The Academy?” he asked, incredulous.
“’Fraid so,” replied Tom. “But there’s no need to worry, Lela’s already declared war on him and his gang, so we’ve got that out of the way nice and early.”
Oleg looked at Lela as if she were crazy.
“You’ve what?”
“He’s just being over dramatic, don’t worry about it,” comforted Lela.
Tom proceeded to describe every gory detail of what had occurred in the restaurant.
A smile crept across Oleg’s face.
“Really?” he asked.
Lela nodded while Tom pulled out his mobile phone and showed Oleg the pictures he had taken of Yuri’s most embarrassing moment.
“Let me call my dad and see if he knows why he’s here,” said Oleg picking up his phone.
Tom and Lela listened as Oleg talked to his dad, waiting for him to finish and translate. The call ended and Oleg filled them in.
“It appears that after my dad threw Yuri’s mother out of the house, she became friendly with a fairly low level Minister in my country’s government. Unfortunately, it’s the same one who very surprisingly and recently became the new Russian President. They were married during the summer. It appears Yuri has a very powerful new step-father. My father is calling Mr Sakamoto now, he’ll call me back soon.”
All three sat in silence as they waited for the call from Oleg’s father. They all privately hoped that some clerical mistake had been made. Yuri had been expelled under a different name, perhaps the school had failed to make the connection. The phone rang and despite the language barrier, Lela and Tom knew it was not good news. Oleg ended the call and translated.
“It’s no mistake, they know exactly who he is. The pressure placed on Mr Sakamoto to accept him back was overwhelming. In fact, he offered to resign over it and they would have accepted it. He only stayed because he had a duty to the rest of the students. He told my dad that things are very strange just now with all the assassinations and God knows who would have replaced him. The new Chairman of School Governors is apparently very friendly with a lot of the new leaders. My dad thinks he was insinuating something but he doesn’t know what.”
“So we’re stuck with Yuri?” asked Tom.
“It seems so and he could well be untouchable.”
“It was so good of you to go out of your way to say hi to Yuri today,” said Tom sarcastically to Lela.
Lela smiled back weakly. She was going to have to be careful. She could handle Yuri and his gang but her friends couldn’t.



Chapter 19


It had been a hectic and depressing day. Donald had spent the day visiting villages and aid centres with Rachel and Saki. Child mortality was high and education pretty non-existent. Donald, a well grounded man, was deeply humbled and thanked God for what they had. He was moved by the degree of poverty and suffering he had seen and promised Rachel to do all in his power to help.
“Donald, this is nothing. This is as good as it gets. These people receive funding.”
“What? These people don’t need help?” he asked, bewildered.
“Yes but they’re way down on the list. What you’re going to see this week will make this look like a first world country.”
Donald was speechless. From what he had already seen, he did not know whether he was up to seeing anything worse. In the meantime, they made their way back to the capital, Libreville.
The evening was to be spent as guests of the Gabonese President and no doubt a number of high powered local businessmen keen to meet him. He would have more than happily headed straight back to Alba One and gone home. Instead, they got in to the army car sent by the Gabonese President and began their short journey to the palace.
As they neared the extravagant presidential residence, Donald noticed satellite dishes and bright lights which signified the media were in attendance. He began to think something was amiss as they drew closer, he expected perhaps two or three of the local media to attend but not the world’s press. Media trucks from every major news broadcaster were lined up outside the gates to the palace.



Chapter 20


The rest of the day had passed uneventfully. Tom, Lela and their friends had kept a relatively low profile. Most of the day was spent showing their friends around Tom One. They had all decided against going to the restaurant for dinner and had instead decided to order in some pizzas. Before they knew what was happening, an impromptu party had broken out and all twenty four students in their block had piled into Lela’s room.
Zach, having been quiet all day, seemed to have perked up.
“Hey Zach, you’re looking a bit happier?” asked Tom trying to find out what had been wrong with him.
“Yeah sorry about earlier. I’ve hardly seen my dad all summer but he just called. His conference finished early and he’s going to pay me a visit tomorrow,” he replied smiling.
“Cool, a visit from the big boss General Powers himself. I’m sure the Special Forces base will be manically preparing for his arrival,” suggested Tom laughing.
“Doubt it, they don’t know he’s coming, nobody does apart from me and you, now.”
“Tom?” interrupted Lela.
“Yeah?” he said turning towards her and, seeing her face, said, “What’s wrong? What’s happened?”
“I think you should come and see the news,” she replied.
Tom walked over to the TV which was now surrounded by his friends who let him through to see the screen. The picture on the screen was a picture of the Presidential Palace in Gabon where his father was due to have dinner. The breaking news banner read: ‘Alba International linked to mine explosion.” The banner then changed to a more damning headline: ‘Kennedy’s false meteor statement was part of elaborate cover-up.’
“What the hell’s going on?” Tom looked at Lela who just shrugged her shoulders, she had no idea. His phone buzzed in his pocket.
“Hello,” he answered.
“Hi, it’s me, are you OK?” asked Saki.
“I’m fine but what about Dad?” he asked. “Can I speak to him?”
“He’ll call you soon. We just heard this nonsense ourselves, he’s on the phone to his Head of Legal. He asked me to call you to assure you it’s all rubbish.”
“It didn’t cross my mind that it was anything else,” he replied indignantly.
“I know Tom, don’t worry, we’ll get it sorted. Is Lela there? Can I have a quick word?”
“Yes of course,” he said handing the phone to Lela.
As Lela received the same reassurances from Saki, Tom explained to his friends what Saki had said.
“They’ve messed with the wrong people, your dad’s legal guys will have the press on their knees for this,” replied Tristan, the son of the UK Prime Minister and one of Tom’s closest friends.
“But they know that, why would they be so stupid as to go up against my dad?” asked Tom. He could not help think about the strange goings on over the previous few weeks.
“Hey come on, don’t be silly,” Zach slapped him on the back. “If your dad’s lawyers don’t get them, I’ll get my dad to bomb them to hell and back!”
Despite their best efforts, their friends could not lift their spirits and the party ended with everybody leaving before 10.00 p.m..
Tom phoned Kisho and Kano. He had to let them know what was happening.

Saki ended the call with Lela and looked around at Donald who was still on the phone to the lawyers. He could tell by Donald’s body language that the call wasn’t going well. It sounded as though whatever evidence they had against Donald was going to be difficult to refute. As they approached the palace the media circus drew closer and closer, cameramen and reporters vying for the best position.
Donald and Saki had known something was going to happen to them but had not anticipated being framed for mass murder. Saki took another look at the frenzied mass of press ahead of them and realised they could not possibly stay.
“Turn round, take us straight to the airport,” he barked at the soldier driving them.
“Sir I’m afraid I cannot do that, you have an appointment with the President,” he replied.
Saki asked again but the driver was insistent that they could not possibly turn around, he had his orders. Saki pulled the handbrake on and forced the car to a stop.
“What the hell are you doing Saki?” asked Rachel.
“Getting us the hell out of here!” he replied.
The driver did not take kindly to Saki’s interference with his driving and made for his pistol. Saki, having anticipated the soldier’s moves, had already removed the pistol from his belt. As the soldier’s hand fell on his empty holster, he looked up to find a smiling Saki holding his gun.
“Airport please,” asked Saki as if nothing had happened.
“Of course Sir,” replied the soldier.
Their trip to Africa was over.



Chapter 21


Tom was woken up by his phone ringing. Who was calling him at 3 o’clock in the morning?
“Hello?”
“Hi, Tom it’s me,” said Donald.
“Hi Dad, what’s up?” said Tom who was still only half awake.
“It’s just a quick call to let you know we’re heading back to Glasgow. We decided to postpone the rest of the trip with everything else that’s happening. We should be home by lunchtime your time. I’ll talk to you then properly but please don’t worry, everything will be fine, OK?”
“OK, love you Dad.”
“Love you too son, now get back to sleep.”

Alba One thundered down the runway as the Captain was, in his own words, “getting them the hell out of Dodge.” The engines screamed as they lifted the huge plane off the ground and up into the night sky. The captain wasted no time and immediately began to bank the plane round to the right to take them on a northerly course straight home.
Donald had spared no expense on any portion of the plane, including the engines, opting for more powerful ones which had been developed for the slightly longer and significantly heavier cargo version of the A380. It meant that Alba One exceeded every specification for a plane of its type. She accelerated faster, could take off and land on a shorter runway and could, most importantly, fly almost as fast as the speed of sound. Jim, the Captain, swore she was faster than a Citation X, currently the record holder for civilian aircraft, but nobody believed him. He would prove it that night. His orders were to get them home as fast as the plane could get them there. He threw the throttles forward and the plane lurched ever higher and faster, thundering through the 3800 miles home. The journey would usually take over seven hours but he planned to do it in six.
Donald, Rachel and Saki released their seat-belts after a fairly terrifying take off. Jim was certainly taking Donald to his word. Donald could have sworn the turn on to the runway was done on half the wheels. The whine from the engines was intense, Donald had never even heard the engines before.
Nobody had said anything since they left Gabon other than what Donald had said to Tom. They were all physically and mentally exhausted.

“Sir, you were right, we just picked them up.”
Smith had received a phone call earlier that evening from Beaumont who suggested they keep a very close eye on the radar that night. He believed the Kennedys may have a sudden change of plan. Smith began to think the guy had a crystal ball as the number corresponding to Alba One’s transponder blinked on his screen.
“They’re really shifting. That guy is not hanging around,” said the radar operator.
Smith picked up the mic and pressed the transmit button.
“Guys, they’ll be over our airspace in 10 minutes. You know what you need to do. Don’t let me down.”
“Yes Sir,” came the response over the radio.

The two Mig-29s turned around and activated their afterburners. They had been circling slowly over the sea to conserve fuel. The fighter jets reacted immediately to the acceleration and pushed through the sound barrier with ease, quickly reaching their maximum speed of just over Mach 2.
They would be in position long before Alba One entered their airspace.

Donald had just got into his bed when the phone buzzed next to him. What now, he thought. It was a seven hour flight home and he was looking forward to sleeping for every last second of it.
“Hello?” he answered.
“Mr Kennedy, sorry to disturb you but I really think you need to come up to the cockpit.” Jim sounded very distressed.
“Is everything OK?” Donald was instantly worried.
Before Jim could answer, loud cracks could be heard outside the plane.
“Jim, what the hell is going on?” demanded Donald.
“Just get up here and quick.” Jim hung up.
Donald dropped the phone and ran to the cockpit.

“Alba One, come in Alba One.” The Mig pilot tried to make contact with Alba One.
Jim could see the pilot, he was flying alongside Alba One. He was ignoring the call. He then noticed another Mig 29 along the other side of Alba One but only for a second. It dropped back, out of sight and then suddenly fired 20 rounds from its 30mm cannon.

Donald rushed into the cockpit. He didn’t need to ask Jim what was wrong. The first thing he noticed was the large fighter sitting alongside as though attached to them on the right. Saki appeared right behind him.
Jim spoke as they entered.
“There are two of them, the one on the left just dropped back and fired some warning shots because I was refusing to respond.”
“What the hell do they want!?” Donald knew this was not good and had expected many things but not this.
“No idea.”
“Alba One, if you fail to respond, the next shots will not miss.”
Donald nodded to Jim to respond.
“This is Alba One, how can we help you?”
“Alba One, you are currently flying over Equatorial Guinea airspace and you have on board a criminal by the name of Donald Kennedy, please follow us to our airfield where you can land.”
“Criminal, Donald Kennedy?” Jim blurted, “I’ve never heard anything so ridiculous, who are you?”
“We are the Equatorial Guinea Air Force and you Sir are under arrest. We have orders to shoot you down if you attempt to flee our jurisdiction.”
“But we’re over international waters?”
“We can debate that on the ground. You can either come with us the easy way or you’ll come down the hard way.” The tone of the Mig pilot’s voice left no room for doubt, he would shoot them down.
“Saki?” Donald asked.
“Not my area. Jim?” responded Saki.
Jim was a former RAF fighter pilot.
“I don’t think we have any option, they are serious and there’s nothing we can do. Just one round from that cannon would rip through us like a hot knife through butter. Never mind the missiles.”
“OK, start following him, I’ll phone the lawyers,” responded Donald, heading back to the bedroom to break the news to Rachel.
“Where do you want us to go?” responded Jim to the Mig.
“A very good choice Captain, follow my colleague.” The other Mig zipped in front of the A380 and began to steer them on a course which would take them to Malabo, the capital of Equatorial Guinea.



Chapter 22


Jones’ plane touched down and he instantly sensed a problem. Across the runway stood the US Airforce C4 °C jet, a modified Boeing 737–700 jet used by government dignitaries. However, instead of standing on its own, awaiting an afternoon departure, it was surrounded by technicians and crew. It was preparing for a much earlier departure.
He had been instructed that no foul play was to be suspected in the death of General Powers. They could not afford to raise any suspicion. It had to look like an accident and to Jones, there was no easier way to cover an assassination than a plane crash. He had a bag of tricks that would ensure the plane and its passengers would never reach their destination.
As their plane taxied to a stop, he and his men discussed what needed to be done. One man changed into maintenance overalls as they refined their plan. To cover their tracks properly, they needed at least an hour with the plane to ensure that the ‘accident’ looked like an accident. With the US air crew all over it, they had no choice but to delay the take off long enough for the crew to take a break and leave the airfield.
They disembarked and as his ‘maintenance man’ went to arrange a lengthy delay, Jones made a call.
“That was quick,” answered Beaumont.
“It’s not done yet, there appears to have been a change of plan. The plane was being readied for take off as we landed.”
“But he’s not due to leave for hours yet,” said Beaumont looking at his laptop. He pulled up General Powers’ itinerary and noted that no changes had been made. He was still scheduled to leave at 3.00 p.m. South African time, over 9 hours later.
“Are you sure?” he asked
“Definitely. That plane was going to leave within the next hour. He must have finished early.”
“Maybe,” but Beaumont didn’t like it, the whereabouts of General Powers was a national security issue. Any change to his itinerary should be communicated to the White House.

General Powers had just got into his car for the short trip to the airport when his aide tapped him on the shoulder.
“General Powers, your pilot has just called. There’s a problem with the aircraft, I’m sorry Sir.”
“No! Please, not today! I’m going to see my son,” he replied.
“I know Sir but it’s not good, he says it’s going to be quite a few hours.”
“He’s positive?”
“Yes, Sir.”
“Any other way we can get to the island?” he asked hopefully.
“I looked into it Sir but we have no other aircraft nearby, certainly not close enough to be cost effective.”
His aide felt awkward about subtly reminding him that the trip to see his son was not within his government duty and therefore not strictly allowed. It was only through the loyalty and respect that his flight crew and staff had for him that the ‘slight’ detour on the way home was at all feasible
“OK, pass me the phone and I’ll call Zach.”

Jones’ maintenance man slipped under the aircraft unnoticed and was able to cause enough damage to the undercarriage to ensure a specialist would be required to fix it. He then got up, walked nonchalantly past the plane and as he did so, he stopped and stared at the wheels. Before long, two members of the USAF crew came to see what he was looking at. They spotted the tell tale oil drops leaking from the undercarriage.
A closer inspection resulted in the plane being rolled back into the hangar where work to repair the burst hydraulic system would begin. One of the technicians swore blind that he had checked it thoroughly and that it had been fine. A simple ‘does it look fine to you now?’ response silenced him. The hydraulic specialist confirmed that it would be a five hour job. The USAF pilot stood his crew down and they all went to get some rest, it was going to be a very long day.
Jones and his men, dressed as maintenance staff, joined the hydraulic specialist and got to work.



Chapter 23


Donald had not slept all night, he could not believe what had happened.
On arrival at the Guinean airport, they were met by over 100 heavily armed troops. He, Rachel and Saki were arrested and taken into custody. They were each listed as a Director of Alba International and, as such, were charged with the corporate manslaughter of over 2,500 Guineans. Donald had protested that Rachel and Saki’s directorships were nominal and non-executive but his protests were ignored and they were taken to the only high security prison in Guinea. The prison housed some of the hardest and toughest criminals in Africa.
Donald had to restrain Saki who wanted to react to one of the guards who had pushed Rachel much harder than was necessary. They were surrounded by guards with guns, even Saki could not get them out of this one.
They were taken to a special unit within the prison. Donald and Saki were put in one cell while Rachel was in the cell next to them on her own.
Just before they had landed, Donald had managed to phone his lawyer who wasted no time in making calls to clear up the enormous misunderstanding. However, in less than ten minutes, he discovered that his efforts were futile. He got the same response from everywhere. A dossier had been delivered, within the hour, to each of the major heads of state, detailing the evidence which implicated Alba International and Donald Kennedy in the atrocities committed against the Guinean people. The Guineans had declared their intention to use all means necessary to bring the fugitive to justice.
The lawyer had called Donald back and broken the news, explaining that a copy of the dossier was being sent to him from the UK Prime Minister and as soon as he had it, he would call him back. Donald knew it would be too late. They landed five minutes later and were arrested five minutes after that.
They were therefore still in the dark about the evidence which implicated them and Alba in an explosion in the middle of nowhere in a tiny town which until 48 hours earlier, they had never heard of.
“We should have phoned the kids,” said Saki annoyed at himself.
Donald snapped out of his daze.
“I know, they’re going to find out from the media. It’s my fault, I didn’t think for a second they would lock us up.”
“No, you were right, phoning them in the middle of the night to tell them we were being forced to land by two fighter jets whose country believes we killed 2,500 people was probably not the right option. If I had strongly disagreed, I would have phoned Lela anyway,” replied Saki.
Before Donald could say anymore, they heard the scrape of a key being inserted into the lock of their door. The heavy steel door swung open and a huge prison guard in an ill-fitting uniform, bordering on rags, grinned wildly at them. He was a very different breed from the professional soldiers who had arrested them the previous evening.
“Exercise time,” he boomed.
“We’re fine thanks, we’ll just stay here if you don’t mind,” said Saki.
Two other guards stepped forward, slapping truncheons into their open palms, itching for an excuse to use them.
“It’s not optional, move!” shouted the huge guard.
As they stepped out of their cell, they were met by Rachel who was accompanied by their huge guard’s uglier and even smellier brother. They were escorted down a number of staircases and shown through a gate which slammed shut behind them. They stood alone in a large and empty courtyard. The guards locked the gate and disappeared. The prison was filthy and ill-maintained. Its walls were crumbling and the courtyard’s grass was overgrown. Pipes were burst and spewed brown liquid into one corner of the courtyard, the pungent smell suggesting the liquid was an out-pipe, not an in-pipe.
Rachel hugged Donald. “What’s going to happen now?” she asked.
“I don’t know. I think they’re just trying to scare us.”
“Well it’s working,” she replied.
“They haven’t even started yet,” said Saki pointing to a large set of gates.
“Look, the rest of the prisoners are coming our way.”
The gates opened and the courtyard filled with prisoners in seconds. The stench of sweat and human filth made them choke as it contaminated every cubic inch of air. The noise too was intense as the buzz in the courtyard focussed on the new prisoners. In particular, the very attractive white woman. It had been a very long time since these men had seen a woman.
Saki stepped in front of Donald and Rachel and was doing his best to shield them from what must have been 200 prisoners. They stayed in the corner of the courtyard nearest the gate, in the vain hope that the error would soon come to light and the gate would open to release them. However, the gate remained firmly shut and no guards were visible anywhere, even the watchtowers were empty.
Saki watched as the prisoners began to form a semi-circle around them. They advanced until the first line of prisoners was about ten metres away and parted to reveal a nucleus of prisoners who were protecting a relatively well dressed prisoner who was obviously the boss.
“Good morning,” he said.
“Good morning,” replied Saki.
“I see we have a woman in our prison, a gift from God himself perhaps.”
“She most certainly is but not for any of you.”
Saki could see where this was going and he didn’t like the odds. If only he had a weapon, he would stand a better chance. As he spoke, he scanned the crowd and spotted exactly what he needed, one of the boss’s men had a baton, perfect.
“I think that’s for me to decide, you’re in my place now,” said the man gesturing to the courtyard.
Saki calculated his options. Offense would take them by surprise and give him more of an edge.
“Did nobody tell you, you just got demoted?” asked a very serious Saki. His eyes burned into the prisoner’s eyes and Saki could sense fear. This prisoner was not used to being challenged.
Saki moved and covered the distance between himself and the boss before his goons could protect him. He landed his foot squarely on his stomach, not to injure him but to gain momentum as he spun off the boss’s stomach and laid out five of his henchmen with one flying kick. He landed on one foot and, as he landed, threw the other one into another henchman with such a force that he was sent flying into the crowd and took another eight prisoners down with him. The henchman who had the baton was tumbling towards the floor as was his baton which Saki caught in one hand whilst dispatching the rest of the henchmen with two flicks of the wrist.
Saki stopped moving and remained poised ready to strike again. He had stopped before the last of the henchmen had hit the ground such was his speed.
When the boss prisoner looked up from his kick to the stomach, he thought he was seeing things. His men lay all around him. Those who could were groaning and those who couldn’t were seriously concussed.
Saki had been merciless. Each of his strikes had been calculated to inflict a great deal of damage. None of the boss’ henchmen would be fit for anything other than hospital for the following few weeks. All had received fractures to their limbs, jaws or skulls. The only thing which could protect Donald and Rachel was a show of overwhelming force and Saki had delivered.
The remaining prisoners soon dispersed. They were all violent men but none had ever witnessed such a display of speed and power. The small oriental man was not to be messed with. The boss offered his apologies and slunk into the background. Without his henchmen, he was as good as dead, a lot of prisoners had scores to settle with him.
“Very impressive,” said Donald.
“Thank you, Saki,” whispered Rachel who was still shaking.



Chapter 24


Tom did not sleep well, the news story the previous night had him very worried. He gave up trying to sleep as the clock hit 7.00 a.m.. He got up and heard Lela moving around next door. She was practising her martial arts, as she did every single day. He didn’t how she could be bothered. By the time he was showered and dressed, she had stopped moving around. As he had not eaten the previous day, he wanted to go for breakfast and knocked on Lela’s door to see if she would join him.
“I’m just in the shower, who is it?” she shouted.
“It’s me, Tom, do you want to go for breakfast?”
“Yeah, just give me two minutes,” she replied.
Exactly two minutes later, she appeared at the door dressed and ready.
“That was quick.”
“Well, I don’t hang around, like some,” she teased.
As they made their way downstairs, a forlorn looking Zach was coming up the stairs.
“Hey Zach, you coming for breakfast?” asked Tom.
“S’pose so,” was the half hearted response, his feet dragging his body almost to a stop with each step.
“What’s wrong Zach, you were so happy last night?” asked Lela. Tom hadn’t even noticed Zach was upset, which was typical when he was hungry, nothing else mattered.
“My dad just called, there’s a fault on his plane and it’s going to take hours to fix. By the time he gets here, he’d have to go back, so he’s not coming.”
“Why doesn’t he just get another plane?” asked Tom.
“There aren’t any he can use, he’s stuck there.”
“Where’s there?”
“Durban.”
Tom pulled his phone out of his pocket and dialled a number.
“Hi… it’s me…are you up? Excellent…can you meet us at the hangar…we’re going to Durban.” Said Tom putting his mobile back in his pocket.
“You’re joking right?” said Zach.
“Not at all, I was wondering what we were going to do today, a trip to Durban sounds like the perfect solution, we’ll be there in…” Tom pulled a small palm pc from its belt holder and punched in the details, “…about 90 minutes. Let’s go, Kisho will meet us at the plane.” He put away the palm pc with its GeoviewX X software which could calculate the distance and flight time between any two points in the world. Tom loved it.
Breakfast was forgotten, they had a plane to catch. Zach, with a renewed vigour, led the way back down the stairs, taking two steps at a time. Lela and Tom struggled to keep up, eventually catching up with him in the foyer where he had come to a complete stop.
“What’s wrong?” asked Tom but Zach did not need to answer. In front of their block stood Yuri and his gang. They’re keen, thought Tom, it was only 7.30 a.m.
“Hi guys,” said Tom. “We’d love to stay and chat but I’m afraid we’ve got a plane to catch.”
The cordial approach was worth a try although the look on Yuri’s face suggested not. The humiliation of the previous day had been too much for Yuri. He was not going to be happy with anything less than a fight.
Zach was big for his age and a similar build to his father, tall, broad and very fit. He was an army child and more than capable of looking after himself. He manoeuvred Lela behind him, shielding her from the gang. Zach had not witnessed Lela’s skills first hand and although he had heard rumours about them, he assumed they were greatly exaggerated.
“Come on guys, whatever’s wrong, I’m sure we can just talk about it like adults,” said Zach
As he tried to reason with them, Chen, Ahmad, Oleg and Tristan came bounding down the stairs. Tristan had seen the gang arrive and had tried to warn Tom and Lela. Finding their rooms empty, he had woken up the others.
“Ah, my little brother Oleg, I’ve missed you, you know. I had to go and buy a punch bag but it’s just not the same,” laughed Yuri, ignoring Zach.
“I’m not your brother any more, thank God,” replied Oleg shaking. He had not seen Yuri since the previous year.
“Guys, Chen and I can handle these guys if you want to get going,” whispered Lela to her friends.
“Where are we going?” asked Ahmad.
“What do you mean where are we going, we’re staying right here,” replied Zach adamantly. “We can’t leave Chen and Lela to these guys,” he reasoned
“You’re right. Chen, do you want to come with us?” said Tom.
“No thanks, I think this’ll be more fun but thanks for the offer,” replied Chen who was very excited. Lela had mentioned that they might get some decent practice in soon.
“Are you guys mad? There are 14 of them, 7–1 are not good odds,” said Zach exasperated. He could not understand why his friends were not sharing his concern.
“I know,” replied Tom. “They should have brought a lot more!”
Yuri’s gang consisted of 14 boys, 8 Russian, 3 Japanese, 1 Korean and 2 Indonesian, aged between 16–18. The Russians were all older and larger than their Asian counterparts but the Asian boys stepped forward first, all assuming martial art stances. From these, Lela could identify their specialisms. Two of the Japanese took a Karate stance, while the other assumed an Aikido stance. The Korean took the classic Taekwondo stance while the Indonesians assumed the Kuntao stance, a method Lela was very familiar with. Many islanders near Penaraja practised it.
“Not so smart now, are you?” said Yuri, smiling at Lela.
Lela smiled while Tom grabbed Zach and pulled him back towards the door of their block, leaving Lela and Chen exposed to the gang. Zach protested but Ahmad, Oleg and Tristan helped Tom pull him back into the building.
“Lela, be good,” shouted Tom before the door closed.
“What the hell are we doing? We can’t leave them out there,” said Zach.
“We’re going out the back way to get to the airfield. Zach, they’ll be fine. If you want to worry about anybody worry about Yuri. I think Lela may lose her temper with him. That wouldn’t be good.”
“You guys are insane,” replied Zach.
“The insane ones are those idiots in that gang. They’ve got no idea who they’re messing with. I’ve seen Lela in action. They don’t stand a chance,” said Ahmad.
Zach gave in and followed the guys out of the back door. They climbed into the school’s golf carts, ready to make their way to the airfield.

“It appears your friends don’t think you’re worth helping,” said Yuri, enjoying the moment.
“Maybe they don’t think I need the help,” said Lela evenly, adding “Chen, would you mind if I deal with these guys myself?”
“Not at all, whatever,” he said as he relaxed against the wall of the building.
Yuri’s smile began to falter. He knew Lela was very good, he had witnessed her in action the previous year. However this time, he had six martial arts experts in his gang. All trained from a young age, they had all won prizes in their respective countries and were all older than her. Why was she not phased?
It took him less than ten seconds to find out.
His guys responded to her step forward, moving forward to take her on. The first guy threw a punch which she deflected into a second punch which another guy had thrown at her. The gang were not playing around. The force in each of the punches was so strong that Lela’s deflection resulted in a gut wrenching crunch as an Indonesian fist collided with a Japanese one. When a high kick was launched at her by the Korean, she waited until exactly the right moment before twisting her body and again deflecting the trajectory of the attack. The force of the assault was again massive, resulting in the Korean smashing into the wall of the building and crumpling in a heap to the ground. The next two ran and launched simultaneous assaults. Schoolboy error, thought Lela, as she simply stepped out of the way and allowed the two boys to crash into each other, resulting in a tangled heap of broken bones. The only gang member who had not moved was the Japanese aikido expert. He had watched his less experienced friends go down with little effort from Lela. In fact, she had not thrown a single punch and five of his friends were in agony. He knew that only a true master was capable of what Lela had just done. He walked towards her and bowed deeply, offering his appreciation and recognition. He knew he was no match for her and did the honourable thing. He helped his friends up and they left, leaving Yuri and his gang to her mercy.
Lela looked across to a very lonely Yuri. The rest of his gang were slowly slinking away.
“Well?” said Lela to Yuri. His gang stopped slinking and started running.
“Sorry,” replied Yuri before running away as fast as he could.
Lela and Chen ran around the building and caught up with the rest of their friends just as they were about to leave.
“Well?” asked Tom.
“Wicked!” replied Chen.
“No!” was all Zach could say, observing that neither had broken into a sweat nor had a hair out of place.
Ten minutes later, Zach, Tom and Kisho were airborne and on their way to Durban.



Chapter 25


“Fantastic!” said the President of the USA. He had said little else since Beaumont had entered the office.
“Donald Kennedy, in an African prison, charged with over 2,500 deaths! It just doesn’t get any better!” he said. “You, young man are a star, well done.”
“Thank you Mr President,” replied Beaumont.
He had come into the office expecting peace and quiet. It was usually empty on a Sunday. However, the President had been alerted to his whereabouts and had arrived 20 seconds later, hardly able to hide his glee over the latest news.
“So what next? Trial and execution?” asked the President hopefully.
“No, it’s best you don’t know just now.”
“Fine, just tell me one thing, are you planning a tragic ending?”
“Very. But there is just one thing I wanted to tell you about,” said Beaumont.
Beaumont had had no intention of telling the President but as he was there, he thought he may as well prepare him.
“General Powers has become a liability, he’ll be retiring today.”
The President understood perfectly what he meant by ‘retiring’.
“That’s a big decision to have taken on your own. Do you not perhaps think you should have checked with me?” said the President, furious, his voice was just below a shout.
Beaumont was taken aback. General Powers was on the assassination list and his demise had already been approved.
“I’ve only moved the timescale,” retorted Beaumont.
The back of the President’s hand caught him just below the eye.
“Do not forget who you are dealing with, you insolent little…! I am the President of the United States of America. How dare you talk to me like that and how dare you decide to only move the timescale without checking with me first!”
“But…”
The President hit the other side of Beaumont’s face.
“Don’t interrupt me!!” he screamed, his face red with rage. He paused to regain his composure.
“Let me make something very clear. You work for ME! I know you have your sights on The Chairman but let me give you some very sound advice. He uses people until he doesn’t need them anymore. He’s the most ruthless son of a bitch alive and he doesn’t let anybody get close. Whatever he’s promised you, he’ll retract. Mark my words.”
Beaumont looked at the President but as he spoke, rather than listen to what was being said, he could only think that the President had become a liability himself. However, he knew better than anyone how to play the game so he assumed the most pathetic and pitiful demeanour and apologised unreservedly to the President for his impertinence.
“Now tell me why you think General Powers has to go and if I agree with you, I’ll sanction your actions.”
The President began to calm down. He was increasingly concerned about how arrogant Beaumont had become and was glad to have taken him down a peg or two.
Beaumont gave his explanation and received the President’s approval, not that he really needed it, thought Beaumont. If he had needed to go over the President’s head to The Chairman, he would have. As the President left, Beaumont touched the area under his eye. He had never been hit before. The man would pay for that and pay dearly. Not long now, thought Beaumont, not long now.



Chapter 26


Zach’s father was delighted when Zach called to tell him that he was on his way to pick him up. He was less delighted to hear that Tom was piloting the plane. Tom, he had argued, was only fourteen, had the world gone mad? His son was too young to drive a car but his friend of the same age could pick him up in a jet? What next?!
Just as they were due to leave, Zach phoned his father again to tell him that the arrangements had changed slightly. Durban International Airport was too busy to land at, so they were going to land at a small private airfield next to the beach in Durban. Zach had reassuringly added that although Tom thought the runway might be just a bit tight, it should be OK. With trepidation, General Powers, his aide and his secretary jumped in a taxi and headed off to the small airfield.
As they arrived, General Powers looked worried. The runway was short, very short. His aide was an Air Force general.
“What do you think?” General Powers asked him.
“Short,” was the blunt response as he looked down the runway.
“What type of jet are they in?” he asked.
“No idea, hold on,” said General Powers as he dialled the number Zach had given him.
“Hi Dad,” answered Zach, “we’ll be there in 5 minutes,” he added quickly.
“Zach what type of plane are you in?”
“A Gulfstream G…5…5…0,” he replied receiving hand signals from Tom.
“Hold on,” said General Powers turning to his aide, “it’s a Gulfstream G550?”
“Tell them to turn around, there’s no way we can take off from here,” he shouted.
“Zach?… Zach?…Zach? Are you there?” the phone had gone dead.
“Too late,” said the aide, pointing to the runway. The executive jet was touching down right at the start of the runway and used all but 200 feet of the runway before it stopped and began to taxi towards them. Two minutes later, a very excited Zach jumped out and ran to hug his father.
“Dad it’s soooo cool!” he said looking at the jet.
Tom joined them shortly afterwards.
“Hi General Powers,” said Tom, shaking his hand.
“Hi Tom. Listen, I really appreciate what you’re doing but my Air Force colleague tells me that you may have made an error landing here. The runway’s a bit short for take off.”
“For normal G550’s I’d agree,” he replied politely. “But this one has been modified.”
As Tom went on to explain the technicality of the modification, the aide listened with interest. He, like Tom, knew everything about planes and he soon realised that Tom knew exactly what he was doing, even down to limiting the number of passengers on board. He had only allowed Zach to accompany them on the outward journey and had quizzed Zach on the number, size and build of the passengers they were due to pick up. He had known that Durban may be too busy and that the alternative would require him to travel light.
“Sir, this young man certainly knows his stuff. I’m happy to fly with him anywhere,” said the aide.
“Tom, that’s praise indeed,” said the General.
Two minutes later, they sped down the taxiway and turned as fast as the plane would allow onto the runway before Tom pushed the engines to full power. The modification, he explained to the laymen on board, was a 16,000 lb/ft engine rather than the normal 15,000 lb/ft engine. The extra thrust would accelerate the plane to take-off speed before they reached the end of the runway. The performance figures required a runway of 6,000 ft and they had just done it in less than 3,000 ft.



Chapter 27


Donald was marched out of his cell and made to sit in what he would have described as a classic interrogation room. Three blank walls, one mirrored wall, a steel-framed Formica table and 3 chairs, two on one side and one on the other. He had been sitting there for over an hour. These guys had obviously watched all the detective movies, although they had forgotten to take his watch. They were supposed to take his watch to disorientate him. They really were amateurs.
The door opened and a very well dressed man entered, wearing a Saville row suit, Italian shoes and a solid gold Swiss watch. Being a cop obviously paid very well in Guinea.
The man placed a document in front of Donald.
“What’s this?” asked Donald.
“This, Mr Kennedy, is the evidence we have against you.”
Donald immediately began to leaf through the so called evidence. There were over 50 pages of it but he only needed to read the first three to see that he was in very big trouble. Whoever wanted to destroy him had done an incredibly good job.
The first page detailed Alba International’s purchase of a very troubled explosives manufacturer in a former Soviet bloc country. Donald had procured the company 6 months earlier. It had been one of the largest land mine manufacturers in the world. Of course, the real reason for the purchase was overlooked. Donald had procured the company with the intention of saving lives. The factory had manufactured more land-mines than any other in the world. The moment Alba had bought the company, land-mine production stopped. The factory was refurbished and production changed to the manufacture of commercial demolition explosives. There were some specialist military products but these were only for NATO countries. Workers were given new contracts and their working environment changed from one of the most dangerous factories in Europe to one of the safest. Donald was very proud of what he had achieved. But that was all glossed over in the file in front of him.
The file stated that Alba had purchased one of the world’s worst explosives manufacturers and did business with anybody willing to pay cash. Explosives were sold to tyrannical dictators in contravention of UN embargoes. Staff were regularly killed or maimed in the unsafe factory. And worst of all, the factory had produced millions of the 110 million land mines that were currently believed to be sitting in wait. The file also produced a long list of atrocities directly linked to the factory. In reality, all these had ended before Alba had purchased the company but that too was ignored.
The second page was a copy of an email from Donald. He remembered the email and the conversation he had had about it. But again, the context was completely misleading. When Alba purchased the factory, it had a huge store of demolition and military explosives in various states of stability. In fact, it was a massive ticking time bomb. A meeting had been called to discuss what should be done with it. Donald remembered it because at the time, he couldn’t believe it was even being discussed. He had immediately sent an email to all involved: “ there is to be no delay, the explosives are to be got rid of, dumped, sent to the moon, I don’t care. Just get rid of them. Every day they are in the warehouse, they endanger the whole factory.”
All staff who had received the e-mail knew exactly what he meant. The unsafe explosives were to be taken out to sea and dumped or detonated in a controlled and safe environment, whichever was the safest. He read the email again and could almost predict what would come next.
Page three realised his prediction — a sales receipt for a huge quantity of dynamite for a rock bottom price. The invoice detailed that this was a once and only offer and required the immediate shipment of the entire stock. The invoice was addressed to a mining company in Equatorial Guinea, now defunct. It no longer existed because it was buried, along with the nearby village and its inhabitants.
The rest of the pages detailed the forensic evidence, the dockets detailing the shipment of the explosives and the delivery to the mine. The documents described the storage facility and the inappropriateness of using it to store such a vast quantity of explosives. In addition, the explosives were highly unstable, unfit for sale and should have been disposed of.
Donald felt sick. He couldn’t believe that somebody had been able to make it look as though he were responsible for the explosion and the deaths. Nobody misunderstood him at Alba and he was certain that nobody in Alba would conceive of doing this to him. Nonetheless, the documentation was real, albeit presented completely out of context. But how did they get his e-mail, how? One thing began to niggle at the back of is mind, somebody within Alba was helping whoever it was. He returned to the second page and the copy of his e-mail, it had been sent to Jason his CFO. How could they have got it? Jason wasn’t even at work, he had been on compassionate leave for the previous 7 months as his wife and three children had been killed in a car crash. Jason, unbeknownst to everyone except Donald, had suffered a complete breakdown and was still in hospital.
He began to regain his composure, somebody was playing a very clever game. But who was it? And what did they really want? Donald had a feeling he was going to find out soon.
“Who are you and what do you want?” he asked, he was fed up with the games.
“I am the Chief of Police and I want your confession and apology to our people,” demanded the Chief.
Donald smiled to himself, wondering how much a Chief of Police really earned.
“What are you smiling at Mr Kennedy? I don’t think you are in a position to be happy.” He stood up and placed both hands on the desk and leaned into Donald, trying to intimidate him.
“I was just admiring your clothes, they can’t have been cheap,” replied Donald losing the smile.



Chapter 28


The news of the Kennedys’ arrest broke soon after Tom had arrived back with Zach and the General. Tom and Lela had sat in stunned silence as the news channel replayed the story over and over again. No comment was being made by anybody at Alba. It seemed that everybody was staying quiet until they knew exactly what was happening and what the charges were against Donald, Rachel and Saki. Information was sketchy as to where they were being held but guesses ranged from the Presidential Palace to the dilapidated high security prison, both of which were shown in stark comparison to each other.
Tom immediately phoned his father’s Head of Legal, Jonathan. He got through but Jonathan explained that he was being bombarded with calls. He said that he had seen some of the evidence against them but that he really had to go, phones were ringing and he was waiting on calls from the Prime Minister and the President of a number of other countries. He promised to call Tom as soon as he could.
Tom then phoned his grandparents who were as bewildered as Tom and Lela and knew nothing more.
Zach and his father had stayed with them but Tom insisted they go and have some fun, there was nothing they could do. General Powers repeated that if there was anything he could do to help, Tom was just to ask.
As they made their way out of the building, they caught up with the Air Force aide who updated the General.
“General, I just got a call from our pilot. The plane is fixed, they thought we were still there and were waiting for us. I’m sorry but I neglected to tell them that we were flying ahead.”
“No problem, keeps them on their toes! Are they on their way?”
“Yes, they will just have taken off.”
“Dad, I thought you were staying for a while, you’ve only been here an hour,” said Zach despondently.
“Don’t worry, we’re not leaving until tonight, I just prefer to have my guys nearby and on standby.”
“So what shall we do now? Do you want to see the Special Forces Base?” said a more cheerful Zach.
“No let’s leave that ‘til later, I’d love to look around this school of yours. Maybe meet some of your friends. Work can wait for now.”

“It’s done and the plane is getting prepped to leave,” said Jones. “Nobody suspects a thing.
“Good. When will it happen?” asked Beaumont.
“The plane will explode as soon as it hits 12,000 feet.”
“Where are you now?”
“We’re just about to take off. We want to get as far away from here as we can before it happens. We’ll be back in the Congo in about four hours.”
“OK, let me know when you land, I may have another job for you sooner than expected.”
Beaumont hung up. He had already begun the handover procedure for General Powers’ position. The new Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff was on standby for his appointment by the President. It normally took some time to appoint a new military boss and questions would be asked. However, Beaumont had already covered this with a statement he had prepared for the President, should any challenge be made.



Chapter 29


Tom and Lela spent the afternoon watching the TV and waiting for a phone call which would tell them that their parents’ arrest had been a huge mistake. When the news report was interrupted by more breaking news on the Kennedy case, their spirits lifted. It could only be good news, it couldn’t be any worse. But it was an update on the evidence which had been released to the UK government and totally justified the arrest of its most prominent businessman. The reporter could not give many details, explaining that the TV station had received the information from a ‘reliable’ source inside the government. In other words, a leak.
“This can’t be real, can it Tom?” asked Lela with tears rolling down her cheeks. She had managed to remain fairly calm for the previous few hours but this was too much. Their parents were accused of corporate manslaughter and if convicted, would be sentenced to life imprisonment.
“It is real Lela. But it’s complete bullshit!” Tom was very angry and was struggling to control himself.
Tristan knocked gently on the door and opened it, he had just watched the same news story.
“Jesus guys! What the hell is going on? This is nuts! How can anyone think your parents can be involved in this?” Tristan was visibly upset, Donald was his godfather.
“Have you spoken to your dad? What’s he doing about this?” Tom couldn’t understand why Tristan’s father, Roger, the British Prime Minister, had not got his parents out of prison and out of Africa.
“Yes but very briefly. He’s doing everything he can. In fact, he’s doing nothing else. He knows very well that your dad wasn’t responsible for this.”
“For God sake Tristan, it’s a tiny African country. Just tell them to back off. I don’t understand why this is happening…” Tom couldn’t finish his sentence, he just broke down. Lela moved over and hugged him, gesturing to Tristan to leave them just now. He nodded and quietly left the room, closing the door on his way out.
Mr Sakamoto, The Academy’s Headmaster and old family friend, almost crashed into Tristan as he came careering down the corridor. He threw Tom’s door open and rushed inside.
“Oh my God, I’m sorry, I’ve just heard the news. I’ve been locked in my office all morning catching up on paperwork. What’s the latest?”
Tom pulled himself together and filled him in on everything right up to the conversation with Tristan.
“OK, let’s make some calls and see what we can find out.” He shut the door and sat down next to the phone.



Chapter 30


“My God it’s 6.00 p.m. already. We need to go soon,” said General Powers.
Zach and his father had spent the whole afternoon looking around the school buildings, grounds, and marina. The General and his staff were very impressed, they had never seen anywhere like it. General Powers had thought that Zach had exaggerated a little about the school’s facilities but he now realised that Zach had actually undersold it. It was amazing.
“OK, I’ll take you to the airfield, we can stop at the Special Forces Base on the way,” said Zach who was driving the golf cart. His father’s aide and secretary were sitting in the back and had said little over the previous four hours other than, amazing, wow and spectacular.
Zach drew the golf cart to a stop at the gates. He knew all the soldiers well, particularly the American ones. They always made sure they kept the boss’ son happy. However, the gate was manned by a German KSK (Kommando Spezialkraefte) soldier, whom he didn’t know. Zach and his father had agreed that they would try to surprise the base’s Commanding Officer. He was a Delta Force lieutenant Colonel and an old friend of General Powers. Fortunately, the General and his staff were in civilian clothes so the young German guard didn’t recognise the visitors and in particular, the General.
“Hi, is Colonel Jackson available please?” asked Zach to the ramrod straight guard.
“Who may I ask is asking?” he responded.
“Zach Powers,” he replied. The guard motioned to the other three passengers, “and friends” added Zach.
He picked up the phone and buzzed the HQ. Two seconds later, he was speaking to Colonel Jackson.
“Sir, I have a Zach Powers and…” the German was interrupted before he could mention the three friends.
“Jesus man, send him straight through!” said Colonel Jackson.
The guard replaced the phone, lifted the barrier and pointed to where Zach should go. They sped through the base as fast as the cart would take them and pulled up outside the HQ building. Zach led the way through the corridors and tapped gently on the Colonel’s door.
“Come in, come in,” he ushered.
As Zach opened the door and entered, the Colonel came towards him.
“Jesus Zach, how you doin’ son? You holdin’ up OK?” The Colonel gave Zach a huge hug and wouldn’t let go. He whispered how sorry he was, over and over again.
“Hey, Colonel, I’m OK. But are you OK? ”
Zach had never seen him so emotional and didn’t understand the need for such a huge hug and what on earth was he sorry about?
Such was his emotional state that the Colonel hadn’t noticed his other guests, patiently standing in the doorway.
The General had been watching the Colonel and was as bemused by his behaviour as Zach was.
“What the hell has come over you man?” boomed General Powers.
The Colonel froze at the sound of the General’s voice. He looked up and stepped back, visibly shaken. A second later, under the gaze of four bemused faces, he finally smiled.
“Oh my God! Thank God! Am I pleased to see you! I knew it couldn’t be true! General Powers killed in a plane crash? Never! It would take a nuclear missile up your ass to kill you, you son of a bitch!” The Colonel opened his arms and walked over to hug the General.
But the General stepped back.
“We’ll have none of that nonsense Colonel. What the hell are you talking about? What plane crash?” he asked.
The Colonel explained that he had literally just received notification from Washington that the General had been involved in a tragic accident. He was told that the General’s aircraft had crashed soon after take-off from Durban, killing all on board. He was instructed that the news was being suppressed until all ranking officers in the US forces were informed.
“My God! If weren’t for the fact that Zach’s friend picked us up, we would have been on the plane. Are you sure there were no survivors? And what caused the crash? ” asked the General.
“No survivors and I don’t know,” replied the Colonel.
The General was stunned. The realisation that his flight crew were all dead hit him hard. The Colonel continued to read the statement he had received from the President.
“In this troubled time, it is imperative, in the interests of national security, that no chink in the US’s armour is shown. I have therefore taken the unprecedented decision to immediately appoint General Powers’ replacement. With immediate effect, Admiral Harold Walker will assume the title of Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.”
The Colonel stopped reading. There was more but he knew that the General had heard enough.
“What in the hell is going on??!! Walker…, why would they give that weaselly little turd my job?” The General’s mind was racing. “Give me that phone,” he snapped. He was now shaking with fury.
“Get me the President,” he barked to the Whitehouse receptionist.
“Who may I say is calling,” she responded professionally, ignoring the General’s rudeness.
“Tell him it’s one of his ChairMEN of the Joint Chiefs.”
Missing the relevance of his emphasis, the receptionist put the call through as a call from the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs.
The President was in the middle of a call from the Russian President and would be another minute. Beaumont had entered the Oval office as the call from the General had come through and decided to take it for the President.
“Hi Harold, how are you settling in? Congratulations on the promotion,” he said cheerfully.
“I’ll HAROLD YOU!! GET THAT IDIOT BOSS OF YOURS ON THE PHONE NOW!!! BEFORE I COME OVER THERE AND RIP YOU A NEW ASSHOLE!!!”
Not many people scared Beaumont but the tones of General Powers’ screaming voice chilled him to the core. His face dropped. The President, seeing the look of dread on Beaumont’s face, distanced the phone from his ear and left the Russian president talking to thin air. Beaumont did the same and the General’s expletives could clearly be heard through the earpiece. The President mouthed “who is it?” Beaumont responded, “Powers.” The President dropped the Russian president on the floor, the full impact of the situation hitting him. He too was scared of General Powers.
As Beaumont rescued the Russian President from the floor, a tentative President and boss of General Powers took the phone, his hand visibly shaking. The torrent from the General was even worse than expected and he thanked God that the man was 9,000 miles away.
The General pulled the phone away from his ear and screamed for his aide. They had all left General Powers to it, their eardrums could not take the abuse.
“Yes General,” said the aide on entering the room.
“Get me a scramjet, I want to get back to Washington yesterday.”
“Yes Sir.”
The General ended the call to the president informing him he would be back in 2 hours and would be straight over to see him.

Back in Washington, a very worried and very angry President replaced the receiver and turned to Beaumont.
“What the hell have you done Beaumont?! The man was merely a liability, now he’s a full blown enemy. He’ll never forgive me for this, he hates Walker. The fact that I chose him as his replacement has really pissed him off. What the hell happened? How the hell could you get it so wrong? Why didn’t you know Powers wasn’t on the plane? Wasn’t even in Durban?! What an almighty mess! How can you be so stupid?”
Beaumont stood speechless. This was not good. His mind was working through the permutations. This really, really was not good. General Powers was a very powerful man and very astute. The President was right, Powers had been a liability but now he was dangerous. He would be watching their every move. If only they hadn’t announced Walker. That was their biggest mistake from which it would be difficult to recover and it was all his fault. He, Beaumont, had pushed hard for it.
The emergency red phone buzzed on the President’s desk. He grabbed it, what next? The digitised voice of The Chairman of the Committee was instantly recognisable. He wasn’t taking this call on his own and put the phone on speaker.
“Beaumont’s here as well,” said the President. The Chairman did not mince his words and expressed his astonishment at their incompetence. He was also extremely concerned at the cavalier change in the timetable and how dare this be done without his knowledge. Both knew by the end of the call that they could not afford to make another mistake no matter how minor. Not because they sensed it but because The Chairman spelled out exactly what would happen to them if they did.

The scramjet arrived at the island thirty minutes later. It had been stationed at Diego Garcia airbase, a secluded airbase located in the middle of the Indian Ocean. Although the airbase was well-known, it was almost 1000 miles from nearest landfall and only accessible by military transport.
The scramjet landed and departed almost immediately. It would deliver General Powers to Washington, 9,000 miles away, in just over an hour. The scramjet could fly at speeds approaching MACH 10, over 7,000 miles per hour.



Chapter 31


Donald explained the situation to Saki on his return to the cell. The Chief of Police had given up trying to elicit his confession after only half an hour. It was clear that Donald was not going to change his mind but it seemed as though the Chief of Police didn’t seem to care, almost as though he were just going through the motions.
It was not until later that they had the chance to update Rachel when they were let out into the prison courtyard, giving them the chance to talk. Despite the prison yard being full of other prisoners, the Kennedys were given an extra wide berth. They heard, however, that the former boss of the prisoners was fighting for his life in the prison hospital. It had not taken long for the prisoners to even up old scores. The boss now shared the ward with his henchmen and none would see the light of day for a number of weeks.
Rachel did not take the news well. The thought of spending the rest of her life in that hell hole was terrifying. Donald explained that the evidence was all stacked against him but that there was nothing on Saki and Rachel.
“So why the hell are we here? And anyway, is your spending the rest of your life in here without me, supposed to comfort me?” she retorted, fighting back the tears.
“No, but…” Donald gave up, there was no point trying to comfort Rachel at this stage, he stood more chance of upsetting her than reassuring her.
The tearful silence was interrupted by shouts and screams from across the courtyard. The noise grew louder as the source of the noise grew closer. A team of guards, heavily armed and dressed in full riot gear were making their way towards them. As they approached Donald, Saki and Rachel, they stopped. Saki stepped in front of Donald and Rachel and readied himself for another battle. He didn’t like guns but knew when they were needed and how to use them. He spotted the one he wanted, a well kept Heckler amp; Koch MP5K. It was by far the best weapon for his purposes, namely to take out the 20 guards as quickly as possible. He was already calculating the order in which to dispatch them once he had disarmed the owner of the gun he wanted.
“Come with us,” demanded the guard who was about to be disarmed. That was why he had the best weapon thought Saki, he was the senior guard.
“Where?” asked Saki, preparing to move dependent upon the answer.
“The British Ambassador has arrived and wishes to see you,” replied the senior guard. Saki turned to Donald who simply replied, “about bloody time, let’s go,” and led the way.
They were shown to a significantly more attractive room than the one Donald had found himself in earlier. Even tea and biscuits were laid out. A man was standing talking to the British Ambassador whom Donald assumed was the Prison Governor.
“Good evening,” said the Ambassador, rising from his seat and greeting them warmly.
“Good evening Mr Ambassador,” they all replied.
The Governor introduced himself to the three of them and told them to let him know if there was anything he could do for them. He said he was at their service but Donald had a funny feeling that they would not be seeing him again in a hurry, noting that he seemed to share the same tailor as the Chief of Police.
Rachel, however, smiled for the first time since their arrest, excited at the prospect of the UK government flexing its muscle to get them out.
“Sorry, I’ve not been here sooner but getting from Yaounde in Cameroon where I’m based on a Sunday is not an easy thing.”
“No need to apologise, we’re just very pleased to see you,” replied Donald. “When can you get us out?” He decided that he was as well cut to the chase. He could see that Rachel had decided that the Ambassador’s arrival was their ticket out. If it wasn’t, he wanted her to know then rather than build up her hopes.
“I’m afraid not, the evidence is significant and it seems that further improprieties are being suggested.”
The blood drained from Donald’s face.
“What does ‘suggestion of further improprieties’ mean?” asked Donald carefully.
“Hmm, I’m uncomfortable discussing it third hand. It is at the moment only rumoured.”
“Bugger uncomfortable and rumour, you’re the only person we can talk to,” insisted Donald.
“Well it appears that papers exist which would suggest, only speculation I hasten to add, that Alba International has gained significantly from the recent assassinations.”
“What?” Donald was not a stupid man, he knew exactly what was coming next and began to feel feint.
“Yes,” the Ambassador could see that he did not need to spell it out and added, “I believe the Global media chain will break the story tomorrow. An undercover reporter has papers and evidence which implicate you as the mastermind in the assassinations.”
The words hung in the air, nobody spoke. Donald had gone from the number one businessman in the world to the world’s most wanted murderer in less than 24 hours.



Chapter 32


It had been a long afternoon. Mr Sakamoto had tried all his contacts but to no avail. Tom had also tried a few of his contacts, being the son of the world’s most powerful businessman resulted in an interesting network of friends. His father often joked that Tom and Lela’s contact lists put his one to shame. But nothing, the news was bad from everyone.
Mr Sakamoto had eventually given way to the small crowd of friends who had gathered outside Lela’s room and who had refused to leave. They were good friends and were not going to leave Tom and Lela in their hour of need.
Zach went straight to see Tom and Lela when he returned from dropping his father off. He wasted no time updating them and the small crowd on what had happened to his father, paying particular attention to the conversation between his father and the US President.
Tom realised, listening to Zach, that things could have been much worse. Zach’s father could easily have been killed that day.
The more he thought about things, the more he realised there was more he could do. There was lots more he could do. He was Tom Kennedy and he would find the truth. He looked around for Tristan, where was he? He turned to Lela, she was still very upset. Tom walked over and whispered to her.
“Lela, we’re going to sort this out. We’re not doing our parents any favours being like this. We need to do everything we can to help them, OK?”
He was strong again and Lela took solace in this. She began to brighten. Tom realised then that he had to remain strong for both of them. Lela may have been able to kick anybody’s arse but deep down she was just like most 15 year old girls, emotional and sometimes fragile.
“You’re right,” she said snivelling. “We need to do more, we need to do a lot more.” Tom hugged her, the strong and resilient Lela was returning.
Tristan entered the room
“Can I have a word?” he asked.
“Of course,” replied Tom. “What’s up?” he asked, noticing that something was wrong.
“Not here, let’s go next door to your room,” he said to Tom and gesturing for Lela to come too.
It took Tristan less than two minutes to update Tom and Lela on the latest he had heard from his father. It was the same news the Ambassador had told their parents. Donald was now being linked to the assassinations. Tom looked across at Lela who was obviously waiting for his reaction to gauge how she was going to take this. Tom looked back at Tristan.
“When?” he asked forcefully.
“When what?” asked Tristan who had expected them to break down.
“When are Global Media going to release the story?”
“Tomorrow.”
“That’s it. They’ve gone too far now. Whoever is behind this, has just stepped over the line.” Tom was seething but his mind was working overtime.
“Tristan, could you do me favour and round up these people and have them meet here in 2 hours,” said Tom scribbling down a list of names as fast as he could.
“If any of them ask why, just say it’s an emergency and mention my name, they should come, or at least I hope they will. And now if you don’t mind Trist, I need to make some urgent calls.” Tristan took the hint and went off to round up the list of students.
“What are you going to do?” asked Lela.
“We are going to start giving these bastards a fight,” replied Tom forcefully.
“How?”
“By playing them at their own game. I need your permission to invoke the special condition.”
“Of course, but why?” Lela saw the sparkle in Tom’s eye. He obviously had a plan.
“You’ll see,” said Tom as he made a call.
“Hi, can I speak to Jonathan please?” asked Tom.
“I’m sorry Tom, he’s busy just now, can he call you back?” asked Jonathan’s secretary recognising Tom’s voice. Both she and Jonathan had gone into the office despite it being a Sunday to do whatever they could to help.
“No, I need to speak to him now, interrupt him, it’s urgent,” replied Tom abruptly. Lela kicked him for being so rude.
“I’m sorry but it’s really really urgent,” said Tom trying to justify his rudeness.
“OK, I’ll get him for you now,” she replied impressed at Tom’s ability to apologise even though he was under a huge amount of pressure. Jonathan had been barking at her all day and had not apologised once.
Two seconds later, Jonathan was on the phone.
“Hi Tom, how you holding up?”
“Fine thanks, have you heard the latest?” he didn’t have time for small talk, they had things to do.
“No, what’s happened?”
Tom informed a totally and utterly dumbfounded Head of Legal about the allegations which were due to be made against his father. Jonathan could think of nothing to say and remained speechless.
“Jonathan, are you there?” prompted Tom.
“Yes, yes sorry, I just can’t believe anybody could conceive of this. I mean what utter crap. What can I do?”
“I want to invoke the special conditions laid down by my father this year.”
Jonathan did not need to look them up as he had drafted them himself only two months previously. It had been a rather surprising request but Donald was the boss and what he said went.
“Is Lela with you?”
“Yes, here she is” said Tom handing the phone to Lela.
“Do you agree with this Lela?” asked Jonathan.
“Yes I do,” replied Lela handing the phone back to Tom.
“OK boss, what can I do for you?” said Jonathan to the newest and youngest CEO in the world.



Part Three



Chapter 33


General Powers wasted no time when he arrived back in Washington. He headed straight to the Whitehouse to see the President. The meeting was brief and filled with sincere apologies and explanations. Powers was not interested in all that guff, he just wanted to see the new statement which was to be sent to his staff immediately. The President handed him a draft, he tweaked it and added his own paragraph at the end. He waited for confirmation that the message had been sent and then left without so much as a goodbye. He was in no mood to be cordial.
Powers began to calm down as he approached his office. He had toyed with the idea of going home but wanted to make a few calls first. He had called his wife from Zach’s school and had been stunned to learn that she hadn’t even been informed of his demise. Two and a half million soldiers of the US armed forces had been informed but she hadn’t. The more Powers delved into ‘the incident’, the worse it got. Things were very strange and something was going on. His thoughts stopped as he opened the outer door to his office. His secretary’s desk was completely clear, her papers and personal things were thrown into a box on the floor. The door to his office was closed but somebody was in there, he could hear them moving around.
He opened the door slowly and quietly and watched as a short, tubby man was frantically putting things back where they should be from a pile of boxes in the middle of the floor. Walker had spent most of the morning moving into General Powers’ office and was still furiously trying to move back out. Walker had been informed by the President about Powers still being alive but not about his very quick return. As far as Walker was concerned, Powers was on a plane crossing the Atlantic.
“WHAT THE HELL ARE YOU DOING?” shouted Powers in his best drill instructor’s voice. Walker just about had an involuntary action such was the surprise and terror of hearing the General’s voice. Powers was a large and powerful man and was going to use every inch of his presence on the insignificant weasel. He had gone too far, it was one thing to take his job, he could be forgiven for that but moving into his office before his body was even found, especially on a Sunday, was unforgivable. Powers expanded his already vast chest and moved within a whisker of Walker.
“I’m just putting things back where they were Sir,” replied Walker, his voice quivering.
“Why would they need to be put back if I never moved them in the first place. A bit quick off the mark weren’t we Walker?”
“No, no, Sir, it wasn’t my decision, the President himself phoned me to tell me to move into your office asap.”
“So you scurried in on a Sunday and started moving my things out?” Powers began to smell an even bigger rat.
“Well that’s good,” said the General, “because you have a new command post. I understand that your previous post has already been filled,” smiled Powers.
“Only on an interim basis Sir. I was just moving back to my office,” said Walker who was now very nervous. He knew Powers had never liked him.
“No, no, you were right to put Michael in your old role, he’s a very good man.” Powers had always preferred Michael, the Vice Chief of Naval Operations, to Walker.
“So where are you putting me?” asked Walker meekly.
“I’ve had to think long and hard about this. A man with your skills is wasted behind a desk. I mean, you’ve got what, 30 years service behind you? All that naval experience stuck in here.”
Powers could see the look of fear on Walker’s face. He was a lifetime desk jockey. Powers could not believe Walker’s personnel file. He had managed to get to the top job in the Navy despite never seeing any action. The biggest sea command he had held was cruising around the Caribbean looking for drug smugglers which had raised a few serious questions in itself.
“I’m very settled in Washington, it would be hard to move now,” squeaked Walker barely able to breath.
“Oh, what I have in mind won’t require you to move house,” replied Powers smiling. “We need a new Commander for the Second Fleet.”
“But that’s a Rear Admiral position, I’m a Four Star Admiral, that would be ridiculous,” blurted Walker whose fear gave into anger.
“Correction, you were a Four Star Admiral,” said Powers letting the words hang for a second. “Not anymore, Rear Admiral.”
“But you can’t possibly do this, I mean you just can’t. I’ll speak to the President,” said an exasperated Walker, his heart pounding. The US Second Fleet was in the middle of the Artic and would remain there for some time.
“It’s covered, I’m afraid, you’re my payback. I can do whatever I want with you,” smiled Powers.
From the day he had taken on the Chairmanship of the Joint Chiefs, Walker had made things as difficult as he could for him and had seemed untouchable. The President had refused many of Powers’ requests to replace the useless Chief of the Navy.
“I’ll resign,” Walker informed him.
“You wish,” said Powers.
“What do you mean ‘you wish’? I’m perfectly within my rights to resign.”
“Fine but if I receive your resignation, I will immediately launch an investigation into your command of the anti drug ship in the Caribbean. I’m sure I’ll find out why, on your command, drug seizures were 80 % less than any other commander.”
Powers had noted the discrepancy while reading Walker’s personnel file and adding this to rumours at the time, he couldn’t help but wonder.
Walker didn’t know what to do. The 20 % seizures they had made were while he was on holiday. The actual truth was that while in command, he had made no seizures whatsoever. Powers had it in for him and Walker was fairly certain that Powers could ensure that testimony would come to light which would incriminate him in some pay-off scandal. He could spend the next ten years in jail. As a matter of fact, he had never taken a pay-off from the drug runners. He didn’t need to, his family were very wealthy. The simple truth was that he was a coward who needed a stint at command to progress his career and had managed to wangle the easy task of cruising around the Caribbean for 18 months.. He hadn’t realised until he arrived that the drug runners were as dangerous as they were. Ten sailors had been injured prior to his arrival and an anti-tank missile had narrowly missed the ship two weeks before that. He decided if drug runners wanted so badly to navigate their waters, then he would just make sure his ship was nowhere near them.
“Well?” Powers knew Walker was a coward and had more than likely never taken a kick-back but his crew at the time had certainly thought he was. They didn’t know his daddy was worth a few billion. Whoever was watching out for Walker was very good. The rumours had been quashed quickly and effectively, a difficult thing to do in the navy.
“When do I leave?” he said resignedly.
“Now. The car’s outside and your transport plane awaits,” replied a triumphant Powers.
“Right this second?”
“Yes, right this second. Oh and you may want to stop and buy some sweaters. I hear it’s rather cold up there. Now get out of my office before I throw you out.”
Walker took his box of personal belongings and walked out. Powers picked up the phone and dialled the Interim Chief of Naval Operations.
“Michael?”
“Yes sir, General Powers and may I just say how relieved I was to hear that you’re OK. It was a terrible accident Sir.”
“Thank you Michael,” said Powers as it struck him that neither the President, Beaumont nor Walker had made the same remark. He thought that perhaps they were too embarrassed by their stupid actions.
“Two things, Michael,” resumed Powers. “One, congratulations, you are confirmed as the new Chief of Naval Operations and secondly, I just sent Rear Admiral Walker to command the Second Fleet.”
“Sorry Sir, did you just say that I have been confirmed as the new Chief and Rear Admiral Walker is in command of the Second Fleet?” He paused for a moment and then added, “I don’t know which is more shocking, my promotion or the thought of Walker leading the second fleet.”
“I know the thought of what he could do to it is worrying and that’s why I’m calling. I was very angry when I gave him the post. I remember reading that they were on Arctic manoeuvres and I couldn’t think of anything he would hate more. So we need to cover it. Please put your best second-in-command with him, somebody who’s ready for their own command and tell him to lead the fleet. Walker will just want to keep a low profile. Give your guy the authority to over-rule him if he believes it’s necessary. In other words, Walker is a figure-head only.”
“Understood, no problem. I know just the man for the job. He hates Walker and will relish the opportunity. And Sir, thank you for the promotion.”
“Not at all Michael. The job should always have been yours, I don’t know how the hell that idiot ever got it.”
Walker continued down the corridor with his box in his arms thinking of what he needed to do. He had to call his wife and let her know he wouldn’t be home that night, nor the next few months. He was supposed to have been going to his club that night for a game of poker with the boys. He’d have to cancel that as well. It then struck him. He suddenly realised that he would have to miss the committee meetings. He couldn’t possibly use the equipment on a naval ship, it was full of electronics, or could he? He would have to call The Chairman and check. It wasn’t going to be an easy call. The Chairman did not tolerate members missing meetings. In fact, members didn’t miss meetings, ever.



Chapter 34


Max Marshall was the owner of Global Media having built the business over the previous 40 years from nothing. It was now one of the largest media organisations in the world, with interests on every continent and every media, including newspapers, radio, TV, film, publishing and the internet.
He had been made aware of the story on Donald Kennedy just after the revelation of his arrest. He had received a phone call from his Washington Bureau who had received a file detailing astonishing claims against Donald Kennedy. At first, they took the file as an elaborate hoax and highly defamatory. None of the content was printable. However, when news of his arrest was announced, they began to investigate the story more seriously. It all seemed to check out. Understanding the enormity of the news, they contacted Max. He was very nervous, it was not every day you launched an attack on the world’s richest man. A mistake could ruin the company.
He made some calls to government officials, further checking the allegations, in case they knew something he didn’t. Everything checked out. It seemed that Global Media was holding the key to the world’s biggest story. He was asked by the UK government whether he could hold the story until they made some further checks. It was a Sunday, things would take a little longer but they promised to get back to him by close of play.
He thought long and hard about what to do. If he launched the story straight away, only to find it was all rubbish, Donald Kennedy would have him for everything, his legal guys were legendary. If he waited and had final confirmation from the government, they couldn’t touch him, the government would be to blame. It also meant they could spend the day preparing for the biggest breaking story in the history of the company. The decision was made. Print runs were halted, the first 5 pages were cleared on every paper they published. Each one of their main presenters was contacted and told to report into work on the Monday. Their schedules were re-arranged, holidays cancelled or interrupted.
Max’s phone rang. It was 7 p.m. in London and it was the call he had been waiting for. He grabbed the phone.
“Hello?” he answered excitedly.
“Hello Mr Marshall.” It was definitely not the call he had been expecting.



Chapter 35


Tom only realised the time when he heard the commotion outside his room. He had been so busy on the phone that two hours had flown by. He walked out, said hi to the group and explained they were borrowing one of the conference rooms and led the way.
“I’m sorry to ask you to come at such short notice,” began Tom. “I know we all start school tomorrow but I thought there were some things you guys needed to know.”
Tom spent the next twenty minutes bringing them all up to speed on that day’s developments including the latest news of his father’s alleged links to the assassinations. Finally, he stopped talking and waited for a barrage of questions. None came. All sat still, waiting for the punch line. No-one could believe that Tom’s father was responsible for the explosion, let alone the assassinations. That, of course, was why they had been selected, that and for their contacts.
Eventually, somebody spoke.
“So what are we going to do?” asked Daniel, the son of the Head of the Mossad, the Israeli intelligence service. Tom had known Daniel for some time and liked his straight talking, no-nonsense approach.
“We’re going to find out what’s happening and who’s behind all this. I hope with your help?” Tom looked around the table and was pleased to see everyone nodding.
“How about introductions, I don’t think I’ve met everybody here?” suggested Zach.
“Of course. My apologies. Probably best we just shoot round the table,” replied Tom indicating to his left.
“I’m Thabo, son of the President of Botswana.”
“I’m Daniel, son of the Head of the Israeli Mossad.”
“I’m Zach, son of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in the US.”
“I’m Jin, granddaughter of the President of the People’s Republic of China.”
“I’m Sofie, my mother is President of the European Commission and I’m from the Netherlands.”
“I’m Elena, my father is the Secretary General of the United Nations and I’m from Peru.”
“I’m Lela, Tom’s sister.”
“And I’m Tristan, the son of the Prime Minister of the UK.”
“Excellent, I’m sure we’ll all get to know each other much better but there is one more person I want to bring into this group. He’s not at this school but I called him earlier and told him everything I’ve told you guys and I think he may be quite helpful.”
“Who is it?” asked Tristan.
“Rolf. His family has some rather interesting connections in a slightly different world from the one we all live in,” said Tom awkwardly.
Thabo laughed.
“That’s one way of describing it, I suppose,” he said.
Everybody looked at him for more.
“His dad is the biggest crook in Africa and maybe further afield too,” he added.
“Underworld kingpin is probably more apt,” replied a blushing Tom.
“If he’s OK with Tom, he’s OK with me,” said Tristan.
The rest of the group agreed and Rolf joined the meeting by video conference.
Tom kicked the meeting off by explaining what he thought needed to be done. Two hours later, they all left the room, sworn to secrecy and with a list of questions to get answers to.
Tom checked his watch. He had one more call to make before he went to bed.



Chapter 37


Beaumont was glued to the TV. He had been tipped off that the story would break in the UK at 7.00 a.m. which was 2.00 a.m. Washington time. Global Media were trying to get maximum exposure across the world on their biggest ever exclusive. It would mean that the US would wake up to the headlines in their newspapers and TV stations; the UK would wake up to their TV and radio station bulletins and a special edition of the Global newspapers, meaning none of the other UK papers would be able to copy the story. Across Europe and Asia, the story would break in daylight hours. It was going to be huge.
Beaumont could see it now, “DONALD KENNEDY — THE ASSASSIN. DONALD KENNEDY — WORLD KILLER.” He was watching the British-based Global media news channel. It was the prime time morning news show and was, because Kennedy was British, going to be the first to break the news.
Beaumont watched as the weather reporter droned on about slight rain from the West. The channel then broke for yet another series of adverts before finally showing the opening credits to the morning news show. Here we go, thought Beaumont as he increased the volume and sat with his nose virtually touching the screen.
“Good morning and welcome to breakfast news. Our top story this morning is Donald Kennedy.” Yes, thought Beaumont. “And the continuing efforts of the UK government to have him released…”
“What?” Beaumont asked the screen, his mouth wide open.



Chapter 36


Tom and Lela could not stop checking their watches. This was the first day of school but they had to be in Conference Room One for a video conference at11.15 a.m.
They started school at 8.00 with a welcome from the Headmaster, Mr Sakamoto, who paid tribute to the world leaders who had been assassinated over the previous few months. He sent his condolences and sympathies to their families but also welcomed the new students who had joined the school under tragic circumstances. He then went on to more mundane house-keeping matters and by 9.00 am, the students were on their way to their first lesson.
At 11.10 a.m., Tom and Lela asked to be excused from their classroom. Mr Sakamoto had authorised the missing of one lesson to allow them to join the video conference. They rushed across the school grounds to the Conference Centre and entered Room One. It was a large room and as with the rest of the school, no expense had been spared, no corner cut on the presentation facilities, furniture or equipment. Large plush leather chairs surrounded the solid wood table, polished to perfection by an ex royal footman. A massive video screen covered one wall and showed eight expectant faces staring at the screen. All they could see was the very plush and expansive table surrounded by numerous empty chairs.
Tom and Lela kept out of the camera’s view and took a good look at each of the eight people on the other side of the world who had answered the call to attend a special emergency board meeting. Jonathan suddenly appeared on the screen and could be seen nodding to his colleagues. A sly grin thrown towards the camera suggested that he knew Tom and Lela would be observing them, in Glasgow at the global headquarters of Alba International.
Tom took a deep breath and walked into shot of the camera and took his seat. Lela had decided to remain out of sight but would participate if required.
“Good morning,” said Tom.
“Good morning Tom,” they all responded.
“Are we missing somebody?” asked Tom looking at an empty seat.
“Alan, the new CFO, is on a call. He said he’d be along soon,” replied Jonathan.
“You told him we were holding an emergency meeting?” asked Tom slightly agitated.
“Yes,” replied Jonathan.
“Would somebody mind telling him to get his arse in here, right now!” said Tom firmly and shocking a few of the Alba execs who looked at the screen in surprise.
“Gladly,” offered Jonathan.
As he stood up, the door burst open and a very cocky Alan almost shouted, “So Johnny-boy what’s up now? What’s the big emergency that can’t wait?”
He was almost in his seat before he noticed the screen and its lone figure. The silence was almost deafening, nobody dared speak. Tom had only met the new CFO once, he hadn’t liked him then and certainly liked him even less now. Jason, the previous CFO was on compassionate leave and had insisted that Donald fill his role permanently. He didn’t want the pressure of knowing that he had to get back. Donald had pleaded for him to take time, there was no pressure. He could hire an interim for 10 years if he had to. But Jason had been insistent.
Alba was the largest and most profitable corporation in the world, there were probably only five accountants up to the task but unfortunately Alan was the only acceptable candidate to have come forward and so was offered the position by default.
“Hi Tom, how you doin’ mate?” asked Alan as if nothing were wrong.
Tom took one disgusted look at the man before completely ignoring him.
“Ladies and Gentlemen, I’ve called you here today to inform you of some important news. My father recently asked for a special condition to be placed in the company’s statute book. I won’t bore you with the legalise but basically it states that, in my father’s absence and with the approval of available stated family members, any Kennedy can take control as Interim Chief Executive. Said individual will take full control and act with the complete authority of Donald Kennedy. Stated family members are Rachel Kennedy, Saki Kennedy, Lela Kennedy and Tom Kennedy.”
All the executives looked at Jonathan who nodded that this was correct, apart from Alan who was too busy choking on his coffee.
Tom continued.
“With that in mind, I spoke to Jonathan last night and invoked the condition. We agreed that my parents and Saki were absent as defined by the condition and therefore, with Lela’s approval, I took control of Alba International with immediate effect.”
“Congratulations Tom,” they all said at once, except Alan who wanted added clarity.
“Wait a minute, are you seriously saying that you are the new boss?”
“Yes. So less of the mate and the Johnny-boy if you don’t mind.” He was really annoying Tom now. Alan’s face dropped. This was certainly not what he had expected.
“I have some more news,” continued Tom. “As CEO, I made my first corporate purchase last night. We have bought the Global Media Group.”
“What?!” blurted out Alan. “But I wasn’t told about this! How can you have bought it without my involvement? I’m the Chief Financial Officer and I don’t know anything about this! Jonathan, what the hell’s going on here?” shouted Alan.
“Don’t you get it Alan, you don’t need to know. If Tom wants it to happen, it happens,” replied Jonathan who was enjoying putting Alan in his place.
“But how much did you pay?” Alan couldn’t stop himself.
“Too much,” replied Tom, “and just enough. It depends on what you are buying.”

The initial phone call had caught Max Marshall by surprise. He had obviously not expected a fourteen-year-old to want to buy his company. The second call had been more productive. Max had had a call from Jonathan confirming the funds were in place and could be transferred that evening. When offered $15 billion dollars to just walk away with no headaches and no hassle, $2 billion of which was a sweetener, it had not taken long for Tom to get the answer he wanted.
Moments later, the story about Donald was quashed and all front pages reprinted calling on the British Government to help Donald Kennedy. Tom knew it would only buy them a couple of days before the story leaked elsewhere but that may be enough to get his parents and Saki out of prison and back to the UK. It was worth a try, $15 billion was not a lot of money to Alba.



Chapter 37


Beaumont was sitting in the oval office at 7.00 a.m. It was going to be another bad day, he could already sense it. The news had not broken and he still didn’t know why.
“Well, Mr Genius, what disaster awaits us today?” asked the President as he entered the office with the General Powers incident still on his mind. Although not enjoying Beaumont’s failures, he did like to see him taken down a peg or two.
“I take it you’ve seen the news then,” said Beaumont. “Or more correctly, the lack of it.”
“Yes, what the hell happened there?” asked the President.
“I have no idea. The news was scheduled to break this morning, the evidence is rock solid and irrefutable, we planted it ourselves. I just don’t understand it.”
The phone rang exactly on time. Beaumont hit the speaker button.
“Good morning Mr Chairman.”
“Less of the good I think. I believe we have failed spectacularly AGAIN gentlemen. This is becoming a very bad habit.” The Chairman was not impressed.
“We’re just trying to find out what happened,” explained Beaumont.
“I know what happened, you fool. Alba bought Global and killed the story. It’s all over the business news. They purchased them late last night.”
“But they can’t have, our man would have told us?”
“He didn’t know, nobody did. The son bought it for cash just like that. Spent $15 billion on it.”
“The son? But he’s only a kid?”
“Anyway, don’t worry, the story will break tomorrow. I’ve sorted it. And gentlemen, no more mistakes. Yesterday’s cock-up cost us more than you know. However, I do congratulate you, framing Donald Kennedy for the assassinations is a stroke of genius but only if it works. I suggest that after the story breaks, you arrange a very quick accident. Afterall, dead men can’t talk…”
“Consider it done Mr Chairman,” replied Beaumont.
The Chairman hung up and left the two men looking at one another.
“What did he mean more than we know?” asked Beaumont.
“I had my suspicions but he just confirmed it. Walker was a committee member. He was useless, never deserved the post but he was a useful useless if you know what I mean.”
“Yes I do,” replied Beaumont as he walked back to his office. He immediately called Smith.
“We need to finish the job tomorrow,” Beaumont explained.
“Any specific time?” asked Smith.
“As soon as possible after the story breaks. It’ll dampen the outrage if Kennedy dies as a suspected assassin.”
“No problem. Everything here is set. I’ve organised a full-blown prison riot, hundreds will be injured and killed and unfortunately Mr Donald Kennedy will be one of the dead.”
“His wife and the other guy?” asked Beaumont.
“Does it matter?”
“No, not really…actually, on second thoughts, probably best they go too.”
“OK, by tomorrow night they’ll all be history,” confirmed Smith.
Beaumont ended the call. Things were getting back on track. But he had to be careful, he had to plan for the unexpected. He called Jones and told him what he wanted him to do, better safe than sorry.



Chapter 38


Tom and Lela made it back to their classes after lunch. Their first Board Meeting had gone very well and it was now time to concentrate on school, at least for the next couple of hours.
Being back at school was as though they had never left. Lessons picked up seamlessly from where they had left off, meaning no easy introduction. By the end of the day, Tom and Lela were not just ‘first day back’ tired, they were mentally and physically exhausted. They collapsed on Tom’s bed and caught up with the news on the TV. Nothing new, the story hadn’t broken but the Guineans did not appear to be bending under British pressure.
Tom was concerned that his $15 billion gamble hadn’t paid off. He knew he couldn’t stop the story coming out at some point but he thought he might get his parents and Saki out of prison before it did. In other ways, his gamble hadn’t been such a gamble afterall. His quick cash offer, take it now or leave it, had resulted in an undervaluation of Global. In addition, he hadn’t considered the effect the purchase would have on the value of Alba which stood to gain significantly from its enhanced media interest. In fact, the finance team believed he had bought Global for a steal, around $2 billion cheaper than its true market value. Like father, like son, there was a new Donald Kennedy in the making. Although pleased that he hadn’t wasted $15 billion, he really wasn’t interested in being the new Donald, he loved the old one and wanted him back.
“I really didn’t like that Alan guy,” said Lela.
“Me neither but we’re stuck with him, it doesn’t look as though Jason will come back.”
“Surely you can get someone else, he really is horrible.”
“I know. I spoke to Jonathan after the meeting, It seems Alan’s been throwing his weight around behind my dad’s back and now that he’s not there, he thinks he’s the natural person to step up.”
“That’s outrageous! How dare he? Sack him,” said Lela who was getting into the role of boss.
“We don’t need to, apparently my intervention and buying Global without him has put him firmly back in his box. We shouldn’t have any more hassle from Alan.”
“Hmm, I’m not so sure. Women’s instincts, he’s trouble. Watch him,” replied Lela more seriously.
“OK, OK, I will,” promised Tom who knew that Lela was a very good judge of character and if her instincts said watch out, you watched out.
“Has anybody called Jason about what’s happening?” pondered Lela.
“No, it’s not his job anymore. Lela, I get the point, I’ll watch Alan like a hawk.” Tom felt the point was being laboured, the guy was just very ambitious.
“No, you idiot, about our parents being arrested!” said Lela.
“Oh sorry, yeah Jonathan spoke to him. He said it went in one ear and straight out the other.”
Before Lela had a chance to say anymore, Daniel and Tristan knocked on the door and walked in. They both looked very pale.
“We’ve got bad news and awful news, which do you want first?” asked Tristan nervously, he was obviously very uncomfortable.
Tom wasn’t sure whether he could take the awful news. He looked at Lela, she wasn’t up to either.
“Break us in gently with the bad news,” he said.
“The story about the assassinations and your dad will break tomorrow morning, it’s everywhere,” replied Tristan as gently as he could.
“If that’s the bad news, I don’t think we want the awful news,” said Lela already tearful.
Daniel turned to Tristan and nodded, that was Tristan’s signal to leave the room. Tom and Lela watched as he left and closed the door quietly behind him, the tension was unbearable.
“It’s about your parents,” started Daniel. A gasp of “Oh God” escaped from Lela. Tom sat up straight. Daniel stopped himself and thought it best to explain from the start. He started again.
“We have a system that nobody knows we have, it allows us to listen to things that nobody knows we can hear. In short, we deny it exists and will continue to deny it. In fact, that was why Tristan left, you are the only people outside a very few in the Mossad who know we have this technology. Tristan knows that I have things to tell you that no-one else can hear. After our first meeting, I had asked for your father’s name to be included as a trigger on the watch list. I just got a call to say they got a hit. A conversation was picked up between two highly secure phones. Unfortunately, one was significantly more secure than the other. However, it appears that somebody is planning to kill your father in the prison.”
“When?” Tom managed to push the question out as his whole body quaked. Somebody was behind this, it was all a set up.
“From the conversation, before tomorrow night and it may be more than your father. The conversation was only picked up when they mentioned your father and they only heard one side, the other line was too secure to get. All they got was…Donald Kennedy is one of the dead… scrambled… Does it matter…scrambled…OK by tomorrow night they’ll all be history.” Daniel had recited the message verbatim, nothing had been written down.
Tom and Lela looked at each other, neither knowing what to say. They sat staring at each other, motionless and speechless as the news sank in. After a few minutes, Daniel broke the silence.
“I’m so sorry to be the one to give you this news,” said Daniel but neither seemed to be listening. “Unfortunately, we can never discuss this again and you can’t tell anyone what I’ve just told you. The person who input your father’s name would be in a lot of trouble for doing what he’s done. Also, we can’t ever let anyone know about our listening system.”
Tom was about to agree but stopped himself. He suddenly realised the significance of what Daniel had just told them.
“But it proves they’re innocent! And that somebody else is involved!” he protested.
“I know. But nobody can know this, not from this information. You’ll have to do this another way. No evidence exists anyway, nothing is written down.”
Daniel was right.
“Do we know who they were?” asked Tom realising he hadn’t mentioned names.
“No. The voice which could be heard was digitised and untraceable. The only thing we do know is that the communication system is very advanced and only available to a small number of NATO countries.”
“So we can narrow it down?” asked Tom hopefully.
“Perhaps, I have some guys working on it but if any units have been stolen or gone missing, it could be anybody.”
“Try Rolf. If it’s made it onto the black market, he’ll know about it,” suggested Tom.
“Good idea, I’ll give him a call. What about your parents? What will you do?” asked Daniel.
“Go and get them of course,” replied Lela matter of factly. “I’ll be back in five minutes. Tom, get ready. I’ll call Kano and Kisho.” She walked off to her room.
Both Tom and Daniel were still looking at the door as she disappeared.
“She’s not joking is she?” asked Daniel.
“She doesn’t joke. I better get ready. It seems I’m going to Equatorial Guinea in five minutes.”
“Can I come?” asked Daniel.
“What?”
“Can I come? It’s only because of me that you know to go and surely the more people on your side the better.” He was almost pleading.
Tom thought for a moment. What the hell, if he wanted to come who was he to stop him? “OK, but be back here in five minutes.”
Five minutes later, everyone was back in Tom’s room. Lela had been dubious about Daniel’s involvement and told Tom that he couldn’t come until he had reappeared completely dressed in black, including balaclava and a belt around his waist which contained various implements and weapons.
“Good god Daniel, what are you doing with all that?” asked Tom.
“Standard issue my friend. Covert mission equipment,” replied Daniel proudly.
“Do you know how to use it all?” asked Lela.
“Doh, of course. This isn’t a fancy dress outfit you know,” replied an offended Daniel.
“Ok. He can come,” said Lela to Tom, surprising Daniel who hadn’t realised he might not have been. He now knew who wore the trousers in the Kennedy household.
“I just need to do one more thing before we go,” said Tom.
“What now?” asked Lela desperate to leave.
Tom looked at her and said, “you know very well what we need to do before we go.” She nodded. They had discussed the possibility earlier. Tom picked up the receiver and called Jonathan, he had become their link into the Alba empire.
“Hi Tom, how’s things?”
“Not good. I’ve just heard that the story will break tomorrow.”
“Oh no! What do you want to do?”
“I want to do what we discussed. Break the story now.”
“Are you sure?”
“Yes.” Tom put the phone down.
Within the next ten minutes, the full might of the Alba empire would break the story that evidence linked its owner to the recent assassinations.



Chapter 39


Beaumont was standing next to the podium where the White House Press Secretary was taking his morning briefing. As expected, there were a lot of questions regarding the shocking events over the weekend and the arrest of Donald Kennedy. What was the US Government doing to help him, etc. etc. Beaumont was bored. When he had booked himself into the briefing on Friday, he had expected an entirely different scenario. ‘Donald Kennedy, an assassin?’ ‘Surely not?’ blah blah blah.
He now wanted to get out of the press briefing but after making such a fuss to be there, he thought he had better stay, particularly as he wanted to be there when it broke the following morning.
He began to think about any loose ends they may have missed but there was nothing. Smith’s team would start the riot in the prison and then assist the guards in stopping it. Of course, only after the Kennedys were pumped full of bullets. He had placed Jones and his team as back up. If anything did go wrong, they would be standing by to take care of things. In fact, every eventuality was covered.
Beaumont was suddenly aware that the briefing had stopped, not because it had finished but because the room had filled with the sound of ringing phones. Everyone had their phones on silent, but emergency numbers for reporters overrode this feature. What was happening, thought Beaumont. He looked across at the press secretary who looked as lost as he was.
“Mr Press Secretary?” one of the reporters had finished his call. “Does the Whitehouse wish to comment on the story currently being run by Global Media?”
“If you’d like to tell me what the story is, I’ll be happy to comment.”
“Are you saying therefore that the Whitehouse does not wish to comment or won’t comment on the story?”
Beaumont had a feeling of dread. This had all the signs of another disaster about to happen.
“John, will you stop being obtuse and tell me the damn story you’re referring to?” said the Press Secretary to a reporter he had known for years.
“You really don’t know? Global who are owned by Alba International have just broken the story that Donald Kennedy, their owner and CEO, is the number one suspect in the recent spate of assassinations.”
“They’ve what?” blurted Beaumont a little too loudly and found himself under the media spotlight. He quickly stepped back and left the room, leaving the press secretary to deal with it. He needed to see the report. Why would they buy a channel to kill a story and then break it first? He burst into his room and selected the Global channel. He immediately went to their interactive area and selected the ‘Top Story’ banner. The story played from the beginning and Beaumont had to congratulate whoever had pulled this one off. They had given the details but in such a way to leave just enough doubt, their use of words was very clever. They had run the story to take the sting out of the tail and every other broadcaster and newspaper was now playing catch up. Global would lead the story from now on. They had been first to break it and people would now look to them as the definitive source. Very clever indeed.
“What do you think?” asked the President as he entered Beaumont’s office, pointing to the TV.
“Very smart, they’ve planted just enough doubt for the short-term but when the press start to dig, he’s had it.”
“I know, great move. How quickly can we leak the evidence we’ve got?”
“Not too quickly. If it all rushes out, we expose ourselves. It has to be slow and as though it’s only just being uncovered. That’ll probably buy a couple of days of doubt. But it’s irrelevant anyway,” replied Beaumont.
“True,” pondered the President. “In less then 24 hours, it won’t be an issue.”



Chapter 40


“So let me get this right. We’re going to land the plane at an airport 3,000 miles from here, make our way secretly to a prison we don’t know the exact location of, break in avoiding heavily armed guards, find your parents whose location in the prison is unknown, break them out avoiding heavily armed guards, find our way back to the airport and leave,” said Kano to Lela and Daniel who were in the back of the plane.
“That about sums it up,” replied Lela.
Kano shook his head. This was going to be impossible he thought. Daniel, in turn, realised that he hadn’t really thought through what they were about to do before deciding to join them and now wished he hadn’t.
Tom joined them from the flight deck.
“We just need to make a quick stop on the way, shouldn’t take long and we don’t even need to get off.”
“Fuel stop?” asked Daniel.
“Something like that,” he said disappearing back into the cockpit.
“What does he mean something like that?” asked Daniel.
“I’m sure it’s just that, don’t worry. Come and help me find the location of the prison before we lose the signal,” said Lela who was searching the internet to find the prison. However, coverage over Africa was still patchy and there was a good chance they would lose the signal at any moment.
“So what is the plan?” Kisho asked Tom as they flew towards their first destination, Owando — an airstrip in Congo.
“I reckon I’ve got the flight and ground transport covered. You guys just need to sort out the getting in and out part.”
“You do realise this is not going to be easy,” replied Kisho.
“Of course I realise but we have to try.”
“I know, I know.”
Three hours later, they were making their approach to Owando airfield. Flaming torches guided them in towards the darkened runway. Owando airport was closed, it only operated in the daylight hours. Tom could see a huddle of people awaiting their landing. Kisho also spotted an Alba International logo on a Citation X jet sitting on a taxi way. He looked across at Tom.
“What have you been up to?” he asked with a smile.
“Nothing much,” answered Tom craftily.
The landing was a little bumpier than normal. It always helped when you could see where you were going. It really was pitch black, the flaming torches offering nothing more than a rough guide to the runway’s edges. They taxied to a stop and were immediately met by a fuel tanker which began the process of refuelling the plane. Tom opened the door.
“Best everybody wait on board, I have some business to deal with and they’re not expecting anyone but me.”
“That’s the funniest thing you’ve said all day,” replied Kano. “You have two options, one you don’t go or two you go with one of us.”
Tom looked at Kano, he wasn’t kidding, this wasn’t up for debate.
“OK, I’ll take Lela,” he said. “She certainly won’t upset the locals.”
Kano looked at Kisho who, having spotted the Alba jet, was fairly confident he knew what Tom was up to. Kisho shrugged a ‘fine with him’. Lela could probably kick both he and Kano’s arses anyway. Kano nodded that this was acceptable.
Tom entered the combination for the war chest as he called it. The chest contained several hundreds of thousands of dollars in cash. It was common practice for private jets to carry a stash of cash as not all airport refuellers accepted credit cards and pilots never knew where they may be forced to land. However, it was uncommon to carry the amount held on Tom One but Donald had insisted they should have enough to buy themselves out of just about any hole they may fall in. He withdrew $150,000 before locking the safe and leaving with Lela.
A large well dressed man met him, counted the cash and nodded to his colleagues. They went straight to work and the plane shuddered under their efforts. Thirty minutes later, the men were finished and the plane was ready to go.
“Thank you again,” said Tom surveying their work. “It’s fantastic.”
“Amazing,” said Lela.
“No, no, thank you,” said the man, gesturing towards the bundle of cash.
“Not at all,” said Tom. “It’s more than worth it. You’ve been great and if there is ever anything I can do for you, please ask,” said Tom.
“It's ok, just tell young Rolf you were happy and I’ll be more than delighted.”
“Of course,” replied Tom, beginning to wonder how active young Rolf was in his father’s business. Rolf had proved, yet again, that whatever was needed, Rolf could get it and fast.
As they walked back to the aircraft, a jeep appeared and drove straight towards them. All that could be seen in the darkness were the full beams shining towards them. As Tom and Lela reached the top of the stairs to the plane, the jeep drew to a stop less than five yards away from them and killed its lights. Five men jumped out and ran towards the aircraft each dressed entirely in black. They silently ran up the stairs and slipped into the cabin before the door shut behind them. It was then that Lela, Kano and Kisho recognised them. They were four islanders from Penaraja led by Papa, Lela’s grandfather, the elder and leader of the Penarajans. Lela hugged her grandfather and refused to let go. She was very pleased to see him.
Kisho had guessed that Tom had organised some help but hadn’t expected Papa and the islanders. Tom explained that he had called Papa, they had discussed the options and agreed that there was nothing to lose by their coming and being ready, just in case. They had flown in early that morning.
Without further ado, Papa took control of the plan to break in and out of the prison. Within twenty minutes, even Kisho and Kano were beginning to think they might just pull it off.
Once the plan was agreed, Kisho and Tom got them back in the air. With less than an hour until they landed, they all began to get ready. The cash safe was not the only safe on board the plane. Befitting their status as bodyguards, Kisho and Kano also had a weapons safe. Kano punched in the code and extracted the small arsenal they had. The islanders had brought some weapons with them but preferred by far the ones on offer by Kano and Kisho.



Chapter 41


The story breaking early caught Smith off-guard. He had been told it would not break until the following morning but it broke a full 12 hours early. His men were still getting into position. He had arranged for over forty of his men to take up station with the prison guards. He wanted to ensure his plan worked. He had also arranged for ten of his toughest men to masquerade as prisoners and initiate the riot. They would ensure it lasted long enough to cover the murders of the Kennedys.
Another ten of his men were stationed at the prison’s main entrance. He didn’t want anybody getting in or out until the job was done.
Unbeknownst to Smith, Jones and his men, had also arrived that afternoon. Their plane had been escorted to a private hangar by a very bribeable customs official who chose to ignore the heavily armed men in favour of a large pile of cash. Jones’ orders were clear. He was not to let anything go wrong, if Smith failed he was to make sure that the Kennedys died. He placed his men around the perimeter of the prison, thereby throwing an additional cordon around Smith’s men. He had also left a couple of men back at the airport. Having been forced to land Alba One was still there and was effectively abandoned. Jones organised a little modification for it, as a precautionary measure.
If nothing else happened that night, the Kennedys were going to die.



Chapter 42


As they began their descent, Kisho began to feel nervous about the reception they would receive. Afterall, they were about to land in a country whose President had arrested the Kennedys for mass murder.
“Have you thought about how we’re going to cover our arrival?” asked Kisho.
“I’ve thought of everything, don’t worry, just leave it to me,” said Tom.
Two minutes later, Tom opened up the mic. to talk to the control tower at Malabo airport.
“Malabo Tower, this is Gulfstream One, can you please clear us for landing.”
“Gulfstream One, we have no notification of your arrival at Malabo, can you please confirm your airport of origin and the purpose of travel to Equatorial Guinea.”
“Malabo Tower, I would not like to be in whosever shoes has messed this one up. Our Origin was Savannah Georgia and our purpose of travel is to deliver your President’s shiny new jet. Next you’re going to tell me that a hangar’s not been made available.”
Panic ensued below them as Tom had predicted. The tower staff contacted the ground staff who quickly emptied a hangar. With no idea how big the plane was, they just emptied the biggest one available. The manager of the control tower took over the communication with the Guinean President’s new plane.
“Gulfstream One, of course you are cleared to land, runway 22 and apologies for my subordinate, he will of course be disciplined for his stupidity.”
“Thank you Malabo Tower, I’m glad we sorted that out. I didn’t want to have to fly back to Georgia tonight,” replied Tom.
“Very impressive!” said Kisho. “But you do realise that when we land we’re screwed. The Alba logo and G-TOM1 are hardly going to look presidential.”
“Hmm good point. We’ll just have to see what happens. Anyway, time to land,” said Tom cutting the discussion short as they made their final approach. They soon landed and followed an escort to the hangar set aside for them. As they came to a stop and the doors to the hangar closed behind them, Kisho opened the door to the plane and waited for the electronic staircase to unfold. The Airport Manager arrived, obviously called out of bed, for the arrival of the important new jet.
“Hi,” said Kisho expecting them to shoot him on sight for the lies Tom had told.
“Good evening Sir,” replied the manager. “What a beautiful jet for our President.”
Kisho was baffled until he followed the Manager’s gaze and looked along the side of the plane. The Equatorial Guinea flag and new tail registration looked back at him. He also noticed half a seal next to the door and assumed correctly it would be the President’s seal. Kisho kicked Tom who was standing right behind him, just out of the Manager’s view.
“May I come up and have a look?” asked the Manager.
“Impossible, I’m sorry,” responded a very stern Kisho. “The President himself has not yet seen the aircraft, I couldn’t possibly allow anybody on board before him. I’m sure you understand this protocol.”
“Of course,” replied the Manager. “I apologise for my impertinence.”
“No problem, don’t worry, the minute the President has seen it, I’m sure we can give an important man like you a proper tour,” he added in conspiratorial tone.
“Thank you, that would be a great honour.”
Tom nudged Kisho and whispered in his ear what he needed to do next.
“Now if you don’t mind, we have some things we need to prepare for the President’s visit and they must remain private until the unveiling. You know, decorations and things. A couple of jeeps from the Palace will be here shortly. Could you make sure they get straight through to us? And also ensure that we have no prying eyes?”
“Of course, consider it done,” replied the Manager who then turned around and left the hangar while barking orders to his subordinates to ensure the President’s men were not disturbed.
Tom made a call giving the green light for the trucks to arrive.
Ten minutes later, the doors of the hangar parted briefly and two completely blacked out Lincoln Navigators sped in. The drivers introduced themselves as friends of ‘young Rolf’ and were at their disposal for whatever they needed. Tom really wanted to ask what Rolf was up to, it seemed these guys worked for him and not his father.
The plane’s passengers emptied into the two large jeeps, five jumping into each one. They kept Rolf’s drivers but the two men who had accompanied the drivers jumped out and boarded the plane. They would ensure that nobody came snooping while the others were away. Tom wondered whether they would crack his safe while he was away, they certainly looked the type.
Two minutes later, they were on the main road and covering the 8 mile run to the prison very quickly when suddenly, the lead jeep stopped, pulling to a skid at the side of the road.
Papa jumped out and walked back to the second jeep which had similarly ground to halt.
“OK, everybody out, we go across ground from here.”
“But we’re still over a mile away,” protested Tom.
“Everybody but you two that is,” said Papa pointing to Tom and Daniel.
“No, wait a minute, I have to come, I’m not staying here…” Tom looked at Papa’s face and realised that it wasn’t up for debate. He stopped arguing, he had already gone too far. Papa’s instructions were not to be questioned.
“Lela, you can stay or come, you won’t hold us back,” said Papa. Lela looked across at Tom. She didn’t like the fact that she could go and he couldn’t. Tom nodded his approval.
“I’ll come, thank you.”
“What about me?” asked Daniel. “I feel all dressed up with nowhere to go.” He was as disappointed as Tom.
“I want you to use that fancy communication kit you brought and see if you can listen into the guards and let us know what they’re up to.”
“Cool. No problem,” said Daniel.
The islanders jogged off into the night, disappearing immediately, despite the moonlight.
“Where did they go?” asked Daniel.
“They’re there, it’s just they don’t want you to see them,” said Tom.
“Who the hell are they anyway?”
“That, my friend, is a very long story but right now you should be listening into your device.”
Daniel took the hint and quickly set up his kit and began to scan through frequencies and bandwidths that could carry voices. Digitised, encrypted or not, his little piece of kit could hear just about anything within a three mile range.
Lela and the islanders quickly covered the ground to the prison. Dressed in black and using their surroundings for cover, they were almost invisible. As they neared the prison, they stopped. Breaking in wasn’t going to be their first problem. Just reaching the prison was. The prison perimeter was surrounded by soldiers, heavily armed and very professional. Kano and Kisho had scouted ahead and came back with the bad news.
“It’s going to be difficult, they’ve taken up excellent positions and they’re very well equipped,” said Kano to Papa.
“So how do we get past them? We can’t afford to kill any Guineans. That would give them something to arrest Donald for.” Papa was struggling to know what to do.
“Wait a minute. They’re not Guineans, absolutely no way. They’re far too well trained and their kit is state of the art. That is one very expensive private army, mercenaries I would say,” replied Kano.
“How good?” asked Papa.
“As good as I’ve seen. They nearly spotted me!” exclaimed Kano.
“How many?”
“Probably 40 around the perimeter and another 10 at the gates. The strange thing is though, I would swear that the guys on the gate don’t know about the soldiers on the perimeter.”
“My main concern isn’t getting in, it’s getting out with Rachel and Donald,” said Papa who didn’t need to worry about Saki.
“Papa, come in Papa,” called Daniel into the radio.
“Yes Daniel, what’s wrong?” replied Papa into his two-way headset. All the islanders would be able to hear what was said.
“I think you’ve been spotted,” replied Daniel. Papa immediately looked to Kano and Kisho who shook their heads.
“Impossible Daniel. We can see the bad guys and there’s only the sea behind us.”
“Well whoever they are can see Lela. Somebody just mentioned that they could swear that was a girl.”
Papa looked over at Lela. Whoever had spotted them was behind them. Papa had Lela surrounded, just in case, and the only place she was visible was from the sea. He looked around again.
“I’ll call you back Daniel. Keep tracking them.”



Chapter 43


Donald and Saki were pacing in their cell. It was 1.00 a.m. but neither felt like sleeping. It had been a very strange day, something was brewing and a dangerous atmosphere hung in the air. The cell next to theirs which had previously been empty had been filled with four new prisoners who could not have looked more out of place if they had tried. During their afternoon exercise, the mens’ eyes betrayed their training. They were professional soldiers and good ones. They had also brought a number of friends into the prison. Saki had counted at least another six so of them. In addition Donald and Saki had noticed a number of new guards, surprisingly similar in stature and training to the new prisoners.
The tension amongst the prison community was palpable. With no ‘boss’ prisoner to keep the peace, turf wars were being fought and old scores settled. The new prisoners seemed to be taking a great interest in these and somehow getting involved and even stirring an already explosive atmosphere.
It did not take a genius to work out that an attempt was going to be made on their lives, under the cover of a prison riot. Saki knew it and Donald knew it. Fortunately, Rachel didn’t. They could hear shouts already. Things were beginning to happen, it wouldn’t be long. The shouts began to grow both in volume and number.
“What can we do?” asked Donald.
“Nothing. When it starts, we just need to get to Rachel and you stay behind me, OK.”
They didn’t have long to wait, the shouts soon grew to screams as the first bout of fighting began.



Chapter 44


“I see them,” said Kano. “They’re just on the edge of the beach.”
“How many?” asked Papa.
They had all dropped to the ground and were now moving away from the point where they had been spotted. All except for Kano and Kisho, who had moved towards the sea to try to see who was there.
“About fifteen, hold on, they’re coming towards me.” He stopped transmitting. He and Kisho lay still as they watched the soldiers move past them.
The soldiers were all dressed in black covert operations’ gear and had thermal imaging equipment although it appeared they were happy not to use it. They carried a mixture of weapons some with MP5 silenced submachine guns, some with HK416 machine rifles complete with added grenade launchers. Two of the soldiers were equipped with L96A1 sniper rifles and all carried Browning Hi-Power pistols as they moved quietly and swiftly across the sand.
Just as they were passing, Kisho stood up. All fifteen soldiers saw him and instantly levelled their weapons ready to fire.
“Not by strength, by guile,” whispered Kisho. Kano understanding what he was doing, stood up also.
“Who the hell are you mate?” asked one of the soldiers.
“On your side I think. We’re here to get Donald Kennedy out. You?” replied Kisho.
“I can’t say,” replied the soldier smiling, “what unit?” he asked.
“Penarajans,” responded Kisho, knowing these were some of the only men in the British forces who would know what he meant.
“Phew! Thank God you recognised us, or we’d all be dead. We’re the SBS mate. Good to have you onboard,” replied the soldier who was the leader of the team. “How many of you are there?”
“Eight,” replied Kisho.
“Jesus, I’ve never seen more than two of you guys in battle at once and that was a sight to be seen, eight of you guys must be like a bloody tornados hit.”
That was praise indeed. The SBS, the Special Boat Service, was the lesser known of the UK Special Forces and some believed the best. You could only gain entry after three years’ service in the Royal Marines which in itself had a 30 week recruitment procedure seen as the toughest in the world. After volunteering for the SBS, the volunteer would have to pass the SAS selection and it didn’t stop there. They could then choose to join the SAS or continue on to the SBS additional selection procedure. Failure rate was in the 90 % region, leaving only the toughest soldiers to join the small, secretive and extremely capable unit.
“We spotted some soldiers on the way in but there was a young girl with them, so it couldn’t be you guys. Have you seen them?”
“That was us, you spotted our cousin, Lela,” said Kano.
The looks said it all. What the hell were they doing bringing a girl along?
“Trust me,” he said. “She could kick each and every one of your arses, and ours and I don’t mean separately, I mean at once.”
Kisho could see their incredulous looks.
“He’s not kidding, she’s unbelievable, I’ve never seen anything like it.”
The SBS soldiers who had experience of the Penarajans looked at them in awe. The others continued to look at them as though they were mad.
“Kano, Kisho, what’s happening where are you?” called Papa over the radio.
Kisho called back. “We have some help, there’s a squad of SBS soldiers down here.”
“What the hell do they want?”
The SBS soldier overheard him.
“Tell him we come courtesy of the UK Prime Minister, he wants Mr Kennedy released sooner than the Guineans are willing.”
Kisho began to answer. “I heard him,” interrupted Papa. “Are they any good?”
The SBS squad heard the question and waited for Kisho to answer, this should be interesting they thought. How did the Penarajans rate them?
“Very,” replied Kisho knowing Papa’s next question would be easier to answer.
“Ratio?” Papa asked. This was code for their rating of the unit in respect to Penarajans, one Penarajan equalled how many of the other. More simply, it meant how many of them would it take to beat an average Penarajan.
“Four,” replied Kisho. Bloody hell thought Papa as he was given the lowest ratio he had ever been given. It was normally around ten for an average Penarajan. Of course, none of the Penarajans who had travelled to Equatorial Guinea were in the average category. They were way above average with a couple of exceptionals. Lela didn’t figure in the ratings, she had gone off the chart the previous year and was, well, just Lela.
Suddenly, the rest of the islanders, including Lela, appeared next to them. A couple of the SBS soldiers jumped as the islanders just seemed to materialise from thin air. They all took a crafty glance at Lela, trying to imagine how she could possibly kick their arses.
Papa quickly took control and scoped out the current situation. The SBS were shocked to hear the number and quality of soldiers protecting the prison. They had anticipated a very simple break-in and a fairly easy extraction. Papa then laid out his proposed plan. The SBS looked it over and soon agreed that it was very cleverly conceived. They called into London to get the OK as they were deviating substantially from their original plan.



Chapter 45


The riot had started. The noise of shouting and screaming was building up as the prisoners rampaged through their cell blocks. A guard ran down the Kennedys’ corridor and began to unlock the cells. He wasn’t even trying to hide what he was doing. The four prisoners next to Donald and Saki’s cell wasted no time and pulled their cell door open. Saki stood ready. He was delighted they had come to them first. His biggest worry had been Rachel in the next cell. If their door had remained locked and hers open, they would have been in big trouble.
The four men filled the cell. If there were any doubts as to their intentions, they soon vanished as they each pulled out a long combat knife. The first man made a move, pushing Saki out of his way to get to Donald. Saki looked as though he wasn’t reacting but out of sight of the man’s colleagues, he threw a short but huge punch to the centre of the man’s chest causing his heart to just stop. The man’s body fell to the floor, dead before making contact with the concrete. Not seeing what had happened, the other three just looked on in bewilderment as their colleague slumped to the floor. Saki gave them a fraction of a second to regret their inaction before inflicting fatal wounds on them. One from a severed spinal cord and two from severe head traumas. Saki had high kicked the second man in at the base of the skull before smashing the other twos’ heads together as he spun back to the ground.
Donald had to be guided out of the room by Saki as he stood gawping at Saki’s aftermath. As they made their way into Rachel’s cell, gunshots started to ring.



Chapter 46


“We’ve got the OK,” announced the SBS leader.
“Excellent, let’s go,” said Papa.
Lela radioed Tom and Daniel to let them know that Britain had sent over the SBS to rescue Donald and that they were now working together.
Good old Roger, thought Tom hearing the news. Despite the assassination story, the British Prime Minister had sent in troops to rescue his father. He couldn’t help think that the Guineans must have really annoyed him or did the UK have the same listening system as the Mossad? He thought how ironic it would be if they all had it and all thought they were the only ones who could hear everything. Tom could see by the look on Daniel’s face that he was thinking the same thing.
“Good luck and be safe,” he radioed back to Lela.
Lela didn’t respond, she was in the process of receiving her instructions. The islanders would sneak through the perimeter, enter the prison and secure the Kennedys. Meanwhile, the SBS would create mayhem on the outside and take out the guards at the gate and the perimeter, allowing the islanders to emerge with the Kennedys and get them out to the airport.
Shouting could be heard from the prison and it was obvious that things were becoming restless. Papa was very keen to get moving but at the same time, wanted to make sure that the SBS knew where they would be. He didn’t want to plan this operation perfectly and end up getting shot by friendly fire. It didn’t take long for everybody to know exactly what they were doing. The islanders and SBS split up, the islanders disappearing into the night on their way to the prison and the SBS to take up offensive positions against the perimeter guard.
It was not an easy route into the prison. Despite the islanders’ ability to disappear into the night, the highly trained perimeter guards had sensed their presence but could not see them. Fortunately, the islanders made it to the prison wall undetected and huddled in position. Two prison guards protected the small side gate which allowed the islanders easiest access. There were two watchtowers which also protected that portion of the wall but it was clearly not manned by normal prison guards. Their sniper rifles were easily worth $30,000 and were certainly not standard issue. Papa signalled to the SBS that they had a problem. A second later, two almost inaudible “puts” were the only indication that the watchtower guards were no longer an issue, having been dispatched by SBS snipers.
While the watchtower guards had been taken out, Kano and Kisho had been dealing with the guards at the gate. They had slammed the handles of their pistols into the base of the guards’ skulls, rendering them unconscious. Thankfully, the shouts and screams from inside the prison had covered the noise of the small explosive charge used to open the gate and allow the islanders into the prison.
As they opened the gate, a swarm of prisoners rushed towards them. Papa could not afford to let the prisoners go just yet as they would create confusion on the outside and interfere with the SBS task.
“Keep them in,” he ordered, holding onto Lela’s hand, she was staying there next to him.
Kano, Kisho and the other four islanders rushed forward towards the mass of prisoners. Within two minutes, the flow had reversed and the prisoners, recognising Saki’s skills backed off, leaving behind a few wounded bodies. Papa left two islanders to guard the gate, nobody was leaving until he said they could. Kano picked up one of the unfortunate prisoners who had tried to leave but he didn’t speak English. He tried another, neither did he. As he made his way to the next wounded prisoner, a shout came from the group of prisoners who had been forced back.
“I speak English,” the prisoner shouted.
“Do you know where they are keeping two men and a woman?” asked Kano.
“Yes but what do we get in return for telling you?”
“Your freedom but not just yet. The prison is surrounded, you’d be shot the minute you put your head through the gate.”
“When then?”
“When we leave, we’ll leave the gate open for you.”
“OK, they’re in that building there, top floor far end,” said the prisoner pointing to the next block where 10 guards and six prisoners were seen entering.
“Quick,” shouted Kano. “Let’s go!”
The first gunshots of the night rang out. Not from outside but inside the prison and the tell-tale gun flash told them that it came from the top floor of the building they’d just been directed to.



Chapter 47


Donald and Saki rushed into Rachel’s cell just as she screamed. The guard who had unlocked the cells had come back to pay her a visit. Saki tapped him on the shoulder and as the guard turned around, Saki smiled and delivered a punch so hard that the guard’s jaw shattered. The snap of the bone ricocheted around the bare stone walls of the cell as the guard dropped to the floor. It would be a long time before he was back on solids. Saki then noticed that it was his friend with the fancy gun, the small sub machine gun. He grabbed it along with the spare cartridges and ran back to the cell door.
Donald grabbed Rachel and hugged her.
“What now?” she sobbed.
“We stay behind Saki,” replied Donald remembering his instructions.
Saki looked down the corridor. It wasn’t good. There were 10 guards working their way slowly and carefully down the corridor towards them. Saki considered their options, they didn’t have any. All he could do was hold them off as long as possible and hope for a miracle. He pointed the gun down the corridor and sent a barrage of bullets towards the guards. They were still quite far away but he did manage to hit three of them. Three down, seven to go. As well as reducing their number, he had slowed them down and they would be even more careful now.
“What’s happening?” asked Donald.
“There were 10 of the new guards we spotted earlier coming towards us.”
“What? Did you get them?” asked Donald hopefully.
“Now there are seven,” replied Saki. He then paused for a second and put his hand up, indicating quiet.
“There are more coming, I can hear feet pounding up the other staircase. They’ll be surrounding us soon,” he whispered.
“What do they want?” asked Rachel.
“I don’t know,” lied Donald.



Chapter 48


The two SBS snipers, having taken care of the watchtower guards, moved back to their initial targets. The suggestion that the gate guards didn’t know about the perimeter guards was accurate. The SBS soldiers had observed the same uncoordinated behaviour and as suggested by Papa, were going to try something a little out of the ordinary.
They lined up their shots and waited for the Go command from their leader.
“Ready…ready…fire!”
As the order came through, they both pressed their triggers. The bullets hit just one second apart. Although they did not kill their targets, the shots were accurate and perfectly timed.
One of the guards at the gate screamed as a bullet struck his shoulder, just glancing off the bone, causing no real damage but resulting in the guard being thrown to the ground in excruciating pain. The gate guards reacted to their colleague’s distress and frantically looked around to discover what had happened.
As they reacted to the first shot, the same wound befell a perimeter guard within their sights. The gate guards were so stunned to see somebody so close to their position that they didn’t even wonder how the injuries had been inflicted. No gunshots had been heard other than those inside the prison which they had been told to ignore. The gate guards, unaware that Jones’ men were officially guarding the perimeter, opened fire on the screaming perimeter guard, killing him and two of his colleagues. Before they knew what was happening, a major fire fight erupted between the two teams of guards. Jones’s men, who were aware of Smith’s team, had no means of communicating with them and had no option but to fire back. It didn’t take long before the two remaining watchtower snipers entered the fray and began to pick off Jones’ team using their thermal night scopes.
The SBS team just sat back and waited. They weren’t going to risk being shot in the crossfire. The SBS snipers, however, continued their efforts and helped Smith’s men pick off the perimeter guards.
Eventually, Smith and Jones were made aware of what was happening and instructed their respective units to stop firing. But over half the guards were already dead. It was a complete disaster. Smith and Jones were screaming at each other.
Meanwhile, the SBS leader gave the signal to his men. They moved forward and dealt with the remaining men, taking advantage of the confusion.
The escape route was clear.



Chapter 49


The islanders split into two groups. Papa and his three islanders in one group and Kisho, Kano and Lela in the other. Papa’s group took one side of the building and Lela’s group took the other. They raced up the stairs. Lela’s group went towards the gunfire and Papa’s went towards the guards and prisoners they had followed in.
Papa’s group caught up quickly with the guards and prisoners, the narrow staircase allowing the islanders to work their way through them without alerting those in front. Within two minutes, sixteen men lay across the staircase in varying degrees of agony, each having been plucked from the tail of the group and dealt with.
Lela, Kisho and Kano didn’t have such an easy time. They raced to the top of the stairs and found themselves at one end of a very long corridor. Between them and the Kennedys were 7 heavily armed men in excellent defensive positions. Kano and Kisho made it very clear that under no circumstances was Lela to follow them. She grudgingly agreed.
As Kisho and Kano began to make their way down the corridor, a burst of gunfire had them diving out of the way, narrowly missing them.
“Did they see us?” whispered Kisho.
“No. It came from beyond them, it may have been Uncle Saki,” replied Kano.
“Perfect. We fly 3,000 miles to rescue him and he bloody shoots at us!”
“He’s shooting at them,” said Kano pointing at the guards.
“I know that but he’s still the one shooting and we’re the ones getting shot at.”
“Come on,” said Kano leading the way.
As they neared the seven guards, they could see where Saki was hiding. His gun nozzle appeared again briefly and he sent another ten bullets flying down the corridor. Seeing the movement this time, Kisho and Kano were out of the way before the bullets whizzed past them. They moved again and got closer to the 7 guards. They dealt with them quickly and quietly and moved along the line until only one guard was left. Unaware of his single status, the lone guard, looking intently towards Saki’s cell, gestured for his colleagues to follow and whispered, “come on, let’s kill them now.”
“I think not,” said Kisho grabbing the guard’s hand and snapping his wrist, before knocking him unconscious.
“Uncle Saki, we’re clear!” shouted Kisho as Papa stuck his head round the door at the other end of the corridor.
“About bloody time, we’ve been here for three days you know,” smiled Saki as he prepared to catch Lela who was running, ready to jump into his arms. She quickly disengaged and did exactly the same to Rachel and Donald.
“Where’s Tom?” asked Rachel not sure whether she could be completely relieved.
“He’s fine. He’s waiting in the jeep,” replied Lela, causing Rachel to burst into tears with relief.
Five minutes later, they were waiting outside for Tom to appear with the jeeps. After an emotional reunion, they headed to the airport. On securing them into the jeeps, the SBS did not hang around. They had a submarine waiting for them 12 miles off-shore and they had no intention of missing it. Similarly, the prisoners did not hang around and made a run for it through the open gate.
It was obvious that the message had got out and that the authorities knew something was wrong. Helicopters and soldiers were swarming towards the prison. Their initial orders to ignore any noise from the prison were suddenly retracted and replaced by orders to get there as quickly as possible.
The jeep pulled into the airport before anyone knew that the Kennedys were missing. Alba One sat dormant at one end of the runway. However, she was fully fuelled and ready to go. Her crew had been held in a nearby hotel and on receiving a call from Tom, they had rushed to the airport, boarded and prepped her for flight. Everything bar the lights were on.
They had not stopped talking since they had got into the jeep but as they neared Alba One, Donald turned to Tom and Lela.
“Nobody can know you were ever here. You need to get back to school asap.”
“I know, it’s our best alibi,” replied Tom who knew they would have to go their separate ways.
“Look, we’ll work all this out,” said Donald, now a fully fledged international fugitive.
“Where are you going?” asked Tom, knowing that the UK was an option. Afterall, the PM had just authorised a mission to rescue him.
“I’m not sure, anywhere but here.”
“Dad, just one quick question. Why did you land in Equatorial Guinea? It wasn’t on your itinerary.”
Donald looked at Tom, how could he not know?
“We were forced to land. Two Mig 29s, I think that’s what Jim told us they were, threatened to shoot us down if we didn’t land. Didn’t Jim tell you?” asked Donald surprised.
“No we couldn’t get hold of him. The first time I managed to speak to him was tonight.”
“Well you best fly nice and low, I know we will,” said Donald.
They said their goodbyes and the senior Kennedys made their way up the steps of the darkened plane. The jeeps dropped off the rest of its passengers in the hangar and picked up their two original passengers. They had already removed the offending registration and Equatorial Guinea flag from the plane, returning it to its original plain white.
Both planes powered up in darkness and took off. They didn’t bother with permission from Traffic Control as it wouldn’t have been granted anyway. They stayed close together until they cleared Guinean airspace. Jim suggested that Tom climb and continue as normal. Alba One was the target and there was no point drawing attention to himself. Alba One, however continued on its low level flight, remaining in darkness as it powered East across Africa, skimming tree tops.



Chapter 50


Jones’ ears were still ringing. Smith had ordered him to report immediately to the Guinean presidential palace. He reminded him that he was his boss and what the hell was he thinking not telling him he was there. He held Jones personally responsible for over 50 deaths and more importantly, the Kennedys’ escape.
Jones double checked that the Kennedys were definitely missing before heading to the palace. This was not good. He was escorted to the Guinean’s President’s office where an extremely angry Guinean President and Smith awaited him.
“Well?” Smith asked.
“They’ve gone,” replied Jones.
“Damn, I’ll have to report that we lost them. The boss will go berserk.”
“What, you’ve not reported it yet?” asked Jones, seeing a glimmer of hope.
“No, I was waiting for confirmation from you. There was always a chance that our men had secured them somewhere,” replied Smith.
Jones could not believe this gift from the Gods. He smiled, pulled out his gun complete with silencer and shot Smith through the heart. The Guinean President was stunned and just stared at the gasping Smith who looked in bewilderment at the hole in his chest. Jones then turned to the President and pulling out a smaller pistol, shot him once in the head, the noise no louder than a cough. His body slumped forward onto his desk. Smith fell to the floor and watched as Jones placed the larger gun in the President’s hand and the small assassin’s pistol in Smith’s paralysed hand. He then placed a wallet in Smith’s inside pocket.
Smith was just able to hear Jones’ commentary.
“Mr Kennedy’s assassin caught in the act, well done Mr President.”
Smith guessed the wallet would contain a passport with customs stamps which would tally with most of the assassinations and no doubt a strong link to Alba. Jones always was a clever bastard.
Jones surveyed the room, moved a couple of pieces of furniture and when perfect, walked over to the window.
The last words Smith ever heard were “And by the way don’t worry about the Kennedys, their plane has a very nasty surprise in store for them.”



Part Four



Chapter 51


Two weeks later
The funeral was as busy as expected but the real mourners were few. Only the first three aisles of the vast church held family and friends. The rest of the church was packed full with the world’s media. Tom looked up, he couldn’t understand what they expected to see. There were three simple caskets for his mother, his father and Saki. Lela sat next to him, she had not left his side since the news had come through that Alba One had crashed leaving no survivors.
The media had gone wild for the story, Donald Kennedy was dead. Rachel had managed little more than a mention by most of the press, whereas Saki was suspected of being the ‘other assassin’. The assassin found dead alongside the Equatorial Guinean President accounted for two thirds of the world leaders who were killed. Speculation was that Saki was responsible for the other third.
With the death of the assassins and their mastermind, came a renewed feeling of security amongst remaining world leaders. As each day passed, more evidence came to light proving beyond doubt Donald’s guilt. Slowly but surely, leaders became more willing to emerge into the public eye. The British Prime Minister was seen in public for the first time in over a month.
The call Tom received before the funeral had been a crushing blow, the Prime Minister would not be attending. His diary would not permit, he had tried but he just couldn’t make it. With that rejection, a flood of rejections followed and before long, the funeral party dwindled to Tom, Lela, Tom’s grandparents, Papa and the islanders and a few key staff from Alba.
Alba was also suffering badly. A worldwide backlash against the ‘assassin’s company’ resulted in a major slump in business. Speculation in the press suggested that the only option was to break up the company and sell it off before the loss of millions of jobs.
Tom and Lela had spent the previous two weeks on the Kennedy estate. The tragic news had been broken to them as they landed at The Academy, on their return from rescuing their parents. They did not even get off the plane. They refuelled and went straight home. Papa and the islanders whose jet was waiting for them at the school, stayed with them and had been with them ever since. Tom’s grandparents joined them at the estate and they all virtually disappeared from life outside. Tom and Lela were inconsolable.
The press had camped at the gates and every time any of them strolled too close to the walls, the Rottweillers went mad. On many occasions, Tom considered opening the gates and letting the dogs loose on them. Lela had stopped him twice just as he was about to push the button.
Tom looked around again at the mourners. There really weren’t many people at all. Some Alba executives were there but Tom thought they just wanted to talk to him, he had been avoiding them, ignoring their calls. His father’s personal assistant was there. She still refused to believe the nonsense about Donald and was devastated. George, Alba’s doorman from Head Office, was also there. He had been with the company for over 26 years, since the day it started. Donald had often said that George was the only real gentleman in the company and often recounted the story of when he was sixteen and had pulled up to the front door of the building in a limousine. He was there to announce that he was the anonymous owner of Alba. George had opened the car door and treated Donald like any other gentleman. Nobody else did that day, everybody else had treated Donald like some stupid kid having a laugh.
As the ceremony was about to start, a commotion was heard at the back of the church. People were being pushed and shoved forward. This was all they needed, thought Tom, the press fighting over photographs of empty caskets, their parents’ bodies were at the bottom of the Indian Ocean.
“Get out of my way and get that bloody thing out of my face!” barked a man in broken English. Mr Sakamoto did not like the press and fought past the crowd of photographers. Tom and Lela turned around to see him followed by twenty or so of their school-friends including Tristan, Zach, Daniel, Chen, Mingmei and Mia. They took their seats behind Tom and Lela, all mouthing their apologies for being late. After just a brief glimpse they noticed how pale and thin they both looked.
The Academy students were not the only surprise guests at the funeral. Just after the first commotion, photographers scrambled to take advantage of the best photo opportunity of the day. General Powers, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff of the USA strode in, accompanied by the Vice President of the USA.



Chapter 52


Beaumont had managed to find a channel showing live pictures of the Kennedys’ funeral, beamed from the UK. He watched as the broadcasters discussed and commented on one of the world’s most notorious assassins. Oh how the mighty have fallen, he thought. Three weeks earlier, not a bad word could be said against Mr Donald Kennedy. He was the media’s darling, the perfect employer, the man with the Midas touch.
He was just about to switch the TV off as a group of kids barged into the church, closely followed by General Powers and the Vice President. What the hell did they think they were doing?
He immediately went to see the President to ask whether he was aware that the Vice President and Chief of the Military were about to cause the nation huge embarrassment. Attending the funeral of a mass murderer was simply not acceptable and a note to this effect had been sent out from the President himself. In addition, any other government attending would, by default, insult the US government. The UK Prime Minister, in particular, had reacted very badly to the US’ position and less than subtle message to the world. Donald had been a good friend and the allegations against him were preposterous. However, he had no choice but to bow to the pressure. Poor diplomatic relations with the US could result in a trade war and a loss of many British jobs. So for political reasons only, the funeral would be avoided.
Beaumont was very pleased with the international reaction as it further suggested that the evidence against Donald Kennedy was true, another nail in his coffin.
Attendance by the Vice President, however, was going to humiliate the President and the US.



Chapter 53


After the funeral, the mourners returned to the Kennedy Estate. Tom and Lela pulled themselves together. They had friends who had travelled six thousand miles to be with them so they had to be strong.
“Tom, Lela, I just wanted to say I’m so sorry for your loss. The Vice President had to dash off to a meeting but asked me to offer you his sincere condolences,” said General Powers.
“Thank you Sir and please thank the Vice President, his attendance was most unexpected,” answered Tom for both of them, Lela was still very emotional.
“Son, one other thing. I knew your father very well and this assassin stuff is just complete bullshit. If you need anything and I mean anything, you give me a call,” said the General handing Tom his card with every conceivable number he could be contacted on. “ I mean it son, anything. ” Tom noticed how much he emphasised the word ‘anything’ and took the card.
“Thanks again Sir, I’ll keep that in mind.”
“Good, you do that. I’m sorry but I also have to leave. I’ll quickly say goodbye to Zach and be on my way.”
Tom and Lela spent the next hour chatting to their friends and discovering that their lateness was due to the arrival of the Vice President at the airport. The plane from The Academy had been instructed to wait until the Vice President had landed and disembarked before they could land.
The executives from Alba continued to hover. Tom had avoided them all afternoon and to be fair to them, they had given him some space. However, they clearly needed to speak to him and Jonathan, the Head of Legal, eventually approached him. Tom was not looking forward to the conversation, he had read the reports in the papers, Alba was not doing well.
“Hi, Tom, I’m so sorry about everything that’s happened. Is there is anything I can help you with?”
“No, thank you. And I’m sorry that I haven’t called you back…”
“Don’t even think about. You’ve got more to worry about than speaking to us.”
“How are things, I’ve seen the headlines, is it really bad?”
“It’s fine, don’t worry. The guys will keep things ticking over until you know what you want to do,” said Jonathan.
“Thanks but Alan has been calling and leaving messages about having to decide what I want to do quickly because offers are being made which may not last?”
“He’s what?!” exclaimed Jonathan, genuinely shocked. He knew that Alan was a nightmare but this was just too much.
“It’s OK,” said Tom. “I think perhaps it’s time that I should start getting more involved anyway. I can’t let my dad’s baby just fall apart, he wouldn’t want that,” said Tom, realising that he had to accept the situation and that it was time to move on.
“What about school?” asked Jonathan. “Your parents would expect you to finish your education.”
“Of course. But not yet. Maybe next week. There’s a trip to Machu Picchu in Peru. Maybe we’ll join them there, we’re not sure yet,” replied Tom, looking across at Lela. She had calmed down and in the company of old friends was beginning to look like her old self.
“OK, sounds good,” said Jonathan. “But seriously, don’t worry about the company, it’s fine.”
“No, I need to face up to it, he’s not coming back. I’ll be in tomorrow at 8.00 a.m. Could you please call a board meeting?”
“Of course,” replied Jonathan who left to tell his fellow executives to be in at 8.00 a.m. for a special board meeting.
Tom returned to his friends, Daniel seemed very keen to talk to him.
“Hi Tom, how are you doing?” he asked.
“Been better, I have to say.”
“Understandable. If there’s anything I can do, please don’t hesitate to ask.”
“Thanks.”
“Any ideas or clues as to who’s really behind the assassinations?” Daniel lowered his voice as he asked the question.
“Yes, I think perhaps it was my dad afterall.”
“What?!” exclaimed Daniel almost dropping his glass. “How can you say that?! You know someone was trying to kill him. What’s come over you?”
“We don’t know for sure that someone was trying to kill him. You relayed a message to me and we saw a heavily guarded prison. It doesn’t prove anything. I’ve also received this,” said Tom pulling out his phone from his pocket. He showed Daniel the text he had received.
Daniel read the screen. It said “NOTHING IS AS IT SEEMS — TRUST NO ONE — I ONLY PRAY YOU CAN FORGIVE US XXX- 9315502302225.”
“Who’s it from?” he asked.
“My dad.”
“When?”
“The time tallies with just before Alba One crashed.”
“Bloody hell!” said Daniel.
“Yep. Why would he ask for forgiveness if he hadn’t done anything wrong?”
“What are those numbers at the end?”
“Just gibberish. I think he must have lost control as his plane was about to crash into the Ocean. It’s amazing that he managed to press the Send button.”
“Come on, Tom. You can’t think like that. The guys in our group are still working through their contacts. Something will come up, you’ll see.”
Daniel tried to cheer Tom up but it wasn’t working. In fact, reading the message again had stirred up a lot of emotion in Tom. He just wanted to scream WHY????? But he couldn’t. The room was full of people. Tom and Lela agreed that they needed some space, they were becoming overwhelmed. Tom’s grandparents sensed this and thanked the guests for attending but asked if they wouldn’t mind, finishing their drinks as Tom and Lela needed some rest. Everybody quickly and quietly put their drinks down and left, except for Alan, the CFO, who made a beeline for Tom.
“Tom, can I have a quick word?”
Tom looked at him coldly.
“What do you want Alan?”
“Just two minutes?”
“You’ll have it tomorrow, not now. Please leave Alan.”
“But?”
Lela stepped in. This guy really was a pain in the neck.
“Not now,” she said firmly, stepping in front of Tom.
Alan backed off.



Chapter 54


The US President was fuming. He had never experienced such a wilful act of betrayal. He could understand why General Powers had attended the funeral but as for the Vice President, that was unforgivable.
Beaumont had woken him up to tell him the news, holding the phone away from his ear as the President let rip.
Beaumont was summoned to the Oval office thirty minutes later. The President had needed time to calm down before making the call to the VP. They discussed the options and how to handle the call, the VP was no fool. He was always out to win brownie points and that was why his actions seemed so strange. Why would he go out of his way to attend the funeral of a public hate figure, in direct contravention of the President’s instructions?
The President hit the speed dial and the phone’s speaker began to buzz.
“Hello, Mr President,” replied the VP.
“Mr Vice President, may I ask what the hell you think you’re doing in Glasgow?”
The VP had been expecting the call.
“I was paying my respects to a former business colleague,” he replied cheerily.
“He’s responsible for assassinating half the world’s leaders,” screamed the President.
“Bullshit. That man probably never even killed a fly. I know it and you know it. Half the damn scumbags who didn’t show up at the funeral know it,” said the VP calmly.
The President suddenly became wary. Afterall, the VP had spent the day with General Powers.
“Do you know something we don’t?”
“Of course not. If I did, you’d know about it.”
“So what the hell are you doing sullying your name and our country at the funeral?”
“Trust me, the only people sullied and who will rue today, are those who didn’t attend. I can’t imagine the world’s richest and largest company is going to forget those who didn’t honour its founder and father,” said the VP, choosing his words carefully. “I never let you down Mr President. Good press will come from this, trust me.”
The President didn’t know what to say. The VP had put up a very good response and ultimately he was right. Donald Kennedy was going to be proven innocent soon, the final round of assassinations was not far away. But the VP was not aware of this and so he could not let the point go, the VP would smell a rat if he did.
“I don’t care what you think. The point was that you were asked not to attend the funeral. Your attendance is going to embarrass me, particularly amongst the world leaders to whom I suggested they not attend. The UK Prime Minister has already called.” He picked up the message from his desk and read it out.
“ Can you get the hypocritical bastard to call me back asap. And I’m expecting quite a few more like this,” said the President.
“That’s all very well but nobody informed my office that the funeral was a no go area,” said the VP.
The President snapped his head towards Beaumont who could only shrug, he hadn’t thought for a second he’d need to tell the VP.
“Well you should have been. I’ll call you back. I’ve got another call coming in,” said the President, hitting the button to end the call.
“That went well,” he said sarcastically.
“I’m sorry but I never thought he’d want to go,” said Beaumont.
“To be fair, neither did I,” replied the President more rationally. “But actually, he’s right. And he’ll benefit from this when we finish off the other leaders. I can hear him now, I always knew the stories were garbage, ” mocked the President.
“Yes but maybe he is right. Perhaps we can gain from this. I could start a rumour that you asked him to attend,” offered Beaumont.
“That depends. What’s the timing for the next assassinations?”
“Two weeks. My men are preparing for them now.”
“OK, wait a week and start feeding the story. By the time the assassinations hit, we’ll look as though we always privately doubted Mr Kennedy’s guilt.”
“Excellent idea,” said Beaumont.
“So have your guys recovered from the mission?” asked the President changing the subject.
“Yes, most of those with superficial wounds are fine now. It was an expensive mission though. Over fifty men died and thirty are wounded and that doesn’t take into account Smith. What a shame, he was a good man.”
“Hmm I can’t help thinking that that was a very opportune death, you never liked the guy,” replied the President sceptically. “Just as well your guy fixed the Kennedys’ plane or The Chairman may not have overlooked the very high cost of the Guinean mission.”
Beaumont mumbled his agreement and began to leave the office.
“Oh I nearly forgot,” said Beaumont. “We should hear tomorrow whether our offer to buy Alba has been accepted.”
The President perked up,
“What does your man think?”
“Not a problem.”
“Excellent, let me know as soon as you do.”
“Will do,” said Beaumont closing the door behind him.



Chapter 55


The helicopter arrived at 7.30 to take Tom to the Alba Headquarters in Glasgow. It was his first trip to the office since his parents’ death. He was not looking forward to it. Kisho was with him as Papa would not let him go anywhere on his own.
The chopper ride was over before they knew it. Tom was met on the helipad on the roof of the Alba building, by his father’s PA. She was in tears, just what Tom needed. She gave him a pack of papers and showed him straight into the boardroom. The executives were all seated and passed on their condolences as he walked towards the seat his father would normally have occupied. Tom took the seat next to it.
The meeting began with a quick update of how business was doing. In short, it wasn’t doing well. The business was suffering badly from the reaction to Donald’s involvement in the assassinations.
They continued to run through the rest of the agenda. Everything was fairly mundane, Tom could not help but think that the Execs had broken him in gently. It was not until they reached the ‘AOB’ item (Any Other Business) that things went sour. Alan announced that he had something to discuss. Tom watched as the others whispered to Alan that this really wasn’t the time.
“What is it Alan?” asked Tom as nonchalantly as he could. The man irritated him but he was determined not to let it show.
“My colleagues,” he announced with a hint of disdain, “don’t believe we should discuss this but I believe we should, in the interests of Alba’s employees.”
“Interesting, Alan. Go on,” replied Tom, inwardly seething at his CFO’s condescending tone.
“It’s quite simple really. If the current downturn in business continues, we have a big problem. In fact, we will have a major crisis. Within a month, our cash reserves, exacerbated by our recent cash purchase of Global Media, will have dried up. Within two months, our credit lines will run out and within three months, we will be staring bankruptcy in the face. If that happens, we risk plunging three million people into unemployment.”
Jonathan, the Head of Legal, and Mark, the Chief Operating Officer, tried to speak but Tom stopped them. He could see they were obviously agitated by what had just been said.
“Oh my God! I didn’t realise it was that bad!” exclaimed Tom. “What can we do?”
“We’ve received an offer, a very significant sum despite the current downturn. Of course, it’s less than we would have anticipated a month ago but in the current climate, I believe it’s an offer we should seriously consider.”
“Who’s the offer from and how much?”
“It appears the buyer wishes to remain anonymous. The approach has been made through a lawyer. As to how much, they’ve offered today’s market value minus 10 %.”
“OK, so just I understand this properly, you suggest we sell to an anonymous bidder for today’s value minus 10 %? What does that equate to, compared to the company’s value a month ago?”
“Hmm that’s a very difficult comparison to make.”
“You used the comparison. Give me the number, what’s the differential?” pushed Tom.
Alan paused, looked at his papers.
“About 40 % less, the company has taken a massive hit.”
“OK, so, as Chief Financial Officer of Alba International, do you believe we should accept the offer?” asked Tom putting Alan under the spotlight.
Alan didn’t even think about what was being said before answering.
“Yes, I believe it’s in the best interest of the company and its employees.”
“OK,” Tom said evenly. “Ladies and Gentlemen, I think we should have a vote. Those in favour of the bid, please raise your hands.”
Tom watched as each of the executives looked at each other tentatively. Alan raised his hand high emphasising his point that the company should be sold. Just as Tom was about to call the vote, other hands began to move. The Marketing Director, The Director of Communications and the IT Director, raised their hands.
“Anyone else or is that all?” asked Tom. Jonathan and Mark cringed in their seats. They knew Tom very well, better than anybody else in the room and they knew he was playing.
“OK, we have four for a sale. Are there any undecideds or abstentions?”
Again, the group looked at each other as the question burned at those yet to answer. With no hands being raised, Tom said, “OK it appears we have 4 votes for the sale and 5 votes against,” he indicated to those who had failed to vote on his two questions, each of the five nodded affirmatively.
“With only me left to decide and my casting vote on the tie I suppose it’s down to me, do I want to sell or not?”
Tom pressed the intercom button.
“Can you come in please?”
Kisho stepped into the room, taking up position at Tom’s side.
“Can those of you who voted yes, please stand up,” he asked. The four did so without question. Tom turned to Kisho.
“Kisho, could you please escort these people to the front door of the building and remove their passes. They’re no longer welcome at Alba International.”
Kisho immediately began to move towards the sacked executives.
“You can’t do this, you do not have the authority to sack me!” shouted Alan. “I can’t be sacked by a kid! That’s ridiculous!”
“He just doesn’t get it, does he, Jonathan. For a clever man, he is very stupid,” said Tom and turning to Alan, he shouted,
“I OWN THIS COMPANY.!!! I’ve been involved in it since the day I was born. I know the financials better than you do. And by the way, I’ll be reporting you for attempted fraud. Everything is on tape and I’m sure we’ll link you to the anonymous bid.”
Alan flew at Tom who had played him like a chump. Getting him to categorically state that the sale was in the company’s best interests would probably cost Alan a few years in prison. Kisho, of course, was in the way and having heard what Alan had just tried to do, used a little more force than necessary to eject him from the room. As Alan had approached Tom, he was swiftly propelled through the doors and into the foyer outside the boardroom.
Tom listened to the other three directors who had voted in favour of selling Alba. They vehemently protested their innocence and said that they had just reacted to the CFO’s advice and his very worrying update. Until the meeting, they had had no idea about the possibility of bankruptcy. And they certainly did not know that it was a plot to frighten Tom into selling.
“Gentlemen. You voted to sell Alba to an anonymous bidder for 40 % less than she was worth a mere month ago. Whether you were involved in the fraud or not, is irrelevant. Now get out of my sight, you disgust me.”
“But…” shrieked one of the directors trying to save their job.
“But nothing. Get out! Kisho please do the honours.” Kisho’s assistance was not needed, the three men ran out of the room and stepped over Alan who was still on the foyer floor.
As Kisho escorted the sacked executives out of the building, Tom turned to the remainder of the group.
“Any other business?”
He was as surprised as the rest of the group when somebody spoke.
“Just one thing,” said the Human Resources Director, “I take it we need to fill these vacancies?”



Chapter 56


Alan couldn’t believe it. His charmed life had just fallen apart. He was supposed to have become the CFO of the company buying Alba. With a promised 5 % stake in the business, he would have been rich beyond his wildest dreams. Seven months ago, he was a chartered accountant who was doing time in one of the big consulting firms. Out of the blue, he was head-hunted for the position of CFO at Alba International, the job every accountant aspired to. As Chief Financial Officer of the world’s largest company, his salary increased ten-fold overnight and the bonuses were legendary.
However, his new offer extended even beyond that. In a few months, with his 5 % shareholding in an even larger business, he would have instantly become a billionaire. Even when he got the CFO role at Alba, he could think of nothing other than the day he would become a billionaire. He certainly failed to take into consideration how the CFO role at Alba, which was not vacant when he was approached, had suddenly and surprisingly become available.
As he left the building with his personal effects in a box, he called his contact and explained what had happened. He was very sorry but the son was in no mood to sell and probably never would. Alan ended the call and sped home. He had to get his passport, he wasn’t going to hang around and wait for the police to come for him. Spain sounded good, he would just disappear to Spain. He wished now he had saved more money. He had been making a fortune but with billions around the corner, he had been living well beyond his means. He was broke, sacked and about to become a fugitive. All because of a damn kid.



Chapter 57


Tom spent the rest of the day in the office. Having sacked four of the board before 9.00 a.m., it was going to be a hectic day. By lunchtime, three of the positions were filled with their very capable deputies. The one role which remained unfilled was the CFO role. The Human Resources Director had explained to Tom that they had had difficulties recruiting for the role previously. In fact, Donald himself had had to get involved and eventually recruited Alan. Tom was surprised, Alan was the last person he would have thought his father would have selected.
At 6.00 p.m., he called for his helicopter, it was time to go home. He and Kisho arrived at the Estate twenty minutes later to a very warm welcome. Lela had not been apart from Tom since the deaths and had not enjoyed the day at all. She rushed out and gave him a huge hug.
Papa told Tom that Lela had been lost all day. After a brief discussion, they agreed that the best thing would be to get back to school as soon as possible. That would keep them both occupied. The school trip to Machu Picchu would be a perfect return for them.
All Tom needed to do was recruit a CFO before they left. The Board didn’t need him around and he would hold a couple of Executive update meetings each week, dialling in by video conference. On top of which, he had all the company systems on his computer. As he had said to Alan, he knew the company better than most and had always taken a keen interest.
Tom made his way upstairs to his bedroom, thinking about what needed to be done. Before he knew it, he had walked past his room and was almost at the door to his father’s study. He looked at the door, he hadn’t even looked inside since his father had died. He pushed the handle down to go in but it was locked. Why would his dad have locked his study? His mind jumped back to the night he had gone to get his father and Saki for dinner, the night before they left for school. His father had locked the door then too.
Tom lifted his foot and kicked at the door handle with all his weight behind it, the wooden frame gave way and the door swung open. Having heard the smash, Kano and Kisho appeared instantly, having thought somebody had broken in. Tom explained what he had done and that he just wanted to check his father’s study and thanked them but he would do it himself.
Tom entered the study, it was just as he remembered it. A large desk by the window, with PC and telephones. There was a huge open fire and next to it his father’s battered reading chair. His mother had refused to allow the chair any house-room so his father had sneaked it in one night when she was at the Hospital, where she worked as a Paediatrician. It really was horrible and thread-bare but Donald had insisted that it was the most fantastic reading chair. Next to the ‘antique’ was a huge and very comfortable sofa. Tom had spent many hours sitting there with his father over the years. He moved back to the desk, he knew it would not be easy, the room held so many happy memories.
When Tom sat at the desk, he noticed a lack of papers. The desk was very tidy, his father’s desk had not been tidy in the fourteen years he had known him. He looked around and checked in the drawers, nothing. Tom gave up and began to boot up the PC. As he listened to its familiar whirring, he thought back again to the night his father and Saki had locked themselves in. Tom had distinctly heard papers being shuffled and then he had heard a thud and a clunk. He looked around knowing that something was missing. Where was the safe he had heard?
Lela entered the room just as he started looking for the safe.
“Tom, are you OK?” she asked.
“Yes thanks, you?” said Tom as he pushed back the chair and began to move under the desk.
“Yes, but I just heard about you breaking the door down,” she said looking at his handiwork on the doorframe.
“It was locked and I didn’t want to waste time looking for a key.”
“Ok,” she said slowly not really agreeing with his actions. “So what are you looking for now?”
“A safe.”
“Do you think your dad kept a safe under his desk?” she asked, looking at him on his hands and knees.
“No but there’s one in here somewhere.”
“Did your dad not tell you where it was?” she asked.
“No, he never told me he had one,” replied Tom as he struggled out from under the desk.
“Let me get this right, you’re on your hands and knees looking for a safe which you have never been told about nor have ever seen. Did you ever think that maybe there isn’t a safe in here?”
“I heard it.”
“You heard it? What, did it whisper ‘Tom I’m a safe’ to you?”
Tom stopped looking around. He explained to Lela what he had heard when his father had locked him out and that the noises didn’t make sense unless there was a safe in the room. They both started looking.
Thirty minutes later, they had searched everywhere, every seam in the carpet and every inch of the walls. Nothing. They slumped down on the large couch and thought about where else they could look.
Something caught Lela’s eye. “Tom, did you ever see your dad actually sit on that thing?”
“Hmm,” mumbled Tom, thinking. “Actually no, he always joined me on the sofa. Why?”
“Because I sat on it once and you know how he always used to say it was so comfy and nothing could beat it. Well it’s not, in fact it’s very hard!” Tom had never sat on it because he was sure he would catch fleas.
“Do you think?” he asked as they both looked at its base.
They found a tiny catch on the seam of the front panel and as they released it, the whole panel swung back like a door to reveal a small safe. The only problem now was the code. There was a numerical keypad sat in the middle of the door with a small digital display above it.
“Damn,” said Lela.
“What’s wrong?” asked Tom.
“The code, how are we going to crack it?”
“I was worried it was going to be a key, this is fine,” replied Tom. “My dad’s not got a password or a pin number I haven’t cracked. Trust me, this is good. Finding a key would have been impossible.” As Tom spoke, he keyed in 4 digits, the safe released its lock and opened.
“Unbelievable!” said Lela, very impressed.
“Not really, my dad is shocking with pin numbers, so he uses the same one for all his accounts and credit cards and apparently his safe.”
The safe was packed with papers. They pulled them out and began to go through them. It was going to be a very long night.



Chapter 58


Beaumont had not taken the news well. Every time Tom Kennedy was involved in anything, bad news seemed to follow. The latest was the Alba bid, rejected out of hand and the accountant they had planted being investigated for fraud. The operation to get their hands on Alba had run smoothly for over seven months and at the last moment, a fourteen year old was stopping them and potentially exposing one of his men.
On hearing the news, the US President was apoplectic. The bitter memories of the botched operation the previous year still haunted him. He could not believe that Tom was interfering with their plans again.
Beaumont called Jones.
“I have a job for you,” he said.
“I know, I’m working on it now.”
“No, another one. It should be easy. One sniper should do it.”
“OK, who’s the target?”
“Tom Kennedy, Donald Kennedy’s son.”
“What about the girl?”
“No, she must stay alive. I repeat, NOT the girl.”
Beaumont could not afford for Lela to be hit. She would soon be the key to their fortune as she would, he believed, be certain to sell Alba instantly.
“Location?” asked Jones.
“Their house is out of the question, it’s a fortress. Their school is just as bad. The only option is their school trip on Monday to Machu Picchu.”
“When I went to school, we went to the local zoo. Not 7,000 miles away to an ancient Inca village,” huffed Jones.
“Hmm, well, it seems their history teacher thinks it’s important. Anyway, it gives us the opportunity to get to him.”
“Consider it done,” replied Jones.



Chapter 59


It was 5.30 a.m. when Tom and Lela went to bed. The information they had uncovered produced more questions than answers. However, one thing was categorically clear, Donald Kennedy was not behind the assassinations but knew he was going to be framed for them. From what they could gather, he had been in the process of trying to track down who was responsible.
With only three hours sleep, Tom and Lela were already up and ready to go. They had only one goal in mind, to clear Donald Kennedy’s name. A lot of the information suggested that Alan, the sacked CFO, knew a lot more than he had let on. Tom had sent a text before they went to bed requesting a chopper to be there at 9.00 a.m. sharp. At 8.45 a.m., as they were finishing breakfast, they heard the whump of the blades as the helicopter landed.
Kisho and Kano had made it clear that wherever they went, they would follow. When they reached the helicopter, Kano had second thoughts.
“What the hell is that?”
“That’s my little bird, it’s an MD520 light helicopter,” replied Tom.
“It’s definitely little, we won’t all fit in it!” said Kano.
“It seats five. Just please get in. I asked for a small one so that we can land wherever we want. It’s great fun, very agile. I’m sure the pilot will show you if you want?” offered Tom.
“No thanks, I’ll just sit back here quietly,” replied Kano.
After everybody had strapped in, the little helicopter took off and hovered just above the ground. The pilot looked at Tom.
“Where to?” he asked.
Tom powered up his new sat nav system and input Alan’s address. It worked in exactly the same way as a car’s system, except it was in 3D and could direct the pilot accordingly.
“There,” said Tom pointing to the chequered flag pinpointing Alan’s home.
As they hovered above Alan’s street, they understood why Tom had not brought the large helicopter. Alan lived in a block of flats overlooking the River Clyde in the centre of Glasgow. The large chopper would have had to land over a mile away at the Alba HQ helipad. The small one, however, took up as much space as an average car. So that’s what they did. They parked it in the car park in front of Alan’s block of flats, taking up just one space.
The four passengers jumped out and made their way to the front door of the building. Tom pressed the buzzer for Alan’s flat. Nobody answered, he pressed it again. Nothing.
“What shall we do?” asked Lela.
“I don’t know,” replied Tom.
“I do,” said Kano. “If this guy knows something about what happened, there’s a good chance we’ll find something inside.” He started pushing other buzzers until somebody eventually let them in.
Kano led the way and after an elevator journey to the top floor, they stood outside Alan’s door. Kano banged on the door but again, there was no answer. He banged again. Nothing.
“What was that?” he asked.
“What was what?” asked Lela.
“I can hear somebody saying help me, help me!”
“I can’t,” replied Lela.
“Neither can I,” said Tom.
“What are you talking about Kano? There’s no noise in there,” said Kisho.
Kano raised his eyes to the ceiling in frustration. He looked back at them and spoke very slowly.
“I can definitely hear somebody who needs help and can’t get to the door, I’ll have to break in to help them.”
He looked at them until they began to understand what he was saying. He then spun around and kicked the door down.
The flat was open-plan with a large panoramic window which overlooked the river and the city. Two doors led off the living area, Kano tried one while Kisho tried the other.
“Nothing in here, it’s just a bathroom,” said Kisho.
A few seconds later, Kano reappeared.
“It appears that I may have been right about someone needing help, although I’d guess we’re a few hours too late.” Pointing to Tom and Lela, he said, “You two wait here and don’t touch anything.”
Kano took Kisho to the master bedroom suite and through to the bathroom where Alan lay in the bath, dead.
“I’ll call the police,” said Kisho.
“No, let’s have a quick look around and then we’ll call them,” suggested Kano. “But I have a funny feeling that we won’t find anything. I’m fairly certain this guy was murdered and they’ve tried to make it look like a suicide.”
“Why do you think that?”
“Because the killers forgot to put away his passport and luggage which are lying at the side of his bed. I doubt he’d pack a bag and get his passport ready if he was planning to top himself.”
“Five minutes and then we call, OK?” said Kisho.
The two of them had plenty of experience of that kind of work as they had both served in a very secret and clandestine team within the British Army. They were as meticulous in their search as they were ensuring that everything was replaced exactly where it had been.
Meanwhile, Tom and Lela were still standing immobile in the centre of the room. They had gathered that Alan was dead. Kano and Kisho eventually came back out.
“Well?” asked Tom desperate to know what was happening.
“Murdered we think but they’ve tried to make it look like suicide,” replied Kano as he began to search the main living area.
“So he really was in with the bad guys then?”
“Yep and these guys are not playing around,” replied Kisho who was searching the kitchen.
“Shouldn’t we call the police?” asked Lela, concerned about the twins rifling through the flat.
“Of course but there’s no harm in having a quick look around before we do,” said Kano.
“Nothing in here,” said Kisho removing his latex gloves.
“Where did you get those?” asked Lela.
“We thought the Accountant might take some convincing.”
“What were you going to do?” asked Tom not sure if he actually wanted to know.
“Nothing,” laughed Kano from under the sofa, “but it’s amazing what goes through somebody’s mind when you have them cornered and you very slowly put on a pair of latex gloves.”
“Yep. Works every time,” agreed Kisho.
“I’ve got something,” said Kano.
“What?” asked Tom desperately.
“A business card from a recruitment consultant, down the side of the sofa…” Kano was interrupted by their helicopter appearing at the window in front of them.
“What’s he doing?” asked Lela.
“He’s signalling for us to go up,” said Tom.
The police sirens explained what was happening. They rushed out of the flat and tried to find a way onto the roof. Nothing.
“We can’t be caught here,” said Lela. Everybody looked at her, it was not the time to be stating the obvious. Apart from breaking and entering, there was a probable murder charge.
“Back into the flat,” said Kisho as they heard the entrance door being buzzed below them. They rushed through to the bedroom which had windows at the rear and a small balcony, although more for decoration than actual use.
Tom phoned the pilot and explained what they needed to do. Ten seconds later, the small helicopter was hovering next to the railing on the edge of the balcony. They all managed to climb onto the railing and into the helicopter. Tom was last to board as he had been on his mobile making a quick call.
“Impressive,” said Kisho to the pilot.
“Thank you, Sir,” he replied.
“What happened?” Tom asked the pilot.
“Just after you went in, I noticed a car pull away. The driver looked straight at me while making a call. It just seemed odd, I don’t know why. So I turned the police scanner on and there it was. Possible murder, this address. I’m sorry I didn’t call but I just got the hell up to you as quick as poss. I could already hear the police and we needed to leave from the roof anyway.”
“Thanks, good thinking,” replied Tom.
His father’s pilots were all ex-military, usually from special forces or special protection. All were fully qualified body guards and knew how to handle dangerous situations.
“Where to now?” asked the pilot.
“Away from that police chopper I hope,” said Kisho who was looking behind them.
“Hold on tight,” said the pilot, looking back at the police chopper. “This may get a little hairy.”
They began to speed up. Tom looked over his shoulder to the three in the back.
“This isn’t the fastest helicopter,” he explained. “But it’s one of the smallest and most manoeuvrable. I would hold on very tight if I were you guys!”
The police chopper sped towards them, it was much larger and much faster.
The Alba chopper suddenly dropped height and plummeted towards the road taking a sharp right turn onto Jamaica Street. Tom could read the street signs at eye level. Cars swerved as the helicopter thundered towards them just skimming their roofs. The helicopter rose and fell sharply. They all held their breath as they narrowly missed crashing into the front of a double-decker bus. The police helicopter was directly above them.
The small helicopter took a sharp turn to the left. Screams came from the back. He looked up to see the side of a bridge right in front of them. The helicopter skids scraped the ground as they flew right under it. They took another sharp turn to the left and continued to skim across the tops of cars before taking a sharp right. The pilot then accelerated as they skirted along the side of the river.
The Police chopper had seen them fly extremely low, a manoeuvre too dangerous for their bulky chopper. Instead, they cut across the rooftops diagonally. However, they hadn’t figured on the left turn under the bridge. It was not until they had stationed themselves half way up Union Street, the continuation of Jamaica Street, that they realised something was amiss.
“Everybody OK?” asked the pilot who was having great fun. Nobody responded.
“Where to now?” he asked Tom.
Tom entered a new address into the sat nav. He didn’t speak, he thought he might be sick if he opened his mouth.
“That’s over the river. I don’t really want to let them see us, we’ll easily be seen if we try to get across from here. I have an idea though…”
Tom nodded. He just wanted the ride to stop.
The pilot kept them low and followed the roads. The police chopper was still hovering over the city centre trying to find them. As long as they remained low, they would not be spotted as they raced out of the city. Tom recognised the road they were on. It was the Clydeside Express, a dual carriageway which ran from Glasgow all the way to… Tom realised where they were heading.
He didn’t care if he was sick.
“You’re not?” he gasped.
“Only way, if you want to get there unseen,” responded the pilot smiling.
The helicopter took the next turning to the left, it was now flying at the same speed as the cars and effectively had a space in the traffic as it hurtled under a sign which said ‘Tunnel Traffic Only’.
“NO!!!” screamed Lela as she read the sign.
The pilot ignored the panic behind him. As the road sloped down, they continued to follow the traffic. The tunnel opening approached. There was no way they would fit. But as they drew closer, it began to look as thought they might just make it. All passengers instinctively shut their eyes as they disappeared into the mouth of the tunnel and began to sink deeper into the ground as the tunnel burrowed beneath the river Clyde. The road ahead was fairly clear as cars had raced to get out of their way and the pilot was taking full advantage, zipping through the tunnel at great speed.
“What the hell was that?” asked Lela as the tunnel flashed two blasts of light.
“I’d like to see their faces when they develop that one, it’s a speed camera. I’m doing 50 in a 30!” replied the pilot laughing.
The helicopter broke through the other side of the tunnel, lifting ten feet and accelerating up to its full speed.
“That was cool,” said Tom. “Very scary, but cool!” He was beginning to regain his composure.
The three in the back were speechless.
“We’ll be there in twenty minutes,” said the pilot.
“Tom, where are we going?” asked Lela.
“We’re going to see somebody.”
“Shouldn’t we be working out what we’re going to do about the police?” asked Kano. “I mean with Alba’s logo emblazoned all over this thing, they might have a fair idea who we are?”
“We just have to do this one thing before leaving.”
“What do you mean, ‘leaving’?” asked Lela.
“We’re going back to school. Nobody has seen us, they just saw the helicopter and I reported it stolen when we were in the flat,” replied Tom. That was the call he was making when the others were jumping into the helicopter from the balcony.
“It should put them off the scent for a little while anyway and give us enough time to get out of the country before they start linking us to Alan,” he added.
“You really are a little genius!” said Kisho patting him on the back.
Tom phoned Papa and explained what he needed. There wouldn’t be time to go back to the Estate before they left.



Chapter 60


Blairquhan castle sat in the middle of a 2000 acre estate and had, until a few years previously, been an exclusive venue for corporate events, weddings and films. That was until Alba had purchased it and turned it into a training college during the week and exclusive retreat for its staff at the weekend. It was one of many throughout the world that any member of staff could be commended to as a reward for exceptional performance.
The estate lay 50 miles South of Glasgow and was regarded as the jewel in the crown of Alba’s ‘country style’ weekend retreats. Its secluded and peaceful location in the wilds of the Scottish countryside with an endless list of activities made it a firm favourite amongst the staff. Donald loved it too so there was the added bonus of potentially rubbing shoulders with the boss.
That was, however, until just over six months before Donald’s death when Blairquhan Castle disappeared from staff lists. No explanation was given, it was as though, overnight, the castle had never existed.
The helicopter had made good time on its way South from Glasgow.
“We’re nearly there,” said Tom recognising the scenery.
“Nearly where?” asked Kisho.
“Blairquhan Castle,” replied Tom.
Before he had a chance to ask why they were there, the helicopter took an almost 90 degree angle as they turned sharply. They all felt the G force as the helicopter changed direction. It then slid across the sky, dropped to the ground and landed without even a bump.
“Jesus, what was that?” asked Kano.
“Just a little manoeuvre I learned a few years ago,” replied the pilot.
“Cool landing!” said Tom high fiving the pilot before opening his door and jumping out.
“I’m afraid you guys will have to wait here,” said Tom turning and running towards the main door of the castle.
“Where are you going?” Tom heard Kisho’s shout but was already too far away to answer. A man was standing waiting for him as he approached the door, the noise of the helicopter having alerted him to visitors.
Kisho and Kano were uncomfortable. Papa had told them not to let Tom or Lela out of their sight. However, Lela had stopped them following Tom, she promised them that he would not be in danger and told them to just sit back and relax. They hoped she was right because if she wasn’t, it was they who would be facing Papa’s wrath, not her.
Tom approached the man.
“Dr Pearson?” he asked, extending his hand.
“Yes but I’m sorry, I don’t know you, do I?” he asked, shaking Tom’s hand.
“Tom Kennedy, pleased to meet you Sir.”
“Oh, pleased to meet you Tom. I’ve heard a lot about you. What can I do for you?”
“I need to speak to Jason.”
Jason, the former CFO of Alba, was the castle’s only guest now. When he had broken down, Donald had cleared the castle and employed the best physicians available to help his CFO and long time friend. Overnight, the castle and its estate had become the single most exclusive private clinic in the world. Donald spared no expense and continually provided whatever was needed to help his friend get over the devastating loss of his family. An accident which Jason believed was his fault and led him to repeat over and over again ‘I should have been there, I should have been driving.’
“Impossible,” replied the doctor.
“Sorry doctor, you misunderstand me, I’m not asking.”
Tom walked past the doctor and into the castle. As he entered the vast hallway, he shouted out.
“Jason? Jason?…” His voice echoed around the walls and reverberated down the corridors.
The doctor ran in behind Tom, accompanied by two security staff whom he had summoned.
Kisho and Kano had watched Tom run into the castle followed by the other man shouting into a hand held radio. It was too much, they jumped out of the helicopter and ran to Tom.
“Get him out of here!” ordered the doctor to the security staff.
Tom just looked at the doctor and the advancing guards and spoke loudly and very firmly.
“Gentlemen, I’m Tom Kennedy, owner of Alba International and I pay your wages. One more step and I won’t be paying them any more. Do you understand?”
The guards wavered and looked at the doctor for clarification, he nodded that it was true. Both guards stepped back.
“Where is he? Where’s Jason?” asked Tom to anyone who would answer.
Kisho and Kano burst into the hallway and ran to Tom’s side, ready to defend him from whoever moved. Tom gave a thumbs up, everything was fine, they relaxed.
“Tom is that you making all the noise?” asked a voice from the top of the staircase. It was Jason.
“Yes. I need to talk to you, it’s very urgent.”
Tom ran up the stairs and the two of them talked. Thirty minutes later, an almighty scream echoed through the castle and across the grounds.
“NOOOOO!!!!”
The doctor ran to Jason’s rooms and burst in. Jason was nowhere to be seen, Tom was sitting by the fireside.
“What happened, is Jason OK?”
“He’s fine. In fact, he’s well enough to leave,” replied Tom.
Jason joined them in the room as another helicopter landed in the grounds. It was the big one, the EH101. The doctor began to speak but could not be heard over the helicopter noise. He waited and as the noise settled asked, “Why, what’s happened?”
Jason had his case packed and was ready to go. He told the doctor exactly what Tom had just told him.
“But are you sure, you’re OK?”
“Doctor. My wife and children were murdered, murdered by the same people who have killed my best friends. It wasn’t an accident, it was planned. The same way they killed presidents and prime ministers. The bastard who helped them is now dead and was in my job for the last six months. It wasn’t my fault. I can’t feel guilty about something I couldn’t have prevented. If I had been driving, I’d be dead too. I wouldn’t have avoided the accident. Don’t you see? I can’t bring them back but I can bloody well help catch the people who did it!” The anger in Jason was intense.
Tom led the way back to the helicopter, the small one and its acrobatic pilot would stay there, it was going to be repainted. Kano, Kisho, Tom and Lela were going to the airport and the CFO of Alba International was going back to work.



Chapter 61


Tom One took off from Prestwick airport. Tom had asked Papa to arrange for the plane to meet them there. Tom thought better safe than sorry. If the Police were looking for them, it would be at Glasgow airport, not Prestwick. Just as Tom One touched down at Prestwick, they landed their helicopter. They were on the ground for less than ten minutes before Kisho and Tom swapped with the pilots and the party was airborne again. It soon appeared however they need not have bothered. The stolen helicopter had thrown the police and they announced in a press conference that they were looking for men in relation to a suspicious death. The same men had stolen a helicopter and had managed to evade police during a life endangering low level flight through the city. The police had had to withdraw in the interest of public safety. Bollocks thought Tom, they were out flown and they lost us.
As they settled into the flight, they were pleased to find that Papa and three islanders were on board. With everything going on, Papa felt safer being close. The other islander had stayed in Scotland with Jason. Jason had protested but Papa had been insistent.
“Tom, where are we?” asked Lela.
“Just over France, why?” replied Tom.
“I’ve just remembered about Tylanni.”
“Bloody hell I forgot, let’s take a little detour.”
Tom punched in the new settings and the plane flew to Marseille and onto Monaco. The Tylanni was nowhere to be seen neither in Monaco nor in Marseille where Donald said she should be. They agreed to call the police when they landed. It wasn’t everyday a $200 million dollar yacht and her crew just vanished.
The sun was just beginning to rise as they came into land at The Academy. They made their way to their rooms and went straight to bed. As it was Saturday, there was a sports class starting at 10.00 a.m.. Both agreed they would sleep through it and announce their arrival afterwards. They needed the sleep.
News travelled fast and five minutes after the sports class ended, their rooms were full of friends. The girls took up residence in Lela’s room and the boys in Tom’s. But before long, both groups drifted together in Lela’s room. Tom and Lela had agreed that the details of Donald’s papers would only be discussed within their special group, whose members they had texted ahead. The group would meet that evening at 6.00 p.m. in Conference Room One. However, Tom could not help recounting the sacking of the Execs. Everybody thought it was so cool. Conversation was then pretty much driven by their friends updating them on what they had missed at school. It wasn’t long before they noticed that Chen and Oleg were missing. Their friends explained that Yuri and his gang were back to their old ways. Oleg had been attacked the previous evening and Chen had run to his defence. He had tried his best but there were just too many of them and both were beaten quite badly. Lela listened intently to what had happened.
“What did Mr Sakamoto do?” she asked.
“He expelled them instantly, all of them,” replied Mia.
“Excellent,” replied Lela, although privately disappointed. She wanted revenge. Her anger about the Kennedys’ deaths needed venting and Yuri and his gang would have be perfect fodder.
“Yes but two hours later, they were reinstated. It appears that Mr Sakamoto was told to either take them back or leave. Mr Sakamoto decided he had no option, he didn’t want to leave.” Tom and Lela both knew Mr Sakamoto would never leave, not now while he could help them.
“Where are Chen and Oleg now?”
“In Oleg’s room. They’re quite badly bruised and didn’t want to upset you.”
“Rubbish,” replied Tom. “Lets go.”
The group moved to Oleg’s room. Oleg and Chen were delighted to see them. However, Lela took one look at their bruised and swollen faces and left. Tom tried to stop her but saw the look on her face and stepped back. He almost considered warning Yuri, almost.



Chapter 62


Tom looked at his watch, it was 5.45 p.m.. Lela had been gone for over two hours. He couldn’t wait any longer. He made his excuses, left Oleg’s room, went back to his room and picked up what he needed for the meeting. He double-checked to see if Lela was in her room. She wasn’t so he left a note reminding her where the meeting was and to make her way across to the conference centre as soon as possible.
“Hi guys,” said Tom as he entered the room. Zach and Tristan were already there waiting for him.
“Hi,” they replied. “Did you find Lela?” asked Tristan.
“No and it’s been more than two hours now,” replied Tom. He was now very worried, Lela was very angry. He could only imagine what she might do to Yuri.
Daniel and Sofie arrived, quickly followed by Jin, Thabo and Elena. Everybody was there except Lela. With two minutes to go before 6.00 p.m., Tom dialled in Rolf and his smiley face appeared on the large screen. They were ready. Just as Tom was about to call the meeting to order, the door opened and Lela strode in.
“Sorry I’m late, I got a little caught up in what I was doing,” she said smiling.
Tom just looked at her and feared the worst, Lela was very cheery, totally different from when she had left Oleg’s room. She took a seat next to Tom and sat ready for the meeting to start. Tom was paralysed with curiosity. He had to know she had done. He leaned over and whispered in her ear.
“What did you do to Yuri?”
“Jesus Tom, what do you think I did to him. He’s just a bully. Will you calm down!” Lela was taken aback at Tom’s reaction and quite hurt by it.
Tom realised his imagination had run wild. Lela was a highly trained and extremely disciplined individual. She was trained in an ancient art which forbade gratuitous violence. Only violence necessary for protection or self defence was allowed. Even then, the violence should be at a level necessary to eliminate danger, no more. Their skill was such that the islanders didn’t make errors or mistakes. If defensive moves were sufficient, no offensive moves would be made. If offensive moves were necessary, the strikes would be calculated to minimise the damage inflicted. Any injury would be precise, intentional and perfectly executed. If an islander decided that the middle bone of someone’s little finger needed to be broken to stop a situation, then that is exactly what would happen.
“Sorry, you’re right,” apologised Tom.
“No problem. Look, I’ll fill you in later. This is much more important than Yuri,” said Lela gesturing towards the group of people around them.
Tom took his big sister’s advice and turned to the group. He got up and started pacing. He could think more clearly when he paced, a trait inherited from his father.
“Guys, three weeks ago we met and discussed the fact that there may be a group or an individual responsible for the assassinations around the world. Since then, the story of my father being the mastermind behind the assassinations has broken and evidence has come to light, almost daily, to support that theory. Even I have doubted my father’s innocence over the last two weeks. What I need to know before we start is how many of you believe that my father was capable of the acts he stands accused of, not whether the evidence proves it.”
Tristan responded first.
“I know exactly what you mean Tom. The evidence is overwhelming but every time I hear it, I just can’t believe it and at the same time, no stone has been left unturned. Every doubt that he could be innocent is soon crushed by a new piece of evidence. But I still can’t believe it.”
“Thanks Tristan, you’re a better man than me. I was at the point of beginning to believe it.”
Before long, it appeared that they were all of a similar mind, the evidence was overwhelming but it just didn’t fit, Donald was not capable of those atrocities.
Tom listened to everybody and was happy that each believed deep down that there was somebody behind everything, the assassinations, the framing of his father and ultimately, the death of his family. Had anybody believed that the evidence was irrefutable, they would have been politely excluded from the group. It was imperative that the members of the group had an open mind.
“Ok. Now that we’ve got that out the way, let’s get down to business.” Tom picked up the box of files next to him and placed them on the table. The files were the ones from his father’s safe.
“I believe that the information contained in these files will help to lead us to the people who are behind everything.”
“What’s in them?” asked Daniel.
“The results of my father and Saki’s investigation into what was going on. They knew something very big was happening and they even knew that my father was going to be set up. They just couldn’t do anything about it or prove it,” replied Tom.
“Bloody hell, you should give it to the papers and clear his name,” suggested Tristan.
“We can’t, it might scare whoever it is into covering their tracks. The only way we can catch them is if they don’t know we’re coming. Even then, there’s no real evidence, just my father and Saki’s findings. That’s why we need to have an open mind. It doesn’t give us the answers but it may tell us what the questions are,” replied Tom. He looked again at the group in front of him. There wasn’t a question in the world that this group couldn’t get an answer to. They just needed to know what to ask. He began to get excited at the possibility of actually getting to the bottom of exactly what was going on.
The group spent the next few hours poring over the detail of the files and learning how Donald and Saki had. over the previous 6 months, begun to smell a rat. Their investigations had led them around the world as they had looked into the links between the assassinations and who stood to gain from them. Links between each assassination were tenuous but they did exist. In each instance, the successor had been relatively unknown prior to the assassination. And each successor was exceedingly wealthy in their own right with extensive business interests. Apart from these, no other links seemed to exist, or at least no common link was obvious.
Their investigations had also looked into Alan, Alba’s CFO. Donald had sensed something suspicious about him early on. All other candidates capable of the role had either not applied or withdrawn their applications early in the process. Alan’s application had been excellent, his credentials unmatched, his references incomparable. He was perfect and, with no competition, was appointed. But Donald soon began to notice that Alan was not as good as his application suggested. Donald also noticed that Alan took a great interest in areas of the business which didn’t concern him or he got involved in levels of detail which were well below his level of seniority. Donald had asked Saki to look into it and it appeared that that was Saki’s secret mission over the summer. Saki had looked into Alan’s background and hunted down the other candidates, whom it appeared, would have been delighted to join Alba but had been devastated to receive rejection letters. Alba had not issued any rejection letters. On the contrary, it had received letters of withdrawal from the candidates.
Donald had a dilemma. Should he sack Alan, thereby tipping off whoever had planted him, or keep a very close eye on him to see if he led them anywhere. He had opted for the latter. However it was obviously too late, Alan had done the damage. Tom and Lela could link most of the evidence fabricated against Donald to Alan. The sales invoice of explosives to the mine company had been done by Alan. The expenses signed off by Donald for individuals who had been near the assassination areas, done by Alan. The list continued. For each piece of financial evidence which linked Donald to the assassinations, Alan had had the opportunity and the motive.
One of the last entries in Donald’s notes had been his firm belief that Jason’s family had been murdered. Everything to do with Alan pointed to an extensive and complicated operation which required access to the Finance Department and therefore the removal of Donald’s old CFO. He had realised that Jason was also meant to have been dead, along with his family, all treated as expendable pawns. Jason’s subsequent breakdown and resignation had probably saved his life. His job had become vacant so they didn’t need him dead anymore.
After Tom finished running through the content of the files, the group broke the files down and methodically brainstormed each piece of information and what it could tell them. The information was categorised by level of importance, high, medium and low. However, they were aware that something which may seem of low importance could nonetheless hold the vital link they needed. Therefore, everything had to be worked through, no matter how irrelevant it seemed.
At 1.00 a.m. with questions flowing onto the whiteboards around the room, they noticed the time and agreed to reconvene in the morning. Despite the vast number of questions they had raised, answers were beginning to emerge.
As they made their way to their rooms, Tom finally had a chance to speak to Lela.
“Well?”
Lela said nothing. She just placed her hand in her pocket and pulled something out. She placed in Tom’s hand and smiled.
Tom opened his hand and found a pair of Latex gloves.
“Worked brilliantly, you should have seen him, it was actually quite pathetic,” said Lela as she watched Tom open his hand.
“What did you do?” asked Tom.
“Exactly what Kano and Kisho said. I caught up with the gang, pushed a few around, they bolted and left Yuri on his own. I had him backed into a corner, explained I was very, very upset with him. Told him I had given up on the softly, softly approach before pulling out the gloves. I took my time putting them on. He was crying like baby, sobbing, pleading. It was pathetic. I actually felt so sorry for him, I let him go but the only way he could leave was through the canteen, blubbering and whimpering in front of everyone. I warned his gang that if they went anywhere near him again, it’s them I’ll be looking for. Yuri is officially an outcast. He won’t trouble anyone again.”
“Just because of these?” Tom asked, incredulous.
“Yep, anyway we need to get to bed, we’ve got to be back there at eight,” said Lela making her way to her room.
The next morning, they picked up exactly where they had left off and by 4.00 p.m. had finished. The unanswered questions were broken down into chunks and each person took the chunk most relevant to them. Zach took anything which could possibly be linked to the military, Tom adding at the last minute the meteor like object his father had witnessed fly towards the mine before the explosion. Daniel took anything at all linked to intelligence, Lela quickly adding the loss of Tylanni. Questions regarding the backgrounds of the new leaders or old ones went to Jin, Sofie, Elena and Thabo, each taking the relevant continent. Tristan picked up any commonwealth countries and a number of other questions linked to the UK. Tom and Lela took the rest of the non specific and more global questions and would work through them with their extensive network.
With such a vast volume of information to gather, it was agreed that the next meeting would be on Friday. Most of them were going on the daytrip to Machu Picchu which all agreed was unfortunate as they had a lot to do.



Chapter 63


At the end of The Academy’s first year, the History Department had submitted a request. They informed the Headmaster, Mr Sakamoto that they would like to enrich their students’ understanding of history through real life experience. Mr Sakamoto asked them to drop the sales pitch and cut to the chase. The history department said that they wanted to visit sites of historical importance.
However, being located on a secret island in the middle of the Ocean, The Academy was not best placed to offer school trips. Despite this, Mr Sakamoto could see the merits of such a programme and agreed to raise it at the next Governors’ meeting. The Governors agreed in principle but made it clear that no funds would be made available to fund the excursions. If the parents could raise the funds, the Governors had no objection to the visits. As term ended, the students took home a letter requesting funds for the history trips.
By September, the funds had arrived and the first trip was about to take place, a daytrip to Machu Picchu in Peru. Tom, Lela and their friends were among the first to experience the history department’s new initiative.
By the time Tom and Lela had returned from their meeting, had had their dinner and got changed, it was almost time to leave. They were due to leave from the airfield at 10.30 p.m. but Tom wanted to get there early to see their plane arrive.
“Tom it’s only 9.00 p.m., what’s the big rush?” asked Lela who was beginning to get fed up with being harassed.
“I just don’t want to miss it land,” he replied, glancing at his watch.
“Oh for God’s sake, just go ahead without me. I’ll come later with Mingmei and Mia,” offered Lela not thinking for a second he would take her up on it.
“OK, brilliant I’ll see you there!” he replied as he ran out of the door. Lela did not have a chance to respond.
Tom ran down the stairs and almost knocked Thabo flying as he careered into him.
“Where the hell are you going?” asked Thabo.
“To the airfield, I don’t want to be late!” replied Tom.
“Oh, just give me a second, I’ll grab my bag and come with you,” said Thabo thinking that his watch must be broken.
One minute later, the small golf cart was being pushed as fast as it would go to get them to the airfield. They drew up next to the small office building, parked the cart and made their way to the runway. It was 9.09 p.m. and completely deserted.
“Oh God, have we missed it?” asked Thabo.
Tom checked the runway and the apron, the plane was nowhere to be seen.
“No, it looks like we made it.”
“But there’s no one here, no plane. We must have missed it.” Thabo looked around him.
“But that’s the point,” said Tom looking at Thabo as though he were mad. “If the plane were already here, we would have missed it landing.”
“Landing! We rushed here to see the bloody plane land!! Are you nuts, I thought my watch was broken. We’ve got nearly two hours ‘til we leave!”
As they realised the misunderstanding, Thabo calmed down and they chatted happily as they waited for the plane to land. Tom was pleased to have some company. He would have been lonely sitting there in the dark on his own. At 9.30 p.m. the airfield started to come to life as ground crew arrived and office lights were switched on. The plane was close.
“Tom, I keep meaning to ask and it’s been bugging me for a while, why did your dad land in Equatorial Guinea in the first place?” Thabo asked cautiously, he didn’t want to upset Tom but the question had been praying on his mind. Why would anybody land in a country which was accusing them of 2,500 murders?
“He was forced to land,” replied Tom.
“Forced them to land? How?” asked Thabo.
“Thabo, they were forced to land. What’s the issue? They didn’t want to land there, they just didn’t have any choice.”
“I understand what ‘forced to land’ means Tom. I just don’t know how a country with nothing more than a couple of small executive jets in its air force, could have forced them to land, that’s all,” said Thabo.
Tom stopped looking into the sky and spun round to look at Thabo.
“What do you mean by executive jets, exactly?”
“Just small Gulfstreams, you know, civilian planes. Not fighters,” he emphasised.
“But my dad was forced down by two Mig 29s,” replied Tom. “This could be exactly the breakthrough we were looking for. Are you absolutely sure?” he asked.
“Positive,” replied Thabo.
“Ok, we need to get Zach and Daniel onto this asap. You also need to dig a lot deeper to find out everything we can about the dead Guinean President, he was obviously playing along with these guys, until they screwed him.” Tom was so engrossed in working through the possibilities that Thabo had to tell him the plane was about to touch down.
Tom turned and watched as the plane landed. Its huge engines announced that it was most definitely the new Boeing 777-200LR, the longest-range commercial aircraft available. Tom watched as the large plane thundered down the runway and came to a stop beside them. The plane was entirely white except for the large UN flag on its tail.
The plane was not a UN plane but bore its flag, after months of meetings and arguments. It had originally been decided that the new plane, the result of the fundraising letter, would bear The Academy’s flag. It was only when one of the students mentioned that they thought the school was supposed to be secret that the debate had ensued. Eventually, they came to the decision, with the agreement of the Secretary General of the UN, to fly it under their flag.
The fundraising letter had sparked off a keep-up-with-the Jones’ type of competition amongst the students’ parents who vied to prove they were the most generous. Two or three parents had even offered to purchase a jet outright. They were politely informed that their generosity was much appreciated but that the level of donation had been so high that The Academy was already in the process of sourcing a jet. Naturally, Tom managed to influence the fund raising committee towards the new long range Boeing which was about to complete its trials. With three additional fuel tanks, it could fly almost 11,000 miles non-stop with 300 passengers on board. However, The Academy’s plane would only have 70 seats, thereby increasing its range further still. The school purchased the jet, set up a fund to cover its running costs and returned the balance of donations to the parents. They each received over half of what they had donated along with a note thanking them for their generosity. It was another example of just how extraordinary The Academy really was. A request for a few school trips had resulted in a donation from the parents of around half a billion dollars.
Tom and Thabo managed to get a sneak preview inside the plane. The captain of the plane was proud to show off his new baby. As ever, no expense had been spared. The inside was luxurious and had three sections. The front had fifty first class seats which could be folded down completely flat. That section, Tom explained to Thabo, was for students and teachers. Only two classes would ever travel at once, any more would be a threat to security. Next came the kitchen and dining area which were very spacious and included an area with large sofas where students could chill out during the flight. A door at the back of that section led to the rear portion of the plane which contained a further twenty seats and a large solid steel door at the end. Before Thabo had a chance to ask what it was for, a team of Special Forces soldiers filed past them, unlocked it and started loading their arsenal of weapons and ammunition.
“This is where the soldiers sit,” explained Tom.
“Not taking any chances then, forty kids…twenty soldiers, bloody hell.”
“Yeah, they like to make sure we’re safe. The plane’s also got a few defensive extras, electronic counter-measures, Chaff to confuse missiles and other bits and pieces which are too classified for us to know about. But, it’s supposedly got a laser which can knock out an incoming missile but who knows, all I really know is that it’s had the full works,” said Tom.
“Cool,” whistled Thabo, very pleased he had arrived early.
“Let’s go and find Zach,” suggested Tom. They needed to get out the soldiers’ way and Tom was keen to start tracking down the Migs.
Zach arrived just before 10.30 p.m. and was very excited by the new lead. He suggested Daniel be brought in. They called him. He was going on a different trip the following week to the Great Wall of China. After they finished giving him the latest information, they boarded the plane and at exactly 11.00 p.m., the new Academy plane lifted off with 40 students, 4 teachers and 20 Special Forces bodyguards for its 8,000 mile journey to Peru.

8,000 miles away, the sniper was walking through the ruins at Machu Picchu. He was looking for the best spot to undertake his mission and like the man next to him, was taking little interest in the ruins themselves. It didn’t take him long to find the perfect position which looked down across the entire ruins and gave him every opportunity to hit his target.
He looked again at the itinerary. The helicopters from Cuzco, the main airport, would arrive just after dawn and would leave after lunch, plenty of time.
McDonald, Murray
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It was a very long flight but that was why they had timed it for an 11.00 p.m. departure. Two hours into the flight, silence descended as the students fell asleep. Ten hours later, they began to stir. With only 2 hours left to go before they landed, they showered and breakfasted. Before they knew it, they were landing at Velazco Astete Airport in Cuzco, Peru. A fleet of helicopters awaited their arrival to ferry them the 65 miles to the ruins.
Just as dawn broke over the Andes, the helicopters landed at a clearing near Machu Picchu. It was spectacular, the first rays of sun lighting up the ancient city, deserted for over 500 years.
“Wow!” exclaimed Lela.
“Unbelievable,” said Tom.
The class had spent the previous few weeks studying the history of Machu Picchu, its structure, location and the fact that it had been lost for hundreds of years. Unfortunately, Tom and Lela had missed all of it but it did not take any of the magic away from their first sight of the structures. They also received a running commentary from their classmates of what to look out for and before long had caught up through first hand experience with what their classmates had learnt from books.
Fifteen soldiers accompanied them and on landing, had fanned out to check for any immediate threats. With none noted, the all-clear was given for the students to disembark. The soldiers now stood on guard duty and would search any visitor who wished to visit the ruins while they were there. However, plans had been put in place to limit visitor numbers during the morning. All local buses and trains which ferried visitors to the site incurred technical problems meaning they would not arrive until after the students had left. Initially the operators of the local services had protested but were soon pacified by an offer of reimbursement which equated to a month’s worth of revenue.
With guards surrounding the ruins and all visitors being searched thoroughly, the students were let loose on the site. Their only warning was not to fall off the mountain, it was 8,000 feet to sea level.

The sniper watched as the first chopper landed and the soldiers thoroughly checked the site. They were very good he thought, nothing was missed. Just a shame they didn’t think to check just a kilometre away, on the side of the mountain where he was crouching but even if they had, his camouflage blended perfectly with his surroundings. Beside him lay a Walther WA2000 sniper rifle, one of only a few ever made. The cost of producing its level of accuracy was commercially unviable.
He remained motionless as the other helicopters landed and dropped off their passengers. With his target’s face burnt into his memory, he used his binoculars and soon spotted the young man. Unfortunately, he was standing right next to the girl who was to remain unharmed at all cost. The power of his rifle, even from that distance, was such that he could not risk a shot while she remained so close.

Tom and Lela wandered around the ruins accompanied by their very excited history teacher. They were given a ten-minute crash course on the history and the remarkable construction techniques used all those centuries ago.
They then joined the rest of their class for a walkthrough of the whole site. Surprisingly, they were all enthralled by the tour and remained a close-knit group as they listened intently to their tour guide.
The tour ended just as lunch was served and the group made its way to the lavish tables laid out in the sacred plaza.
After lunch, the group were told they had thirty minutes of free time to wander as they pleased.

The sniper was now beginning to worry that what had seemed an easy assignment was turning into a race against time. His target had never left the girl’s side and he was still waiting for a clear shot. As the lunch ended, he finally had his opportunity, his target broke off with a number of other boys, well away from the girl.
He picked up his rifle and assumed his crouched sniping position. He nestled the butt of the gun against his shoulder and rested his chin on the stock of the gun. He placed his eye to the high powered scope. The view in front of him changed and the small dots which had represented children exploded into full size images.

Tom, Zach, Thabo and Tristan finally had a chance to chat alone. It had required Lela to lead the girls off to show them ‘something’ she had noticed in the Temple of the Sun, while the boys went to the Ceremonial Rock, one of the highest points of the city.
“I’ve managed to speak to a couple of my guys and the search is on,” said Zach as they reached the rock and were out of other students’ earshot.
“Excellent,” replied Tom but noting the look on Tristan’s face, he realised that they hadn’t told him yet.
“Sorry Tristan. It seems that my dad’s plane was forced to land by two mysterious Mig 29s. The Guineans don’t have any fighters, never mind Mig 29s, according to our resident African expert, Thabo.”
“We trace the Migs, we find who’s behind this?” asked Tristan quickly.
“Yep, or at least that’s what we think,” said Tom.
“Exactly and we can search through old satellite imagery, historical radar tracks and track these birds back to their origin. This is what we needed, something hard to trace. Trust me, my guys can find any plane that exists,” said Zach.
Tom spun round, something had just hit him.

He couldn’t have asked for a clearer shot, his target stood out in the open and had a three thousand feet drop behind him. If he hit him just right, he would fall into the valley below and by the time they realised he had been shot, the sniper would be miles away. He zoomed in on the target, the crosshairs centring on the boy’s chest, with over 1000m to cover, he didn’t want to risk a head shot. He only had one shot, two would alert the soldiers to his position. He wanted to get out of there alive.
He lined up the shot, took account of the wind and the height the bullet would need to hit the target. He removed the safety device and prepared to fire. His trigger finger was wrapped around the trigger guard. He lifted his finger and placed it on the trigger. He slowly and steadily began to squeeze.

“But what if they don’t exist anymore?” asked Tom, now facing the guys.
“What do you mean, your dad saw them didn’t he?” asked Zach.
“Yes but what if these guys trashed them, knowing they may be a link.”
“That’s probably $60 million worth of plane, that would be nuts,” said Zach.
“With these guys, I’m not so sure. It’s something to consider,” said Tom.

He couldn’t understand it, his finger moved but there was no noise, no recoil. He realised his eyes were closed. He opened them, his view had changed, he was on the ground and could only see the bushes around him. He saw movement, the bush next to him was moving. He tried to move but nothing happened he couldn’t feel a thing. What had happened? He felt nothing, could hear nothing, could only see. The bush began to move away. Then he noticed that the bush had boots, boots he recognised, where had he seen them? Then he remembered the day before, there had been a man next to him, with those boots on. But how could he be a bush? That bush had been there all day, it couldn’t be. He was a professional. Nobody could have done that.
Why could he not feel anything? He looked down and the full force of what had happened hit him. He could only move his eyeballs and just managed to see his back. It wasn’t possible, he’d never seen his back from that angle before. The sniper died five seconds later in the full knowledge that the man in the bush had broken his neck as he had tried to pull the trigger. His head had been twisted so hard it was now facing the wrong way. His mind, living off its remaining oxygen, had allowed him to see the bush and die knowing he had failed.
The bush crawled away, it now knew who the target had been.



Part Five



Chapter 65


Beaumont was very worried, the next Committee meeting was in less than two hours and The Chairman was not happy with him. The failure to purchase Alba International was a blow. The price would never be lower than it was then, nor the opportunity greater. The failure to kill Tom Kennedy had been disastrous; it was five days later and they still did not know what had happened. Their man had simply disappeared. Jones just couldn’t explained, he had used one of his best snipers, a man who didn’t make mistakes.
That, however, didn’t help Beaumont. The Chairman’s confidence in him was dwindling. Too many things had gone wrong in the previous few weeks. The Chairman did not expect things to go wrong and he had insisted on taking control of the upcoming weekend’s operation. He was also going to give the update that evening, which was another slap in the face and message to Beaumont. The President was, it appeared, loving his assistant’s lack of favour and had more than once uttered the ‘I told you so’ line.
Despite enjoying Beaumont’s downturn, the President had taken some pity on him and had allowed him the use of a helicopter to get home quickly for the meeting. Beaumont had arrived just in time and as he logged on, the light on top of their units changed to yellow, he was the last to join. The meeting would start in two minutes.
“Good evening gentlemen,” said The Chairman, two minutes later.
“Good evening,” responded the silhouettes around the screen.
“Today, we’re on the brink of achieving our goal. In less than 5 days, we’ll control the world’s twenty largest countries and with that, we will effectively control the world.”
A round of applause interrupted The Chairman but Beaumont only managed to join in half-heartedly.
“We have two operations left to complete. The first within the next 48 hours and the last, 3 days later.”
“Mr Chairman, are we not worried that the first operation will interfere with the second one? That is, our illustrious world leaders will scuttle underground again?” asked one of the silhouettes.
“Yes we’ve considered that point and feel the second operation will not be put at risk by the first. In fact, it may help to ensure that everybody attends the venue for the second meeting. I believe a number of gentlemen here will also be in attendance. It should be a fun day,” replied The Chairman triumphantly.
Beaumont could not help but think that The Chairman was speaking as though he would be there himself. How could he be? But then again, how would Beaumont know? He had absolutely no idea who he was. The next question hit Beaumont hard, especially as he recognised the President’s voice, despite the digitisation.
“I’m surprised we’ve not purchased Alba, it would seem a shame to have lain the blame at its owner’s door and not taken advantage of the company’s all time low value. I would imagine the value will go through the roof when our next operation reveals Kennedy’s innocence.”
“Yes, we’ve tried but it appears that the young Mr Kennedy does not wish to sell,” replied The Chairman angrily.
Beaumont shifted nervously in his seat, he knew very well that the President would only have asked if instructed to.
“Is that correct Number Four? Have we still failed in our bid to secure Alba?”
The Committee did not discuss failures, it was an unwritten rule. The Chairman was humiliating Member Number Four for all to see.
“I’m afraid so,” answered Beaumont. “It appears that we have missed the opportunity to secure the company at a significant discount.”
“Perhaps another effort before the next operation commences? Afterall, we have forty eight hours before the world finds out that Donald Kennedy was an innocent man. An increased offer perhaps? Or one a fourteen year old with a vulnerable sister can’t refuse?” suggested another member.
“Excellent idea,” replied The Chairman. “I’ll leave that in your capable hands. Now, the next item on the agenda is…”
Beaumont couldn’t believe what a stitch up he had just received. He obviously had forty eight hours to prove himself and devise a new operation, in the middle of the ocean, on a heavily fortified island, thousands of miles away.
When would they learn not to underestimate him? He had not recalled his resources, his men were still in place and had everything they needed to get to the girl. It was too late to kill the boy. By the end of the weekend, Donald Kennedy would be an innocent man. All he had to do was capture the girl and use the sale of Alba as the ransom.



Chapter 66


It had been a long and tiring week. Although the trip to Machu Picchu had been amazing, a sixteen thousand mile round trip, in just over thirty six hours, had taken its toll. They had arrived just after lunch on Tuesday and went straight to their classes. It was Tom and Lela’s first real week back and they both found it a struggle. Catching up with what they had missed as well as keeping up with the new work was not easy.
The Friday evening meeting could not come quickly enough and it appeared everybody had been busy. In front of them were files upon files of information received as a result of the group’s questions.
“Well guys it looks like we have our work cut out for us,” said Tom surveying the mountain of paper in front of him.
“Somewhere in there may be the link that leads us to the bad guys. Where should we start…Zach?”
“Well I’ve got good news and bad news, first the good news. I think we’ve tracked down the meteor. It appears there is an experimental missile which, how can I put this simply, is fired into space and falls to earth gaining energy as it falls. It hits at such a speed that it magnifies any explosive potential ten fold and its own materials cease to exist. Sorry that’s not quite true. Its materials are of a similar composition to paper. Unless you know exactly what you’re looking for, you’d never know.”
“So who has bought it?” asked Tom.
“Nobody, it’s still experimental. However, the facility which makes the missiles was broken into about a month ago. It appears that somebody may have stolen one.”
“But who would know they exist? I mean, it’s not common knowledge is it?” asked Tom.
“No but the person I spoke to knows about it and now so do all the people around this table. That’s how easy it is for people to find out. It could be anybody.”
“So that was the bad news, what’s the good news?” asked Tom expectantly.
“Sorry that was the good news. The bad news is about the Migs. Whoever got them to Equatorial Guinea knew what they were doing. They just suddenly appeared. One day they weren’t there, the next day they were.”
“What does that mean?” asked Tom who was beginning to become downheartened, the easy links were disappearing fast.
“It means that whoever got them there knew to avoid satellites and radars,” replied Zach.
“So what about now, where are they?” asked Tom following the logic that they must have gone back to where they came from.
“You were right. They’re sitting at the bottom of the Ocean, two new heat sources are showing up on satellite imagery off the Equatorial Guinea coast. They match those of the Mig 29s. Whoever we’re up against just trashed $60 million to cover their tracks. $60 million.” Zach emphasised the number, he needed to let everybody understand what and who they were up against.
“What about countries missing two Mig 29s?” asked Daniel.
“We’ve looked at that. As far as we can tell, every single Mig has been accounted for. Although there is the potential that our numbers are inaccurate and more were produced than we thought.”
“Likelihood?” asked Daniel.
“Very low, in fact bordering on negligible. We watched every one of those babies roll out of the plants when they were built.”
“OK, so we know there was a missile and we know there were planes but we have no way of finding either. Both are dead ends?” asked Tom confirming the bad news.
“I’m afraid so, yes,” responded Zach.
“Let’s not rule them out yet. I have some resources still looking into both of these,” said Daniel. The Mossad, although one of the smaller intelligence networks, never failed to punch well above its weight.
“Ok, good. Anything else Zach?” asked Tom, keen to move on.
“I’m afraid not. All the other bits and pieces seem to be dead ends too,” he said dejectedly.
“Who wants to go next?” Tom asked half heartedly, he really thought the Migs would have been the link.
The table remained quiet, everybody else had just got the background info on the victims of the assassinations and their subsequent successors. On their own, they were as helpful as Zach’s. Everybody’s except Daniel’s.
“I have a couple of things.” He paused as everybody looked at him expectantly. “I have information which suggests that the explosions on Alba One and on Zach’s father’s plane were identical. Both planes, on reaching a height of 12,000 feet, suddenly plummeted to the ground. Of course we can’t do checks on Alba One, it’s at the bottom of the Indian Ocean. However, we’ve managed to check Zach’s father’s plane and it had been tampered with.”
“But nobody else has found anything, how can your guys know this?” asked Zach.
“Let’s just say what happened to those jets is not dissimilar to a technique we are acquainted with. The damage caused to the part of the plane in question could be caused during a crash but it’s unlikely. As to access to the plane, that’s confidential.”
“My dad was a target?” asked Zach stunned.
“It would appear so,” replied Daniel. “It also proves categorically that your parents were murdered,” he added to Tom and Lela.
“But how do you know where their plane was? I thought nobody knew, it was not on any radar?” asked Tom.
“Not on any public radar. It appears that Alba One flew low level across Africa and as it approached the coast, began to climb until just after the Seychelles where the plane lost control and plummeted into the ocean.”
Hearing the details of the plane crash again was not easy on either Tom or Lela. With nothing other than the painstaking review of histories and backgrounds to look through, it was agreed that they would call it quits for the night and resume again the following morning. They all developed fictitious injuries which would prevent them from attending sports and would give them the whole day off.
As Tom and Lela walked out of the conference room, Daniel was waiting for them by the door.
“I’m sorry about the crash, I only found out before we came in. I should have warned you,” said Daniel who realised he could have handled it more tactfully.
“Not at all, even with warning it would have hit us, don’t worry,” replied Lela.
“There is something else,” said Daniel. “During the same call, I got an update on the search for Tylanni.”
Lela’s interest perked up.
“It seems that the boat was spotted entering Port Said in Egypt one evening and was gone the next morning. There has been no further sighting of her for nearly two weeks.”
“Egypt, what the hell would she be doing in Egypt?”
“She’s not there, that’s the point. However, a new ship has been sighted, different colours and different name but remarkably similar to the dimensions of Tylanni.”
“Where?” Lela was not happy, somebody had stolen her boat.
“Just last night, going through the Panama Canal but although the dimensions are identical it can’t be her.”
“Why not?” demanded Lela.
“She couldn’t possibly have covered the distance since she left Egypt four weeks ago.”
“What are you talking about? Through the Med and across the Atlantic no problem. She’d do that in about a week,” said Tom, quickly working out the calculation.
“Yes but she was travelling east not west,” said Daniel. “We’ve checked, the boat was sighted off the coast of Chile a few days earlier. It’s not possible, the ship would have had to sail down the east coast of Africa, around the Cape and across the Atlantic before rounding the other cape and travelling up the west coast of South America. That is a massive journey of over 15,000 nautical miles. For this boat to be yours, it would have had to average over 40 knots non-stop in four weeks, it’s just not possible.”
Tom and Lela just looked at Daniel and at the same time asked the same question.
“What was the name of the boat?”
“The Beautiful Lady. Why?”
Both just stared at him.
“What?” he asked as they both just stared.
Tom looked at him and answered,
“There’s only one boat in the world that could have done that trip in that time and it’s the Tylanni. She has a top speed of over 50 knots and can easily average mid 40s.”
“Where is she now?” asked Lela.
“She could be anywhere in the Caribbean,” replied Daniel.
Tom began to wonder but it couldn’t be possible.
“Daniel, could you ask your guys to have a look at something for me?” asked Tom.
“Of course what is it?” asked Daniel.
Tom gave him something and then led Lela back to her room. They had to consider what to do about The Tylanni.



Chapter 67


Tom returned to his room to find a voicemail from Jason who asked him to contact him immediately no matter what the time. He had spoken to the Alba directors earlier in the afternoon, things were going OK, not great because of the assassinations but there had been no major issues. As he dialled Jason’s mobile, he wondered what could be wrong.
“Oh hi Tom,” answered Jason recognising his number.
“Hi Jason, what’s up?”
“We’ve had another offer for the company, it’s much better but it’s obviously your call.”
“How much and who?”
“Twenty percent up on the previous one and still anonymous.”
“Damn! We can find out who they are but only if we sell them Alba, that’s nuts.”
“There is one other thing, they’re becoming increasingly adamant that this offer runs out in less than 48 hours. The lawyer who made the offer couldn’t emphasise that enough.”
This was the third increase they had received that day and each one ran out at exactly the same time, 10.00 p.m. on the Sunday. They had rejected each one so far.
“What do you think?” asked Tom.
“I’m not sure, he also said that it was their final offer and that we will just have to live with the consequences if we reject it…”
“Wait a minute, are those your words or his?” asked Tom. He really didn’t like the undertone of what had been said.
“His and it annoyed me just as much.”
Tom thought for a second,
“Tell them to piss off. It’s not for sale at any price and let’s see what consequences they have for us.”
He was really wound up, these guys were now getting to him. They ended the call. Jason would pass on a slightly more professional rejection and they agreed to speak in the morning.
Tom checked his watch, it was after midnight and he was wide awake, there was no way he was going to sleep. He got up and went back to the conference room. He would start working through the backgrounds of the assassinated heads of government and their successors. He could not get the thought of the Tylanni, renamed The Beautiful Lady, out of his head. That’s how his parents always had described Tylanni, Lela’s mother. Whenever her name was mentioned, they would always comment on what a beautiful lady she had been.



Chapter 68


Beaumont was neither surprised nor unhappy at the news that their final offer was rejected. In fact, the possibility of some payback to the kids for the hassle they had caused him was exactly what he wanted. Within five seconds of receiving the news, he gave Jones the go-ahead to launch the operation against the girl.
Jones and his team were stationed just outside the exclusion zone which surrounded The Academy’s island. On receipt of the Go command, they fired up the engines and began to move towards their target. Their small cruise boat had been built as part of the US navy’s new DDX programme and encompassed the latest stealth technology, even at 40 knots, she was completely invisible to radar. Within 30 minutes, they were in position and launched the small rubber raiders which would take the eight man team the school’s beach.
From the time Tom had rejected the Alba bid, to the first man landing on The Academy, less than an hour had passed. They secured their small boats and checked their position, a small GPS device indicated that they were less than half a mile from the girl’s room. Two men would remain at the boats while Jones and another five men formed the grab-team. Jones had initially planned a four-man team but then doubled it, he didn’t want anything to go wrong.
Jones had received the full security schematics for The Academy and had planned the mission accordingly. Each man was dressed in a stealth suit to minimise their radiant body heat and counteract The Academy’s thermal cameras and the Special Forces’ night vision goggles. They also carried no metal. Detectors along the shore picked up the tiniest amount of metal. Everything they carried or wore was made of cloth, plastic or a ceramic composite, including zips, watches and tooth fillings. There were 200 Special Forces soldiers at The Academy and Jones had no intention of getting into a fire fight with them. Their only weapon was a ceramic knife.
He checked his team were ready and led them off into the darkness towards the accommodation blocks lit up in the distance.

Lela had no problem sleeping. She crashed out the moment they had got back from the meeting. Papa had been training her hard, having taken over her father’s role as master. She soon realised that her father had not exaggerated when he had said that her training was easy compared to his. Papa was enjoying his new student and had her awake at five o’clock every morning to train for at least two hours before breakfast and she had to do the same again before dinner. Kisho and Kano had come along to the first session and later found any excuse not to go.
“Where’s Tom?” asked Papa, startling Lela who was fast asleep. He was standing next to her bed. How he had got in without disturbing her, she didn’t know.
“What, what’s wrong?” she realised that it wasn’t the fact that Papa had sneaked into her room that should worry her but why.
“Where is he?” he asked again more firmly.
“In his room, no?” she answered. “Why what’s wrong?”
“We can’t find him and there are some men on the island who shouldn’t be here.”
Jones’ schematic did not identify the islanders nor their incredible capabilities. One of the islanders had spotted the eight men on the beach.
“Just sound the alarm,” urged Lela.
“No. The confusion may play in their favour, we’ll deal with it.”
“Find him!” Papa ordered Kisho and Kano who had just entered the room. He was very annoyed with them, they should always know where Tom was and they had failed.
“Have you tried his phone?” asked Lela. Papa looked at Kano and Kisho who looked at each other.
“Imbeciles,” he said under his breath.
Lela immediately phoned Tom. Papa told her not to alert him to the security issue. She was to say that she had woken up and noticed he wasn’t in his room. She put the phone down.
“He’s in Conference Room One.”
Tom put the phone down, thinking nothing of it. He returned to the information in front of him, he was beginning to get somewhere. Suddenly the door opened and two of Papa’s Penarajans joined him, closing the door behind them. They explained the situation and informed him that he was to stay there with them. Papa was dealing with it and would give them the all clear soon.

Jones and his men found the accommodation block and slowly moved into position. Two would watch the entrance while four would grab the girl. The four-man team made their way silently up the stairs and along the corridor towards her door. They stopped at the door and Jones withdrew a small plastic canister with a rubber tube. He slipped the rubber tube under the door and released the valve on the container. He counted to ten. Anybody in the room would be knocked unconscious for at least an hour. He couldn’t afford even the slightest scream from the girl and this was the only way to ensure they did not startle her. He closed the valve and removed the tube.
He checked his watch. In 90 seconds, they could enter the room by which time the gas would have dispersed. They listened through the door to detect any disturbance but heard nothing. Perfect.

Papa received confirmation that Tom was safe and two islanders would remain with him until they were given the all clear. Papa wanted these guys alive, he wanted to get them talking but first he wanted to know who or what they were after. The islander who had initially followed the men was ordered to get as close to the boats as possible. He was to await Papa’s order to take the men out but in the meantime, to try to understand what or who they were after.
Kano was given a similar order and sent to watch the team as they approached. He saw two men watch the front door while the four-man team went inside. He, like the other islander, was within hearing distance of the men’s whispers and soon picked up enough to relay back to Papa. Meanwhile, as the tube appeared under Lela’s door, Kisho, Papa and Lela made their way silently onto the balcony.
Kano contacted Papa and updated him on what they had heard. This was a kidnap not an assassination. Lela was definitely their target, Tom was not even mentioned. Papa quickly relayed the information to Kisho and Lela. A furious whispered row broke out but what was being said made sense. Papa was about to do something he knew Saki would have vehemently disapproved of.

87…88…89, the seconds ticked down. On reaching 90, Jones signalled to his team. They silently picked the lock and made their way into the room, Lela was sound asleep. This was going to be easy, they quickly made their way across to the bed and checked her pulse. There was always the chance she had reacted to the gas but she was fine so they picked her up. Two minutes later, they were out of the block and making their way silently back to their boats.



Chapter 69


“What did you say?” screamed Tom at Papa and the rest of them.
“Lela has been kidnapped,” repeated Papa.
“But you let them do it!! How could you?” Tom screamed again. He had not taken the news well, his sister was in mortal danger and those idiots had let it happen.
“Was she in danger? Was it more dangerous to stop them? Is that what happened?” asked Tom, trying to make sense of what they had done.
“No. We let them go, Lela insisted that we let her go.”
“She’s 15!!! You’re her grandfather!!! That’s the most ridiculous thing you’ve ever said!!!”
Lela, having heard that the impostors were not trying to kill her or Tom, had argued that if she went with them, she might find who was behind everything. She could more than handle a bunch of soldiers, especially as they thought she was just an average 15 year old girl. Papa had understood her logic but would not agree, Kisho even less so. Lela had pleaded and told them that they knew it made sense, which they did. Papa was also aware of just how well Lela could look after herself. He had been training her for three weeks and had resorted to pure physical training as he had nothing left to teach her other than a few wily old tricks and even those were exhausted after a week. She was, without doubt, the most talented natural fighter in generations of Penarajans.
Alternatively, they could capture the soldiers but it could take days before they discovered anything, if they had anything to give them. He now wondered how she had managed to convince him to let her go. How could he have let his only granddaughter be kidnapped? He looked at Kisho who he could see was having the same conversation with himself. How had Lela managed to talk them into this madness? But she had and he had issued a stand down order.
“I’m sorry. It seemed like the right thing to do, she was very persuasive,” replied a very subdued Papa.
Tom was too angry to talk to them. At least he had made them realise they were wrong. Kano was completely on Tom’s wavelength. He had been apoplectic at the thought of these animals having his little cousin and had already made his feelings known to Papa.



Chapter 70


“It went perfectly. The girl is lying down, sound asleep, next to me,” said a very pleased Jones.
“Excellent, I’ll make a few calls,” said Beaumont.
“Do you think we’ll get to be involved in Operations Sandy and David?” asked Jones who was disappointed at missing out on some real action. Kidnapping teenage girls was not his idea of soldiering.
“I don’t know. But you never know, if we pull this off, we just might manage to get you in on the action for Operation David but I think Operation Sandy is a definite no.”
“By the way, the girl is harmless to us. She doesn’t even know she’s not in her bed. If he concedes shall we just put her back?” Jones didn’t mind killing her but only if it was necessary.
“Nah, too risky, when I give you the call, just dump her overboard.”
“Ok, seems a waste though. She’s going to grow into a real beauty,” replied Jones.
“C’est la vie. I’ll call you as soon as I know. We may have to prove she’s alive in the meantime. So keep your phone on,” said Beaumont before hanging up.
Lela had heard to the whole exchange. To anybody watching her, she looked asleep. However, she was fully alert and had merely slowed down her breathing and heart rate and relaxed her muscles. She had complete control of her body, having been trained from birth in understanding how her body worked and how to control every muscle and nerve.

It had been less than an hour since Tom had been informed of Lela’s kidnap when his phone rang.
“Hello?” he answered.
“Tom Kennedy?” a digitised voice asked him.
“Yes, what do you want?” responded Tom.
“I want you to reconsider our original offer for Alba.”
“What? You’ve kidnapped my sister to force me to sell you Alba?”
How could they think they would get away with it? The minute he sold them Alba, he would know who they were, it just didn’t make sense.
“But if I sell you Alba, I’ll know who you are. You’ll have to kill us,” said Tom answering his own question before the digital voice could.
“Don’t worry, nobody will ever know who owns it,” came the reply.
Tom was not going to do anything foolish. He had to play it cool and cleverly. Thanks to Papa, his sister’s life depended on it.
“I’m sorry but I don’t understand. You’re going to buy the world’s largest company and remain anonymous?” asked Tom mystified.
“Yes. That, however, is not your concern. You should be more concerned about your sister and the ten men currently holding her,” said the digitised voice. Papa, listening in on the call, was relieved to hear that there were only ten men.
“How do I know she won’t be harmed? I won’t sell you Alba until I see her back safely,” Tom said firmly.
“I’m sorry but that is non-negotiable. You’ll only see her again AFTER you’ve sold Alba. I’ll call you back in two hours.” The digitised voice hung up.
Beaumont looked down at the phone with satisfaction. He had almost certainly secured the purchase of Alba International. He was tempted to call The Chairman to let him know but thought he should wait until it was a done deal.

Lela listened as the men chatted to each other. There were too many accents to pin them down to one country. She was trying desperately to take in as much information as she could while the men were relaxed.
“What are we doing after here?” asked one of the men.
“Probably going to Operation David, but I don’t know. Depending on how quickly this is over, we might make Operation Sandy first,” replied the man who was obviously the leader.
“What about her?” asked the man. Lela could feel the man motioning towards her.
“As soon as we get the OK,” the leader responded. Again, Lela sensed another movement but this time it was a horizontal motion, she assumed across the man’s neck.
“Fair enough. Any news yet on that useless twat Perez?” the man asked.
“Nope nothing. Last I heard he was sitting on the side of Machu Picchu with a clear shot of the boy. The next thing I hear is that the boy is back and we’ve never heard a peep from Perez. He’s just disappeared,” replied the leader.
“Maybe the boy saw him and paid him off. Jesus he’s got more money than the rest of the world put together, no?”
“Impossible. Perez was a klick away, in full camouflage, with a sniper rifle.”
The significance of the conversation hit Lela hard. They had tried to kill Tom. Before she could think about it any more, the leader’s phone rang. Oh God, thought Lela, knowing the call could be the signal to kill her.
“Hello?” answered the leader.
Lela listened carefully.
“Yes, OK.”
Nothing more was said. Lela had no option but to move.
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Tom looked at his watch. It was almost time. The clock had dragged for two hours. They had moved back to Tom’s room. Papa, Kano and Kisho were wearing his carpet thin from pacing up and down. At exactly two hours to the second, Tom’s phone rang.
“Hello?” he answered, putting the phone on loudspeaker.
“Mr Kennedy, do you have an answer for me?” asked the digitised voice.
“I want to speak to Lela. Unless I know she’s OK, I’m not selling,” said Tom adamantly.
“Hmmm, I don’t think you’re in any position to make demands young man, the question remains do you have an answer?”
“Not unless I speak to Lela,” insisted Tom.
“This isn’t a game. Are you going to sell Alba in return for your sister’s life? It’s a yes or no answer, what’s it going to be?” The digitised voice echoed around the room as the question hung in the air. Tom couldn’t answer. He had to know whether Lela was OK. He had to use Alba to save her. If he sold Alba before he got her back, she’d be as good as dead. However, somebody beat him to it and answered for him.
“NO!!! The Answer is NO!!!”
“Who’s listening to our call?” asked the digitised voice in a panic.
“Lela Kennedy!” she replied coldly.
Tom could not believe that she was standing next to him. He was speechless and Papa was in tears as were Kisho and Kano, the relief was overwhelming.
“But it can’t be, my men captured you, this is a trick!”
“Not it’s not. Now, is there anything else I can help you with before I get back to torturing your men?” asked Lela. The phone went dead.
Two seconds later, a mobile phone rang.
“Hello?” answered Lela.
“Fu,” was all that could be heard before the phone went dead.
Lela threw the phone to Tom.
“You may want Daniel or Zach to check this phone out. I took it off the leader guy.”
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Jones was slowly coming round and began to remember what had happened, surely it was a dream. He tried to move his hands but couldn’t. It wasn’t a dream. He remembered getting the call to warn him it would be a least another two hours before the decision and he had wandered out on to the deck.
No sooner had he stepped outside, when he heard a noise in the cabin and had gone back in to see the girl fighting four of his men. He had never seen anything like it. She was tiny but had already incapacitated two men and he saw her almost decapitate another with a kick as ferocious as he had ever seen. She hadn’t even completed her follow-through kick before throwing a punch into the fourth man’s chin which had lifted him clean off the floor and into the cabin wall.
Jones was paralysed, not by fear but by awe. The rest of his team, on hearing the commotion, ran into the cabin. They looked at the chaos and looked for who had caused it, the only person in the room was the young girl. Jones remembered the sweet smile she threw his men, as if completely innocent.
The fifth man moved towards her, reaching his arm out to take hold of her. She let him grab her, and moved so quickly Jones didn’t even see what she did but he heard the arm break and saw the blood spray from the man’s nose before he dropped to the floor. The other men hadn’t even had time to react before another two were knocked unconscious, one receiving a high-kick, the other a bone crunching punch to the nose. Both dropped to the floor to join their unconscious colleagues.
The final two saw Jones standing by the cabin door. They looked at him and he gave them a nod, go for it. They moved together both throwing vicious punches but Jones could see that Lela was playing with them. She moved faster than he thought possible. She avoided the first man’s punch and delivered a tremendously powerful kick to the other man’s abdomen while reverting to the first with a perfect uppercut and laying him flat. Jones couldn’t help applaud her. Nine of his men lay immobile on the cabin floor and she hadn’t even broken sweat nor had they come close to touching her. He asked how she’d learnt to do what she did but she was very tight lipped about how it. When he drew his knife, she warned him that knives made her angry. If he put the knife away, she would be gentle with him. He didn’t, the last thing he remembered was laughing at her and then pain, then nothing until then.
He looked around the cabin. All his men were still alive. Most were beginning to come round but they were all tied up and gagged. His pain was intense. His right hand would never be the same again, it hung limply from his wrist. He really should have dropped the knife. His knee was also gone. He remembered now. One second she was on the other side of the cabin. He went to throw the knife but before he had even had a chance to let it go, she was next to him, had his knife hand gripped like a vice and wrenched it back. The bone had shattered at the same time as she had crashed her foot into his knee snapping it cleanly in two. And as his useless hand dropped the knife, she uttered the words ‘I don’t like knives’. The next thing he remembered was a flash of light as she shattered his nose with the back of her fist. The lights, mercifully, went out.
Jones heard people coming. From the floor of the cabin, he could see the top of sail masts through the porthole. She must have sailed them back into The Academy’s marina. He could not allow his men to be tortured, if they talked, too much was as stake. He looked around, others had also realised what needed to be done. The unconscious men were nudged until they came around. When every man was conscious, on the count of three, they bit down hard on a small cyanide canister concealed in their mouths to ensure a very quick death.

“They’re in here,” said Lela. “I’ve got them all tied up nicely,” she announced as she stepped onto the boat. Papa grabbed her, he could smell death. He went in ahead of her and his suspicion was confirmed.
“They’re all dead, by the looks of it, cyanide,” he announced when he came back out.
“Oh God, I killed them all, ten men!” exclaimed Lela.
“No, they took cyanide capsules, they killed themselves,” assured Papa.
“What are we up against?” asked Kisho. “This is getting scary now.”
“Getting scary?” asked Tom. “Where the hell have you been for the last month!”
“OK, we’ve got their phone and we know about Operations Sandy and David and that Sandy is before David,” said Lela changing the subject. She wanted to get off the boat and go back to her room.
“But it could be anything. Sandy and David are probably just code words for their operations. You’ll probably find every one of them had a first name designation.”
“So I risked life and limb for nothing?”
Tom looked back to the boat, he wondered whose life and limbs she had really risked but with ten bodies behind him he thought better of asking.
McDonald, Murray
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What the hell could Beaumont do now? The Chairman was going to kill him. He couldn’t run, there was nowhere on the planet he could hide, nowhere. How could it have gone so badly wrong? They had Lela, everything had gone perfectly and then wham, she was there. It just wasn’t conceivable, it was impossible. He only hoped that Jones had done the right thing. He didn’t know enough to expose The Committee but he knew too much about the Committee’s army. The men were very well paid and there was an expectation that they were capable of the ultimate sacrifice if they risked exposing their unit or their colleagues.
He still had another twenty four hours to try and pull something out of the bag. The Chairman didn’t need to know yet. Beaumont knew that the hole he was in was very deep and its sides very slippery.

Williams had his men in place, he was delighted with the promotion to number one spot in the Committee’s army. He now worked directly for the boss and had no intention of letting The Chairman down. It was a fairly simple operation, only two targets and from their first reconnaissance, fairly light security.
Williams looked around again, acting like a tourist, soaking in the scenery and his surroundings. It really was a beautiful spot, perfect beach, beautiful hotel and the most spectacular yachts anchored just offshore. One yacht in particular had caught his eye, Williams had never seen a yacht so aptly named, she really was a Beautiful Lady.
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Kisho and Kano took the boat out to sea and after searching them, dumped the bodies. Unsurprisingly they didn’t find anything, every man was clean. Tattoos had been removed or covered over, teeth had been removed and replaced with caps, fingerprints removed by acid. It was as though the men did not exist and as far as Papa was concerned, they didn’t anymore. Afterall, these were the men who had intended to kill his beloved Lela.
Tom and Lela eventually went to bed at 4.30 a.m. and decided an extra hour in bed was probably deserved. Unfortunately, they didn’t tell anybody else and both woke up to their doors being thumped by Tristan, checking they were OK and explaining that they were waiting for them to start the meeting. They quickly got dressed and rushed down to Conference Room One.
The group sat in complete silence as the events of earlier that morning were explained. Even after they had finished. nobody had a clue what to say. This wasn’t something happening to other people, this was now at their school. Ten men had killed themselves to keep their identity from them. These were not two-bit mercenaries, these were highly motivated operatives.
“Sandy and David,” mulled Daniel. “I’ll get my guys on it and see if they can come up with anything. I doubt it though, using first names is very clever. They’ll be spoken millions of times every second all over the world and 99.99999 % of it will be completely innocent.” He didn’t hold out any hope whatsoever.
“Did you get anything while you were going through the stuff last night?”
“No. But there’s something there. I can feel it, we’re getting closer,” said Tom, as he began to pace.
He cleared a whiteboard and put his hand in his pocket to get a pen. He had changed jeans and didn’t find a pen but found the business card they had pulled out of Alan’s sofa. He had forgotten all about it. He quickly dialled the number, it was dead, the recruitment consultant had obviously given up on recruitment.
“What’s that?” asked Daniel.
Tom explained where they had got it.
“I’ll do some checking on it, you never know what we might get,” offered Daniel, already dialling a contact.
Tom took a pen, found a quiet spot and began to write down everything he knew and had to date. He went back a year to the very first assassination and considered the circumstances of each. He then overlaid each of the new heads of government and studied the circumstances of each of those.
The day flew past and before they knew it, it was 6.00 p.m., nobody had even stopped for lunch. Tristan was the first to notice and panicked.
“Oh my God, it’s 6.00 p.m. What’s the time in Barbados?”
“Hmm, 10 a.m., why?” answered Tom.
“I promised I’d call my dad before his conference starts at 11.00 a.m.”
“Very nice, sounds like a nice little junket, Barbados in October, lovely!”
“Not quite it’s the Heads of Government meeting for the Commonwealth Nations.”
“Don’t you believe it for a second, I’m sure they’ll be living it up, staying in a lovely hotel.”
“Not sure about living it up but certainly lovely hotel, the Sandy Lane, nothing less don’t you know,” joked Tristan.
“Where did you say?” Tom couldn’t believe it, it couldn’t be that simple.
“Sandy Lane,” repeated Tristan, realising the significance.
Tom checked the board again. He was now also certain he knew who the targets would be, why had he not seen it earlier? The G20, the twenty most powerful leaders in the world.
“Sofie, Jin, I need a copy of your mother and grandfather’s itinerary for the next month. Lela, call Papa and tell him to meet us at the plane. Tristan, Zach you’d better come with us. Daniel can you run things from here? We need to find out who’s behind this and what or where David is.”
Tom sprinted out the door with Lela, Zach and now a very worried Tristan right behind him.
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Tristan phoned his father on the way to the airport, it didn’t go particularly well. His father was confident that his security was tight. He then launched into a debate with Tristan about how sometimes things were hard to accept, despite one’s best instincts, one sometimes just had to accept the cold hard facts. The call had ended, Tristan decided against telling Tom about the last part of the call, his father’s doubt’s about Donald’s innocence. Tristan was very disappointed with his father.
“Zach, what do you think?” asked Tom as they sped towards the airfield.
“I think Barbados is a very long way away and if anything does happen, we may well miss it.”
Tom pulled the cart to a stop and tried to think through what they knew and what they needed to do. Everybody in the cart realised what was happening and stayed quiet.
Tom finally spoke and asked. “What time is it now?”
“It’s 6.20 p.m.,” replied Lela.
“OK, it’s about a thirteen hour flight to Barbados,” said Tom checking his PDA. “And if we leave within the next hour, that’ll get us there at roughly 8.00 a.m. And they’re 8 hours behind us, as it’s still summer time which means we’ll be there at midnight their time…” Tom continued to think through the options.
“I could see if we could get the scramjet?” offered Zach, having done so before. There weren’t many things Zach’s guys couldn’t get.
“No, not yet. I think we should only go down that route when we run out of options. We don’t want to let anyone know we’re onto them unless we really have to. Whoever is behind this already tried to kill your dad. I know we can trust your guys but unfortunately, we don’t know if we can trust their parents.”
Zach was about to object but then realised that Tom was right.
“Wait a minute,” said Tom pulling out his phone and dialling a number.
“Jason, hi, it’s Tom.” He didn’t give Jason the time to even say hello. “What deadline did they give for my response to their offer?”
“You’re not changing your mind are you?” asked Jason, taken aback.
“No! God no! Their little consequences were kidnapping Lela.”
“Jesus! What can I do?” said Jason panicking.
“They didn’t stand a chance, she let them take her, got some info and kicked their arses. They’re all dead now so don’t worry.”
“What the hell do you mean they’re all dead, Lela killed the kidnappers?” Jason asked, astounded.
“No, she beat them up and they killed themselves.”
Jason gave up, he didn’t know which was worse, the guys killing themselves or the fact that little Lela beat up ten kidnappers.
“So what can I do?” he asked.
“What was the deadline the lawyer set on the bid?”
“48 hours from Friday 7.00 p.m. UK time.”
“Excellent thanks,” said Tom, hanging up and leaving a bemused and very stunned Jason to try to work out what on earth was going on.
As he ended the call, three blank faces looked at him. He really had lost them.
“When I received the bid for the company, they stipulated that I had to respond by 10.00 p.m. our time, 7.00 p.m. UK time. It was an absolute. If I failed to respond within that time, the offer would lapse.” The four faces looked even more blank.
“Guy’s, don’t you see? The assassination will be at some time after that time tomorrow.” Tom was becoming frustrated. He would have to spell it out.
“Alba is currently valued at about 30 % less than its actual value because my dad is public enemy number one. But after the new assassinations, my dad will be in the clear. Alba’s value will then jump back up. They wanted me to respond while the value was down so they could buy it cheap. So now we know when they’re going to strike.”
“When?” asked Tristan.
“Jesus!” replied Tom, giving up, he turned to Zach. “Can you explain it to him?” he asked.
Tom started the cart up again and continued to the airfield. Papa and the others were already waiting. Kisho was topping up the tanks on the Gulfstream jet, getting her prepped for flight.
“Every last drop you can squeeze in, we’re flying right to the limits of this thing. Shame we’re not qualified to fly that one,” said Tom pointing to the 777.
“How far is it?” asked Kisho.
“Let’s just say that that one drop of fuel that spilled on the runway might be the difference between flying and gliding onto the runway,” replied Tom who wasn’t joking.
Twenty minutes later, the plane was airborne and on its way to Bridgetown, Barbados. Everybody settled in, it was going to be long flight. Papa and his three islanders had taken their seats at the back of the plane and the snores were already resonating around the plane. Lela, Zach Tristan and Kano were at the front. Zach was still explaining to Tristan what was happening.
Lela leaned over and whispered to Kano.
“Thanks for saving Tom and I think you were right not to tell him.”
“Tell him what?” he asked, not sure if he had heard her correctly.
“About you saving him.”
“Lela, I’ve got absolutely no idea what you’re talking about,” he replied.
“In Peru, somebody was about to shoot him but didn’t, maybe it was Kisho then?”
“Definitely not. We weren’t there. Remember, we weren’t allowed to go? You had 20 Special Forces soldiers with you instead.”
“I know that, but who stopped the guy then? When I heard the men say that their sniper had just disappeared, I just assumed you guys followed us as usual. I thought you didn’t tell Tom so as not to freak him out.”
“Will you stop blabbering for one minute and explain to me from the start what on earth you’re talking about,” said Kano holding his hand up to slow her down.
Lela then explained exactly what had happened in the cruiser’s cabin, what she had heard and what she had assumed must have happened. Kano was now as puzzled as she was as to what had happened to the sniper. Both agreed, however, that what Tom didn’t know couldn’t worry him but that they would keep an extra close eye on him.
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With just under an hour’s flight and fuel to go, Tom’s phone rang. It was Daniel reporting that the group at The Academy had pulled an all-nighter and had some updates. It had proved quite a successful session.
“It looks like you’re right on the G20 countries. With only a couple of exceptions, those who have been assassinated have been replaced by a relatively unknown contender. And, of all the G20 countries, only the UK, France, Germany, China, Saudi Arabia, the US, Australia and the Commissioner of the EU have not been replaced due to assassination in the last year. It was so bloody obvious, we didn’t see it.”
“Which ones have the most prominent new candidates waiting in the wings?”
“All of them bar the US. It’s different there, because there’s a Vice President already in place to immediately replace the President. Tom, looking at the positioning, it’s all going to happen very soon.”
“OK. we know the timetable for the UK and Australia, what about the others?”
“We haven’t got them yet, it appears that even being the grand-daughter of the Chinese ruler doesn’t have access to his diary. As for Sofie, her mum isn’t in the office until Monday and she left her diary there. She can’t remember but thinks she might be going to America this week.”
“You’re joking!” said Tom.
“’Fraid not, it’s for real, she’s Dutch and a European MP, what can I say!” Daniel shrugged his shoulders, it mystified him also.
“Track down any students related to any of the other leaders. We need to find out what the hell operation David is and quick.”
“OK. But two more things. We tracked down the number on that business card and are sifting through the phone calls made. There are a few to the law firm which made the offer to buy Alba, they’ve obviously been involved for some time. I’ve managed to call in a few favours, I have an operation to raid their offices tonight. I’ll let you know what we find.”
“Excellent and the other thing?” asked Tom.
“That thing you gave me. My guys almost missed it, it was so obvious, it reads ‘ We’ll be back’. ” Tom almost dropped the phone as he heard the words, it couldn’t be, it wasn’t possible.
The tower at Grantley Adams International Airport interrupted his chain of thought as he began entering the final approach. He looked at his fuel, it was going to be very close, he knew he should have flown a little slower. He could not believe it when they gave him the longest approach run, landing in an easterly direction. He would have to swing out and come back on himself before landing.
“This is going to be very close,” whispered Kisho. Warning bells had started to ring ten minutes earlier. The intermittent beeping had now become a continuous tone as the plane pleaded to land.
“Just made it,” said Tom as the wheels touched down in Barbados. “Don’t know what the panic was,” he said just before they lost all power.
They tried to use as much of their landing speed as possible to get them to the terminal but they fell just short. All momentum was lost on the taxiway and with no engines, they had the indignity of having to wait for a small truck, more commonly used for pushing large jets, to come and rescue them.
“Hmm, I think next time we’ll have a refuelling stop,” suggested Tom as they sat stranded, it had been just a little too close for comfort.
Once they reached the terminal, it took them 5 minutes to clear customs. It was 2.00 a.m. local time and the airport was deserted.
“What now?” asked Lela, looking for a taxi or anything which would get them to a bed.
Tom smiled as he watched the stretch limo approach.
“Tacky but perfect. People, your chariot awaits,” announced Tom to the group showing them to the limo.
“Where are we going?” asked Tristan.
“Zach, I thought I told you to explain things to him,” said Tom, his eyes twinkling mischievously.
“He did, I understand perfectly what’s happening.” Tristan did not find it funny.
“Well you know where we’re going then,” replied Tom.
“You can’t have, they are no rooms available, they’re fully booked,” said Zach.
“Not a room per se, the villa at Sandy Lane, 7,500 sq ft of unadulterated luxury.”
“How did you manage that?” asked Lela.
“Money, we need to be where the action is so I just offered more and more until they couldn’t refuse. They had to kick out some rock star, I think, to get us in.”
Thirty minutes later, they checked into their luxury villa.
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The Chairman checked his bedside clock. It was 3.00 a.m., who the hell was ringing him at that time? He answered and waited to hear who it was. If it were that idiot Beaumont, he would just hang up.
“Sir, it’s Williams. We have a problem, well actually we have two problems.”
“Go ahead,” said The Chairman who had been very impressed with Williams since his promotion.
“The first is a problem with the General Powers mission. It appears that our men got in, put three bullets in him but that he pulled a gun from under his pillow and shot our men dead.”
“Is he still alive?”
“Yes, he’s in hospital and unconscious but stable and will make it.”
“Jesus, he really is a tough old bastard. Sleeps with a gun under his pillow, probably had his boots on as well!” joked The Chairman. “That’s not too disastrous, he’s out of the way for a few days, we’ll deal with him after David, at least he won’t be around to interfere with that.”
“True, he’ll be in hospital for at least a couple of weeks. The next problem is confusing me somewhat.”
“What is it? Just spit it out,” said The Chairman.
“One of my guys just radioed me to tell me that Tom Kennedy and entourage just checked into the hotel.”
“The Sandy Lane?” The Chairman sat bolt upright in his bed.
“Yes.”
“Who’s in the entourage?”
“His sister, a couple of other boys and some sort of Asian looking guys,” replied Williams.
The Chairman took one second to make his decision.
“Go!! Now!! Hit the Prime Ministers, the Kennedys and their entourage right now! Hit them with everything you’ve got. You hear me?? Kill them all and quick,” he demanded before hanging up.
The Chairman then hit a speed dial button. The phone answered. He didn’t wait for a hello before screaming down the phone.
“BEAUMONT START TALKING AND DON’T GIVE ME ANY BULLSHIT!!! I AM SO NOT IN THE MOOD. WHAT THE HELL HAPPENED!!!!”
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Williams sat with three of his lieutenants. The operation had just changed dramatically. The initial operation was to have involved an attack on a convoy due to take the UK and Australian Prime Ministers to a cricket match the following day in Bridgetown. They now had to assault the hotel which meant penetrating two suites, each containing a PM and the villa containing Tom and his entourage.
Three target zones, three teams of ten, five snipers and five men waiting as back-up should they be needed. They would hit the three locations simultaneously and with overwhelming force. In order to make the most of the darkness, the teams had to rush, sunrise was a 5.51 a.m. Williams wanted to go in at 4.45 a.m. and be gone long before the first rays of sunlight.
Williams organised his men brilliantly and with ten minutes to spare, everybody was on station and ready to go. He checked in with his lieutenants and got their good-to-go responses.
A few seconds later, he gave the signal to the snipers. Four guards at the entrance to the hotel dropped before his eyes, each killed instantly with head shots. As the bodies slumped to the floor, the three teams were up and running.

A man, dressed in black, watched from the bushes as the three teams had formed up. Three targets he thought. He had to hand it to them, they were very good. They had reacted quickly to the surprise guests and altered their plans accordingly. He had been as surprised as they had when the limo turned up and disgorged its passengers. How did they know where to come? But he didn’t have much time, there were too many, he needed help and fast.
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The Chairman listened to Beaumont whine on pitifully for ten minutes. He was bored.
“Stop,” he commanded. “Enough, so what you’re saying is that Jones had her but that she somehow she got away and he’s dead?”
“Yes.”
“OK. I didn’t like the sneaky little turd but he was a damn good soldier. Just what the hell are we up against?”
Beaumont could see a chink of hope, he may not be dead just yet.
“I’m trying to work that out. They had her on a boat in the middle of the ocean. Ten men and her.”
“You’re sure?”
“Definitely. But one thing sticks in my mind. There’s a note in the file, written by that Reaper guy, the guy the President used last year. He made reference to some fancy martial art the girl and her father practised. He seemed quite impressed by it,” said Beaumont.
“Come on, that girl is fifteen and small for her age. What, she attacked ten grown men?” He pondered the possibility and it seemed extremely unlikely, if not impossible.
“I can’t explain it, nothing else makes sense. Their boat had every conceivable detector, no person or boat could have got within half a mile of them without them knowing. If Jones had been attacked he would have told me.”
The Chairman hung up on Beaumont. He had begun to remember the story from the year before about the hostage situation at schools around the world and the unexplained release of the students. The rumours afterwards were that ninja type men had freed the students with amazing displays of martial arts.
He tried to call Williams. His phone was off. They must be launching the attack. He was too late. Perhaps he was just being silly. They were Beaumont’s scare stories. But what if they weren’t? Williams and his men would be slaughtered.
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The villa was lovely with the main feature being the living area which opened onto a spectacular Roman-style pool. Nobody, however, took any notice of the surroundings. Tom had put the news on the moment they entered the house and all sat either glued to the screen or comforting Zach. The news of his father’s shooting was the major news story on every channel. The story suggested he had disturbed burglars and although wounded, had managed to kill both intruders.
Zach contacted his mother immediately. She had been desperately trying to get hold of him and seemed more concerned about his whereabouts than his father’s condition. He finally discovered that his father was in a drug induced coma to speed healing, some new thing they were trying. None of the injuries were bad and he’d be fine in a couple of weeks.
“Burglars my ass. I ask you, who burgles a house with two Military Police cars sitting outside it?” asked Zach rhetorically as another news reporter proposed the scenario.
“Thank God you warned him he might be a target. It was lucky he had his gun to hand.”
“Yes I warned him but the gun is always there, he even sleeps with his slippers on. He’s always telling me you can never be too prepared. My mum moved into the spare room, she’s been petrified for years that he’ll blow her head off in his sleep.”
“So what did he do about being a target?” asked Tom.
“Nothing, he just said whoever tries to kill him had better have a big set of balls and a damn good aim. They’d only get one chance.”
“Seems he was right,” replied Tristan as he watched the body bags of the ‘burglars’ being removed from Zach’s house.
“He’ll have to be careful now though, I don’t think they’ll…” Lela stopped mid sentence, the colour draining from her face. Her mouth making as if to scream but nothing came out. Everyone was so busy trying to see if she was OK, that they failed to notice what was frightening the life out of her.



Chapter 81


“Lela! Lela! Look at me! What’s wrong?”
Tom didn’t know what to do, one minute she was sitting talking, the next she couldn’t speak and was struggling for breath.
Lela tried to speak but the vision through the window had caused her to go into shock. Her mind could not compute what her eyes were seeing. It just didn’t make sense. Why would nobody look round. They were all just staring at her, she had to get them to look round. They must look and explain it to her or tell her she was dreaming. They had to look!
“Lela! You’re really scaring me now! What’s wrong, talk to me please!!” Tom was on the verge of tears, he didn’t know what to do or what was wrong with her.
A tap tap on the window caught most of their attention bar Tom’s who was too worried about Lela.
“Tom! Tom! Please turn around and look at the door to the pool?” said Tristan sounding, as though he were asking Tom to look at a mad axe man.
“What?…” Tom turned round and realised what was wrong. Standing in the full glare of the spotlights and directly in front of Lela was Saki.
“Is it really him?” asked Lela, tears were now streaming down her face. If other people saw him as well, it might be real.
“Yes, it is. It’s Saki,” replied Tom gently, as tears began to roll down his cheeks.
Lela jumped and ran to the door, unlocked it and threw her arms around her father. He hugged her and tears welled in his eyes. Tom joined them and the three hugged. Saki spoke before Tom had a chance to ask.
“Your parents are fine, they’re out there on the Tylanni. Explanations will have to wait, we’ve got visitors coming.”
Papa, who had been in the kitchen and had missed everything, nearly knocked them all flying as he rushed across the room to join in the hug.
“Papa. We have trouble coming.”
Saki disengaged himself from Tom and Lela and began to explain what they needed to do. He quickly organised the islanders and split them into three teams. Within a few minutes, the three groups had disappeared into the night.
Lela, Zach, Tristan and Tom were left with strict instructions to stay upstairs in the master bedroom, under no circumstances were they to leave the room.
Lela punched Tom in the arm.
“Hey! What was that for?” he said rubbing the top of his arm.
“You knew! I saw the look on your face, you weren’t that surprised when you saw him.”
“I didn’t! I just thought it might be possible, remember the text I got from my dad?”
“Yeah, the weird one that made them sound guilty?”
“Yeah and the numbers, well it turns out that the numbers, when you type them out in text, say we’ll be back. Daniel phoned me just before we landed. His guys worked it out, seems it had even their master code cracker beat until one of their kids said try it as a text rather than numbers. That, combined with the please forgive us and the Tylanni being renamed The Beautiful lady, made things come together.”
“Why didn’t you tell me?” Lela was hurt that he had kept it from her.
“And if I was wrong and got your hopes up?” he responded.
“True…God I can’t believe it! They’re alive!” she shook Tom as she said it. The worry that she was dreaming was slowly disappearing. It was real, they were back.



Chapter 82


The three teams made their way through the grounds towards their targets. Team One towards the UK Prime Minister, Team Two towards the Australian Prime Minister and Team Three to the villa to deal with the kids and their acquaintances. It was slow going. With fifty three heads of government, the teams had a lot of security to avoid or dispose of.
The grounds were vast, over 320 acres. Williams was worried about the time it would take them to find their final positions, three areas offering excellent cover and close enough to their targets. He checked his watch as his three teams radioed in to confirm they had arrived and were in position, it was 4.42 a.m. Perfect, he thought, three minutes early.
Williams sat over a mile away with the back-up team. He was watching everything as it happened through video feeds from cameras attached to his lieutenants’ helmets. He watched carefully as each lieutenant scanned the scene in front of them for him. Teams One and Two had four and five guards to deal with respectively, Team Three had a clear run to the villa.
“Snipers One and Two come in,” he radioed to the snipers who covered the south end of the Hotel. They would be able to knock out the four guards for Team One.
“Snipers One and Two come in,” he repeated. He looked towards the high ground where they were, it was over half a mile away and dark, he couldn’t see a thing.
“Sniper Three and Four come in,” he said, trying the snipers who covered the North end and would knock out the guards for Team Two. Nothing.
Williams looked again into the distance where they should be. Again, it was dark, there was nothing to see.
“Sniper Five come in.” Sniper Five was covering the villa and would assist Team Three.
“Yes Sir,” said Sniper Five immediately. He was the closest to them, only a couple of hundred yards up a small hill which offered the best view of the villa.
“Have Snipers One to Four reported difficulties with radios?”
“No Sir th…” Williams heard a distinct thud through his headphones as Sniper Five stopped talking and his line went dead.
He checked his video feeds, they were fine.
“Driver! Move us up the road a mile,” shouted Williams, “and make it quick.” Sniper Five had been very close. If he had just been taken out, Williams was not hanging around to find out if he was next.
The small truck bounced down the road and Williams watched the video feeds. He noticed them bouncing also, but realised it wasn’t from the truck moving, it was his lieutenants’ heads moving quickly. What the hell was happening?
“Teams check in!”
Nothing. He checked the feeds. They were still again.
“Teams check in!”
Nothing.

One islander had been sent to deal with the snipers. Saki had watched them as they set up earlier in the evening. Papa and two islanders took the UK Prime Minister, Kano and Kisho took the Australian Prime Minister while Saki and the other islander watched the villa. Saki had supplied everybody with Tonfas, traditional baton-style sticks with handles two thirds of the way down the shaft. Police batons were a modern derivation of these ancient weapons.
Each of Saki’s groups were also kitted with small communicators. Once they got word the snipers were down, they would begin to take out the teams. The plan was to be as quick and as quiet as possible. Saki was conscious of the army of bodyguards filling the hotel, all of varying levels of professionalism and ability. They could very easily and quickly have a bloodbath on their hands.
As they received confirmation that the snipers were down, they moved in.

Team One was ready and waiting for the Go command. The lieutenant watched from the edge of the small wooded area where he and his men waited. The guards in front of them would be taken out at any moment. The door they were guarding led directly to the UK Prime Minister’s room. There were only four more guards inside, if his guys were quiet enough, they wouldn’t even have to fight their way back out. His watch glowed 4.44 a.m., he would get the Go any second now. With his eyes fixed on the scene in front of him, he raised his hand and readied his men.

Papa watched as the leader raised his hand to ready his team, that was Papa’s signal to go.

The lieutenant had to blink to see if his eyes were deceiving him as a man materialised next to him. He had just appeared from behind the tree. He heard some noises behind him but nothing else after the baton struck him on the side of the head.

Papa made a noise similar to a small bird, that was the signal for the other two men to move in. The three stepped out from their camouflaged positions in amongst Team One. Saki had seen the leader pay particular attention to two wooded areas which is exactly where he had set up the ambushes. Papa could see the look of confusion on the three soldiers’ faces as he now stood in front of them. The look turned to fear as Papa set to work with the Tonfas. Before they had a chance to react, Papa spun the Tonfas into the side of two of their heads and delivered a double blow with the ends of the Tonfas to the soldier who was unfortunate enough to be in the middle of the three. The other two islanders dealt similar blows to their three and four-man teams respectively.
Papa couldn’t help himself, he noticed the camera on the top of the lieutenant’s helmet. He bent down and gave the camera a big smile before whacking it with his Tonfa.

Team One’s screen showed a set of beaming white teeth, somebody was smiling at him. What the hell are they playing at, thought Williams. However, he realised that nobody was fooling around when the wooden shaft came towards him at high speed. The screen went blank and then snowy.
Williams checked the other two screens, they were still on.

Kano and Kisho had a similar situation to Papa, a small wooded area in which to hide. The soldiers had come in amongst them and had actually stepped on Kisho twice. On the ready signal, they had moved in. The Tonfas were a blur as they cracked off one soldier and hit another before spinning back to hit another. With five soldiers, the likelihood of at least one soldier getting to their gun was dramatically increased. Afterall, the soldiers were highly trained professionals in their own right. It was therefore a testament to Kisho and Kano that not one soldier had the chance to think about shooting back such was the speed they moved through the team.
They too noticed the camera on the lieutenant but didn’t throw Williams a smile, they just knocked it out of commission.

As Williams saw the second camera blink out of action, he began to think that a mile may not be far enough away.
“Just keep driving, head to the airport and quick!”

Saki did not have the luxury of knowing where the third team would come from. It had not been one of Williams’ initial targets. So Saki had to guess where they would position themselves for the final assault. He had guessed right as he watched the soldiers crawl through the Spa. It was adjacent to the villa and offered a very private entrance, out of view of the main hotel and numerous bodyguards. Saki wanted to protect the villa himself. These men were there to kill his babies and he would stop them.
He watched the man ready his team, giving them the signal to prepare themselves to slaughter defenceless children. Saki stepped out of his hiding spot, he hadn’t alerted the other islander before he did so. He wanted as many of these guys to himself. With each spin and thrust of the Tonfa, another limb cracked as Saki, like a maelstrom, waded through the soldiers. The only person quick enough to react to his speed and power was the other islander joining the fray just in time to take care of two soldiers. Each soldier was to be hit once, knocked unconscious before being tied up and left for the local police to deal with once the islanders had gone.
Saki had doubled the blows ensuring each of the soldiers who had threatened his babies would remember that night for a very long time. The first blow had deliberately broken a kneecap, shattered an elbow or destroyed a pelvis and the second blow had knocked the men unconscious before they could even react to the pain.

Williams had only travelled another 100 yards before the third camera was knocked out.
“Faster, just get us the hell off this island!” he screamed to the driver.

As his launch left the shore, Saki dialled the hotel and reported three separate disturbances. Within minutes, the grounds of the hotel were lit up and swarming with police and bodyguards who took into custody a large group of heavily armed, semi-conscious soldiers already bound and ready for prison. Each was missing a tooth and had on them a small photo of the UK and Australian PMs. which none of them could explain under questioning.
The three lieutenants, however, had not been left behind with their men. They were tied up and taken to the launch for transportation to The Beautiful Lady where they would be answering questions. Thanks to Tom’s information, their cyanide teeth were removed.



Chapter 83


It had been a very emotional reunion. The launch had sped them out to The Beautiful Lady, anchored just around the coast and out of sight of the villa. Tom and Lela jumped off the launch and into Donald and Rachel’s arms before it had even stopped. Apologies and tears filled the next half hour as the five Kennedys moved into a private study to be on their own.
Once everyone had calmed down, Donald began to explain what they had been doing.
“Before we left for Africa, Saki and I knew that we were being set up. It was not until we got to Africa that we realised how badly. We weren’t just being framed, we were going to be murdered. It was only thanks to Tom and Lela that we survived. When we left Guinea, we flew low level over Africa and landed in the middle of the night, in complete darkness, on Desroches Island, part of the Seychelles. We’d arranged for the Tylanni to meet us there, once she’d been given a complete make-over and change of name. We’d always planned to disappear but not to die in the process. We knew we needed to hide out and we knew that we would be arrested for the assassinations on our return.
Donald paused and looked at his wide-eyed audience who wanted to know more. He continued.
“The plan was that Jim would then take off and after a short while, climb to a normal cruising height and head home. He would claim that we had never boarded the plane and didn’t know where we were. We didn’t expect him to crash. That was a massive shock. Poor Jim, he was a good man. Anyway, we realised that the plane crash wasn’t a complete waste. We were reported dead, so it covered our tracks. It broke our hearts to think how you must have been feeling.”
Rachel burst into tears again, it had been the hardest few weeks of her life. Tom then explained that the crash was no accident and that the moment Jim had reached 12,000 feet, he was doomed. Donald had not known this nor even thought that the crash had been anything other than an accident. He was visibly shaken by the news at how close they had been to dying.
Donald then explained that they had continued to work through the evidence and clues which he and Saki had amassed. They worked out who the next targets would be and began to make their way to Barbados. Saki, however, insisted on going via Peru because he knew that Tom and Lela were going to Machu Picchu. He guessed that if they were going to try to kidnap or murder Tom or Lela, that’s where they would access them most easily.
As the information sank in, Lela blurted out that it must have been Saki who saved Tom from the sniper. Tom and Rachel looked at each other in horror, neither had known anything about it.
That final revelation brought them back to where they were now, having just saved the UK and Australian Prime Ministers.
Tom took over at that point to update his parents and Saki on the intelligence they had and on how Lela had been kidnapped and had escaped. Tom could see that Papa was in trouble. The look on Saki’s face when he heard about Lela’s capture did not hide his feelings which would keep for the time being. Tom went on to explain about Operations Sandy and David and how they had led them to Barbados but that David was still evading them. He kept thinking Camp David but there were over 150 Marines guarding that, never mind the Secret Service.
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It was 5.00 a.m. when Beaumont’s phone rang. It was The Chairman.
“Hello,” answered Beaumont tentatively. He was expecting the call asking him to go down to let his executioners in.
“Operation Sandy failed. Williams couldn’t pull it off. They really are a bunch of tricky bastards. You’re back on, you’ve one last chance. Operation David and don’t mess it up.” The phone went dead.
Beaumont had never wished for a Committee operation to fail but thanks to Operation Sandy, The Chairman’s baby, he was to live another day.
He jumped out of bed, pulled out the plans and within five minutes was up to speed. Two minutes later, he was barking orders down the phone. He was back!
He checked General Powers’ condition, he was stable and definitely out of the picture for the very near future. It was imperative that he remain so for the following few days. He was the only one who could stop Operation David.
He called Williams and told him what he wanted him to do.
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“So where next?” Tom asked his father, everyone else had gone to bed.
“No idea. This is where our all info led us. Beyond this we’re stuck unless one of those guys talks,” replied Donald pointing to the lower deck where Saki and Papa were ‘talking’ to the lieutenants.
Saki joined them in the main cabin.
“Nothing. Those guys know nothing. They believe they’re members of a secret multi-national army and work for something like the UN, sorting out major international incidents.”
“Did you try the latex gloves technique?” asked Tom. Donald stared at him. “The what?” he asked.
“Yep, worked a treat. That’s when they told us about the multi-national army. Trust me nobody is better at the latex glove trick than Papa. He even had me terrified,” said Saki
“What the hell is this? Some kind of barbaric torture thing?” asked Donald.
Tom explained the technique to Donald as Papa entered the cabin. He had locked the lieutenants up and joined them to discuss tactics.
The four carefully sifted through the information they had, to try to work out what to do next. They were struggling, finding nothing but dead-ends.
Tom’s phone rang. It was Daniel. Donald had told Tom and Lela to keep their reappearance secret. Tom put the phone on speaker.
“Hi Daniel.”
“Hi Tom, sounds like you guys have been busy. The assassination attempts at the Sandy Lane are all over the news down here. Well done! Suggestions are already being made about your dad’s innocence, it won’t belong before his name’s cleared.”
“Excellent! Any news on Operation David or who’s behind all this?” asked Tom, keen to skip over the bit about his father, he didn’t like lying.
“Maybe,” replied Daniel. “Tom, everything points to Washington. That’s where Jin’s grandfather and Sofie’s mother are going. Along with a number of others on the G20 list.”
“Bloody hell, so what’s the reference to David?”
“The meeting was scheduled to be in Washington. However, we’ve just learnt from Jin that her grandfather has been told that the meeting is now going to take place elsewhere in the interests of security. Guess where?”
“Camp David?” suggested Tom.
“Exactly. They’re going for the big one — the President and the remaining leaders at Camp David. The meeting starts Tuesday night.”
“Jesus, it’s like a fortress, there’s no way they’re getting in there. Hold on, I’ll get Zach.” Tom buzzed Zach. Two minutes later a sleepy Zach emerged into the main cabin. Tom brought him up to speed quickly while he muted Daniel. Donald also told him not to mention they were there. Tom released the mute button.
“Zach, do you want to give us the background on Camp David?” asked Tom.
“No problem. Since about the 1940s I think, Camp David has been the retreat for serving presidents, 125 acres of the most protected soil on earth within the Catoctin Mountains, 75 miles north west of Washington. A company of Marines from Marine Barracks provides camp security while the Secret Service provide personal security. Now we know that our enemies are resourceful, but getting past Camp David’s electronic security, 150 marines and the Secret Service seems just a little too much.”
“Maybe they’re just going to nuke them?” suggested Tom.
“Don’t think so, the guest-list includes a lot of the new leaders. I doubt if they’ll be targeted,” replied Daniel.
“OK. Zach, keep an eye on Camp David. If anything happens, let us know straight away. Anything else Daniel?”
“Yes, the first report is back from the raid on the lawyer’s office. A telephone number in Washington ties in with the times of the bids for Alba but it doesn’t exist or at least the phone company says it doesn’t. It’s getting raided tonight. Other than that, nothing.”
“Thanks, I’ll talk to you soon.” Tom ended the call.
“Washington it is then,” said Donald, sending the instructions to the bridge.
Everybody felt a rumble as the engines were pushed to full power and the bow of the huge yacht lifted as she accelerated first to thirty knots and then a second drive system was engaged taking the yacht to over 45 knots.
It was time to go to bed. They would be in Washington, 1800 miles away, in less than two days.
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The rest of that Sunday and most of the Monday were spent resting and working through the information to try to find what or who was behind everything. Daniel’s guys had drawn a blank at the phone company which was bizarre. The number had been used to make calls and receive calls but the phone company’s records showed the number had never existed. Zach had picked this up now, there were only a few people with the power to have non-existent numbers.
It was Monday evening when everybody noticed the ship slowing down, back to less than half speed.
“What’s happening?” Tom asked his father.
Donald didn’t answer, he just pointed to the sky. Four helicopters were flying towards them. Before Tom had a chance to ask who they were, the first helicopter touched down on the stern pad while the second touched down on the bow pad. Ten men jumped off each one and ran towards Papa who was standing, in the centre of the boat, with his arms up. The two helicopters took off but were immediately replaced by another two. With another seventeen men deposited, they also took off and flew back towards the coast. Before they were even out of sight, the boat was already back up to full speed.
Tom looked at the men and recognised all of them. He had known them all his life. They were more islanders. Papa and Saki had obviously called in reinforcements. They didn’t know what they were up against but if somebody was going to launch an attack on 150 marines, they were certain to have a fairly impressive force.
The islanders were delighted to see that Saki, Donald and Rachel were alive and well and after a very warm greeting, they made their way below deck to get some rest. They had been flying for the best part of a day.
Donald looked at Tom.
“Well that evens it up a bit, don’t you think?” he said jovially.
“Depends. Whoever they are plan to take out 150 Marines.”
“Hmm true, if they use gas or chemicals, we’re buggered,” thought Donald.
“Dad, perhaps we should contact the President?” said Tom who was increasingly concerned about what they may be up against.
“It’s too risky, he’ll never believe you and if I call, I’ll be back in the mix for the assassinations and if anything does happen, it’s all my fault again,” he replied. “And if that’s not enough, we don’t know who we can trust. Whoever is involved is very well connected.”
“True,” said Tom.
“We’ve got twenty four hours, let’s see what happens between now and then. If it looks like the best option, we’ll contact him. If we go making crazy claims just now without a shred of evidence, we’ll be laughed at and only tip off the bad guys,” said Donald.
“Fair enough,” said Tom, although he had a very bad feeling.
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The line of trucks snaked down the road. The Humvee at the front drew to a halt at the main gates. A guard approached the jeep and noticed the high ranking officer in the passenger seat and saluted.
“Good evening Colonel, how can I help you Sir?”
“Son, you can just open that gate and let me and my boys through.”
“May I see your orders Colonel?”
“No you may not son but your Commander may. You see, these here orders are classified Top Secret. Son, I doubt if you qualify to see top secret documents, do you?”
“No Sir, I’ll call the Commander right away.”
The guard hurried over to his gate-post and made a call. Two minutes later, the Commanding Officer arrived and after a brief conversation with the guard, he approached the jeep.
“Good evening Colonel, how can I help you?” The Commanding Officer saluted his superior.
“Good evening Commander, you have been redeployed. You and your Company are to report back to Washington asap. My men and I will assume your duties with immediate effect.”
The Commander was stunned.
“I’m sorry Sir, there must be some mistake. This facility is and always has been guarded by Marine Barracks Corp. Do you mind if I make some calls before handing over to you?”
“Of course, just don’t be too long. It’s been a long day.”
The Commander checked the orders with his Colonel who went ballistic and phoned everybody he could conceive of until he reached the Commandant of the Marine Corps, the most senior man. He listened carefully as the Colonel explained the situation. The Commandant explained that he was, in effect, powerless. The order had obviously come directly from the Secretary of Defence and only General Powers had the power to countermand him but he was still in a coma. Also, he struggled to argue with the logic. With everything that was happening, Delta Force guarding Camp David wasn’t a bad thing. Afterall, they were specialist in hostage situations.
The Commander returned to the Colonel’s jeep.
“Give us half an hour and we’ll be out of your way Sir.”
“Excellent, my men will wait here.” Both men saluted each other.
An hour later, Marine Barracks Corps were replaced with 150 Delta Force soldiers and for the first time in its history, Camp David was not being protected by the Marines.
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The news of Delta Force replacing the Marines at Camp David came through to Zach the following morning. If anybody so much as breathed the words ‘Camp David’ within the military, Zach was to be told immediately. This took some of the pressure off Donald and Tom. The White House were obviously aware of the increased threat or they wouldn’t have sent Delta Force to Camp David.
By lunchtime, the Beautiful Lady was docked in the Washington navy yard, not far from the White House. Zach had secured them a berth and arranged for security to keep them safe from prying eyes. With only five hours until the meeting at Camp David, things were not looking good. Nothing new had come to light. They were no further forward.
They all continued to pore over the detail of everything they had. Tom and Zach were in constant contact with Daniel and the group at The Academy. They just needed a lucky break. Saki wasn’t taking any chances. The Penarajans were scrutinising the plans of Camp David supplied by Zach. Helicopters were standing by at Reagan International Airport, just five minutes away. Everything was ready, they just didn’t have a clue what to do.

“Mr President, all of your guests for this evening’s dinner have now arrived in Washington. Within the hour, they’ll all be at Camp David,” announced the President’s secretary through the intercom.
“Thank you, please have Marine One ready at five,” he replied.
Beaumont, sitting across from the President, hit the speaker button and dialled The Chairman.
“Gentlemen?”
“Good afternoon Sir,” replied Beaumont. “Just a call to let you know that everybody has arrived as scheduled.”
“Good, I take it this evening’s operation will be a great success,” he surmised.
“We do not anticipate any issues Sir.”
“Excellent. Well, enjoy your meal and tomorrow will see the dawn of a new world. A new Empire begins tomorrow gentlemen, greater than has ever been seen before.” The Chairman hung up.
Both Beaumont and the President looked at each other.
“He’s just excited,” remarked the President commenting on The Chairman’s reference to a new empire.
“Yes,” replied Beaumont, not believing either himself or the President.
“I take it the assassinations will be nowhere near us?” asked the President,
“Definitely not! The only people near you and I with guns will be the Secret Service and they’re all legitimate, none of them are connected to The Committee. I’ve checked them thoroughly.”
“Excellent!”
The President relaxed.
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One helicopter after another touched down at Camp David, emptying onto its heliport the leaders of the world’s 20 richest nations. Each was shown to one of the many lodges that nestled in the camp’s 125 acres of wooded grounds. Dinner was to be served at 8.00 p.m., in the Laurel Conference Room, the only room large enough to cope with all the guests.
The President and Beaumont arrived at 6.00 p.m. and made their way to the Presidential lodge, named Aspen. Once in the office, Beaumont took the President through his briefing notes for the evening meal, who was there and what the US wanted from each of them. With five minutes to spare, the President walked across to the Laurel Conference Room, leaving Beaumont to finish off his preparations for the evening.
Beaumont heard a knock on the President’s door.
“Yes,” said Beaumont.
“Sir, the Delta Force Commanding Officer wishes to say hello,” announced the Secret Service agent.
“Of course, please send him in,” replied Beaumont.
“Yes Sir.” The agent showed the Colonel in.
“Good evening, Mr Beaumont.”
“Good evening. Colonel Rodriguez, is it?” Beaumont said reading the man’s tag. “You don’t look like a Rodriguez you know,” he added.
“I’m sorry about that Sir,” replied the Colonel shifting nervously.
“Don’t apologise, it’s not your fault but I would have definitely put you down as a…” Beaumont paused as he thought before looking straight into the Colonel’s eyes and saying, “… a Williams.”
The Colonel didn’t flinch but his eyes gave him away.
“Don’t worry, I’m one of the men who gives the orders. Can we just run through the plan for this evening’s fun and games?” reassured Beaumont.
He didn’t like giving away his anonymity to this man but he also wanted to make sure he didn’t get hit in the crossfire. He could always deal with Williams afterwards if he didn’t feel he was trustworthy. To date, however, the man had been a complete professional.
“Yes Sir, of course,” replied Williams who, for the last 24 hours, had been Colonel Rodriguez of Delta Force. His Delta Force team were in fact 150 of the most American-looking Committee Army soldiers they could find. The order had been real, the only problem was the real Delta Force team who had received the original order had subsequently received a fake retraction of the command and had been sent to the other side of the world on another mission. So secret, nobody had any idea where they were.
Williams took Beaumont through the plan. It would commence at midnight and would take only fifteen minutes. The alarm would not be raised until the following morning by which time the fake Delta Force team would be long gone.
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It was 10.00 p.m. and they still had nothing to go on. Nobody was saying anything but everybody was very jumpy. Something was going to happen that night. They could all sense it but they had absolutely no evidence to support it.
Two phones then rang at the same time. They all checked to see if it was theirs. It was Tom and Zach’s. They both took the calls but said little. They nodded and ended their calls at almost the same time.
Zach turned to the group, a look of horror on his face. He managed to stammer.
“The Delta Force group aren’t Delta Force. The real group is on a boat crossing the Atlantic.”
“So who the hell is protecting Camp David?” asked Donald.
“The bad guys!” screamed Zach.
“Dear god! Saki!!!” shouted Donald but Saki was already moving. The helicopters were on their way and would be there within four minutes.
“What about your call, Tom?” asked Lela.
“We need to speak to the President. It seems that his presidential advisor, a Charles Beaumont, owns the phone line which dealt with the lawyer.”
“Jesus! What next?” exclaimed Donald.
“We’ve also tracked down the Migs. They were from the US.” said Tom. Relaying the second piece of information Daniel had given him.
“The US don’t have Migs, that’s ridiculous,” said Tristan.
“No it’s true, I never thought to check ours. We bought twenty one from Moldova after the USSR broke up so that nobody else could buy them. If I remember rightly, some supposedly carry nukes.”
“Yep, two have gone missing. I’m sure that if you’re the special advisor to the President, you can get your hands on a few bits and pieces. I suppose an experimental missile might not be out of the question either,” explained Tom, the anger rising.
“I’ll make the call,” said Donald. “Do we have enough evidence?”
“Yes, the phone line is irrefutable. They’ve even checked that the line definitely goes into his apartment. With the Migs and the missile, it should be enough for us to be taken seriously,” said Tom.
“OK, let’s give him a call,” replied Donald.
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The President received a note that an urgent call was waiting for him in the next room. He excused himself from the table, walked through to the adjacent room and picked up the phone.
He thanked God the man had a lot to say because for the following five minutes, he was speechless. Donald Kennedy explained to him how the Delta Force team were fake and that his Presidential aide was behind everything. The President thanked Donald profusely and said that he would call him back in five minutes. He called Beaumont.
“Get your ass over here now and I mean now!!!” he screamed.
Beaumont arrived less than two minutes later. When the President told him what had happened, he had remained perfectly calm. In fact, he had remained calm right up until the President told him who the caller had been. It was the first time the President had seen Beaumont rattled.
“Well you’re the smart ass! What are we going to do?” asked the President.
Beaumont had to think. “Just give me a minute.”
“OK. Get them here and find out what they know and who knows it. We can take care of it. Tell them the Delta Force team thing is correct, there was a mistake but it was just a mix up in teams. We know all about it, everything’s fine and you’ll send a chopper for them. They can be your guests for the evening, they’ll love that,” said Beaumont.
The President called Donald back and relayed the message.

“We’d better call Saki off,” said Tom as he listened to his father relay the President’s message.
“Excellent! A night in Camp David!” said Zach
“I’ll get to see my dad,” added Tristan.
“I don’t like it one bit,” said Lela, killing the excitement.
Neither did Saki, he didn’t turn the choppers round. They kept going and as they neared the flight exclusion zone, they dropped height and followed the roads. The choppers dropped them off half a mile from the fence-line of the Camp.

Twenty five minutes later, Donald, Rachel, Tom, Lela, Tristan and Zach boarded the President’s helicopter. Thirty minutes after that, they arrived at Camp David.
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It was just after 11.00 p.m. when Donald and Tom were asked by two secret service agents to follow them to the adjacent lodge. The rest of the party were to wait in the lounge. They entered the President’s office and found him standing by the fireplace.
“Donald, I can’t tell you how wonderful it is that you’re alive.”
“Thank you, Mr President.”
“Now tell me, what’s been happening?” he asked.
Donald and Tom ran through all the evidence they had, including Lela’s kidnap as a ransom to gain control of Alba. The President seemed particularly interested in Lela’s escape and excused himself just as they finished discussing it. Tom and Donald were unaware that the President was trebling the number of guards in the lounge and had just given orders to shoot the young girl first when the time came.
The President returned and continued to listen to their evidence.

Across in the adjoining lodge, everybody was fascinated by their surroundings, it wasn’t every day you sat in the chairs sat on by numerous presidents. Zach’s phone interrupted with its tell tale beep. He opened the text and looked at Lela, trying to conceal his panic from everybody else. Lela walked over and read his text.
‘Delta Force team not mistake. REPEAT. NO MISTAKE MADE. TEAM AT CAMP DAVID IMPOSTORS.’
Lela said nothing. She casually got her phone and typed ‘GO’ and sent the text. Saki and the Penarajans had just been unleashed. It was 11.30 p.m.

Tom was beginning to grow concerned, the President was not making notes, was not calling anybody to check details and more importantly showed a distinct lack of surprise as to anything they said. Things did not seem right at all. He suddenly had an idea. He asked if he could use the bathroom.
Once there, he grabbed the phone Lela had taken from the kidnapper. He pressed the speed dial buttons, one at a time. The fourth one made his blood run cold. From behind the door, he heard the phone ring in unison with the tones in his ear. It answered. Through the door, he heard the President say hello. Through the phone, he heard a digital version of the same hello. He hung up.
They were dead. They couldn’t take on the President of the United State and hope to get away with it. Then it came to him, there was one man who could potentially save them. He called him. He would be there in thirty minutes.
Tom rejoined his father. He was going to have to drag the evidence out a bit, they had to keep the President occupied for thirty minutes.



Chapter 93


Saki had broken up the Penarajans into four teams, himself, Kano, Kisho and Papa would each lead a team. There were seven targets they knew of, the Prime ministers of the UK and Australia, the President of France, the German Chancellor, the Chinese Premier, the King of Saudi Arabia and the President of the European Commission plus the Kennedys and the kids.
It was not going to be easy. Silence and stealth would be their best weapons. Although they had other weapons too. As well as Tonfas, the Penarajans were armed with silenced MP5 sub-machine guns with which they were as familiar as the Tonfas. The four teams would work their way in from the four points of the compass. With no idea where the delta team were positioned, they would just have to pick them off as they went.
Saki gave the command to go. The Penarajans moved silently and placing a small trampoline at the base of the fence, vaulted over it avoiding the highly sensitive pressure pads. Once inside the fence, they worked their way through the woods towards the buildings avoiding numerous laser beams and pressure pads.
It was not long before they came across their first patrol of ‘Delta Force’ guards, Saki’s team being the first to encounter them. It really was men against boys. The patrol had walked straight into the middle of ten Penarajans hiding in the woods. Even when the ten men would wake up, they still wouldn’t know what had hit them as they had each received an identical knock-out blow at exactly the same time.
As the fake Delta Force were there to kill rather than protect, the Penarajans encountered very few on their way through the woods. It also didn’t take long for the Penarajans to work out where the targets were housed, as seven lodges were literally surrounded by delta force guards while the others were deserted. Each team broke into two, they would have to rescue the leaders at precisely the same moment. The risk of any gunshots during the rescue was too high. It was 11.58 p.m.



Chapter 94


Eventually, Tom and Donald concluded their case against Beaumont.
“Very compelling, very compelling indeed,” said the President. “In fact, I think we should put it to him and see what he says.”
“Do you think that would be appropriate?” asked Donald innocently. Tom had not had the chance to tell him what was happening.
“I think it’s only fair,” he replied before hitting the intercom button. “Get Beaumont in here please.”
Beaumont entered the room less than ten seconds later.
“Yes Mr President?” he asked as he entered the office, throwing a quizzical look at Tom and Donald.
Before they could speak, the clatter of a helicopter landing filled the office. The President hit his intercom again. “Who the hell is that?”
“Marine Two, Mr President,” responded the agent who had seen the call sign designating that the Vice President was on board
“What the hell does he want?” asked the President.

The Penarajans moved in. They couldn’t wait any longer. It was obvious that the Delta Teams were about to take out their targets. The Delta force team did not think for a second they were in any danger and were not watching their backs. They were sloppy and paid for it. The Penarajans swept through them like a hurricane, the Delta Teams didn’t know what hit them. The Penarajans had appeared from nowhere and silenced them in an instant.
Saki took ten islanders with him and headed for the last remaining lodge. Papa organised the rest of the men, they would sweep the Camp for any remaining Deltas.

“Mr Vice President, how can I help you this evening?” asked the President, irritation evident in his voice.
“I received a rather alarming telephone call about a half hour ago from a young man. That same young man I met two weeks ago at his father’s funeral,” he replied pointing at Tom. He continued.
“I believe he has done some digging and uncovered some rather startling information which he believed I ought to hear.”
Donald was now staring at Tom, realising what this all meant and mumbled under his breath. “Bloody hell!”
Beaumont stepped forward and was about to open his mouth when the Vice President raised his hand to stop him. He indicated to Tom to speak which he did and explained everything they had uncovered. The Vice President then asked him to dial the number on the phone, he did and the President’s secret mobile rang.

Saki made it to the lodge where they were holding Rachel and Lela. He could already see the Delta men were ready to shoot. Their main target appeared to be Lela. He needed Lela to move out of the line of fire before they attacked. He sent her a text telling her to nod three times and then dive to her right taking Rachel with her. He readied his men and told them about the three nod signal. He saw Lela read the text. She nodded three times and dived down to her right, grabbing Rachel and throwing her into the legs of one the Delta men. As he stumbled from the attack, Lela was already delivering a blow to his head which rendered him unconscious. Saki and his men had moved exactly at the same time as Lela, dealing with all but one of the men who managed to raise his weapon. However, Lela had spotted him in the corner of her eye and delivered a high kick to his gun an instant before breaking his jaw with a punch.
Saki had everyone safe except for Tom and Donald. He left with five of his men and made his way to the President’s office in the adjoining lodge.

“If you don’t mind, Mr Kennedy, I think it’s best if you and Tom wait outside,” said the Vice President after listening to Tom.
“I don’t think so. Just everybody wait here,” said the President who was now fed up with proceedings. “Beaumont, get the Delta team in here.”
Beaumont picked up the phone and buzzed Williams.
“Hello?” the phone answered.
“Williams get ten of your men to the President’s office now,” commanded Beaumont.
“Williams is gone, all your men are gone and if you lay one finger on the Kennedys you’ll wish for the rest of your life that I’d killed you,” answered Saki, who had taken the Colonel’s phone.
The Vice President saw the look on Beaumont’s face and said, “Mr Kennedy, please take Tom and wait outside. The Secret Service agents will look after you. I have a President to arrest.”
Donald and Tom made their way outside. Less than a minute later, they heard a shout from inside the office.
“Agents!!!”
Donald and Tom watched as three agents ran into the office.
The next thing they heard were three shots.



Chapter 95


As the Kennedys left the room, the President began to blame everything on Beaumont. He almost started to cry as he realised his life was over. The tears however had instantly disappeared when the Vice President had pulled a silenced pistol from his pocket and aimed it at him.
“W-w-w-what?” stammered the President before the Vice President shot him in the centre of his forehead. The Vice President then looked at Beaumont who wet himself fearing he was next. However, instead of shooting him he threw the gun to him, which Beaumont instinctively caught.
As he threw the gun, he shouted “AGENTS!!!!!”
As Beaumont’s hand closed around the weapon, three Agents ran in, saw Beaumont with the gun and shot him without hesitation.
The Vice President walked across to Beaumont as the agents checked on the President. He bent down, took hold of Beaumont’s hand which still held the gun and put Beaumont’s finger on the trigger forcing the dead fingers to fire another silenced round out of the open door, coughing loudly to cover the noise.
Beaumont was still alive and choking on his own blood. The agents realising that the President was dead, immediately ran over to check on the Vice President who automatically became the new President. Beaumont heard them address the new President. He desperately wanted to tell the men he hadn’t done it. He was no presidential assassin, his family would be shamed for eternity.
“Mr President…” he managed, the new President covered his mouth to stop him from saying any more. He leaned closer and, as he covered Beaumont’s mouth to assist his choking, he whispered.
“No Beaumont, it’s Mr Chairman to you.”
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